
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Council 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 18th October, 2022 
 
Place 
Council Chamber - Council House 
 

 
Public Business 
 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 September and the Special Meeting 

held on 13 September 2022  (Pages 5 - 16) 
 

3. Return of Councillor Jackie Gardiner, elected as Conservative Councillor 
for Sherbourne Ward in the City, on 22 September 2022, for a term of 
office expiring in 2026   
 

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 

 To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the items of private 
business for the reasons shown in the report. 
 

5. Coventry Good Citizen Award   
 

 To be presented by the Lord Mayor and Judge Lockhart, Honorary Recorder 
 

6. Correspondence and Announcements of the Lord Mayor   
 

7. Petitions   
 

8. Declarations of Interest   
 

Matters Left for Determination by the City Council/Recommendations for the 
City Council 
 
It is anticipated that the following matters will be referred as 
Recommendations from Cabinet, 11 October 2022. The reports are attached. 
The relevant Recommendations will be circulated separately. 
 
9. Coventry's Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 2021-23 (Update 2022) 

(Youth Justice Plan)  (Pages 17 - 98) 
 

10. Family Hub and Start for Life Programme  (Pages 99 - 110) 
 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

11. Loan for Material Recycling Facility  (Pages 111 - 122) 
 

Item(s) for Consideration 
 
12. Amendments to Appointments  (Pages 123 - 128) 
 

 Report of the Director of Law and Governance 
 

13. Question Time  (Pages 129 - 130) 
 

 (a) Written Question – Booklet 1  
 
(b) Oral Questions to Chairs of Scrutiny Boards/Chair of Scrutiny 

Co-ordination Committee 
 
(c) Oral Questions to Chairs of other meetings 
 
(d) Oral Questions to Representatives on Outside Bodies 
 
(e) Oral Questions to Cabinet Members and Deputy Cabinet Members on 

any matter 
 

14. Statements (if any)   
 

15. Debates   
 

 15.1 To be moved by Councillor R Simpson and seconded by Councillor J  
   Gardiner 

 
“This Council believes that the farmland east of Brown's Lane, owned 
by this Council and which has always been known as Coundon Wedge, 
should not be sold for development.” 

 
15.2 To be moved by Councillor AS Khan and seconded by Councillor P  

    Akhtar 
 

“This Council believes that this Government is on a crash course to 
another period of austerity 
 
Their policies yet again favour those that have and, as usual, ignore 
those that have not. 
 
This winter the brunt of those fiscal policies will be borne not just by the 
most vulnerable, the old, the young and the disabled, but also by 
ordinary hard-working families. Record numbers of people using 
foodbanks and record numbers falling into fuel poverty. All this in a so-
called advanced society. 
 
This Council urges the Government to do the right thing and ensure 
that funding is targeted to those people and small businesses that need 
it and not to those companies and individuals that clearly do not”.  

  



Page 3 

Private Business 
 
It is anticipated that the following matters will be referred as a 
Recommendation from Cabinet, 11 October 2022. The report is attached. The 
relevant Recommendation will be circulated separately 
 
16. Loan for Material Recycling Facility  (Pages 131 - 184) 
 

 (Listing Officer: P Mudhar, Email: parminder.mudhar@coventry.gov.uk) 
 

 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
 
Monday, 10 October 2022 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Usha Patel/Suzanne Bennett 024 7697 2301 / 2299 
 
 
Membership: Councillors F Abbott, N Akhtar, P Akhtar, M Ali, R Auluck, R Bailey, 
L Bigham, J Birdi (Deputy Chair), J Blundell, R Brown, K Caan, J Clifford, G Duggins, 
J Gardiner, B Gittins, S Gray, L Harvard, G Hayre, M Heaven, P Hetherton, 
A Hopkins, J Innes, T Jandu, A Jobbar, S Keough, T  Khan, AS Khan, R Lakha, 
R Lancaster, M Lapsa, J Lepoidevin, G Lloyd, P Male, A Masih, K Maton (Chair), 
J McNicholas, C Miks, B Mosterman, M Mutton, S Nazir, J O'Boyle, G Ridley, 
E Ruane, K Sandhu, T Sawdon, P Seaman, R Simpson, B Singh, R Singh, R Thay, 
CE Thomas, A Tucker and D Welsh 
 
 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 

PLEASE NOTE: 

This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council's internet site.  At the start of the meeting, the Lord Mayor will 
confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  The images and 
sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council. 
Generally, the public seating areas are not filmed. 

However, by entering the meeting room and using the public seating 
area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training 
purposes. If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the 
Governance Services Officer at the meeting. 

 

Usha Patel/Suzanne Bennett  
024 7697 2301 / 2299 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


Page 4 

 



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Council held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 6 September 2022 

 
Present:  

Members: Councillor K Maton (Chair) 

Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor M Ali 
Councillor L Bigham 
Councillor J Birdi 
Councillor R Brown 
Councillor J Clifford 
Councillor G Duggins 
Councillor B Gittins 
Councillor S Gray 
Councillor L Harvard 
Councillor G Hayre 
Councillor M Heaven 
Councillor P Hetherton 
Councillor A Hopkins 
Councillor J Innes 
Councillor T Jandu 
Councillor A Jobbar 
Councillor S Keough 
Councillor T  Khan 
Councillor AS Khan 
Councillor R Lakha 

Councillor R Lancaster 
Councillor M Lapsa 
Councillor J Lepoidevin 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor P Male 
Councillor J McNicholas 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor B Mosterman 
Councillor M Mutton 
Councillor S Nazir 
Councillor J O'Boyle 
Councillor G Ridley 
Councillor E Ruane 
Councillor P Seaman 
Councillor R Simpson 
Councillor B Singh 
Councillor R Singh 
Councillor R Thay 
Councillor A Tucker 
Councillor D Welsh 
 
 

 
  

Honorary Alderman: H Fitzpatrick 

 
Apologies: Councillor F Abbott, R Auluck, R Bailey, J Blundell, K Caan, 

A Masih, K Sandhu, T Sawdon and CE Thomas  
 

Public Business 
 
37. Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 June and the Extraordinary Meetings held 

on 14 and 19 July 2022  
 
The minutes of the Meeting held on 21 June and the Extraordinary Meetings held 
on 14 and 19 July 2022 were agreed and signed as true records. 
 

38. Return of Councillor Seyi Agboola, elected as Labour Councillor for Binley 
and Willenhall Ward in the City, on 14 July 2022, for a term of office expiring 
in 2026  
 
The City Council noted that Councillor Seyi Agboola, was elected as a Councillor 
for Binley and Willenhall Ward in the City, on 14 July 2022 for a term of office 
expiring in 2026. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 
– 2 – 

 

39. Coventry Good Citizen Award  
 
On behalf of the City Council, the Lord Mayor presented Mohammed Ilyas Deen 
with the Good Citizen Award. His citation read:  
 
“Mr Deen cares passionately about his local community and helping the people 
who live there. He has always shown the highest levels of commitment and 
dedication to the residents of Foleshill and the wider city of Coventry through his 
charitable acts and community activism.  
 
Mr Deen works tirelessly to help develop, enhance and improve his local 
community. He often seeks to ensure that any problems in the area are raised; 
anything from road repairs and fly tipping to crime and anti-social behaviour, and 
faulty street lighting and abandoned vehicles. He does this not for selfish reasons, 
but to ensure these problems are addressed for the good of the wider community 
and to help protect the safety of residents.  
 
Mr Deen displays care and compassion for those in need and always does what 
he can to make sure they get the help they need when they most need it. Through 
his work in the community and his wider relationships with faith groups in the area, 
he is often approached by people who are struggling for one reason or another 
and who are unsure where to turn for help. Mr Deen is always happy to talk with 
them, listen to their concerns and point them in the direction of help. 
 
Through his community activism, Mr Deen has shown incredible commitment to 
the residents of Foleshill and the wider City of Coventry by investing his time and 
considerable efforts to help others in his area and improve his local community. 
His actions over many years reflect his altruistic character, therefore a worthy 
recipient of the Good Citizen Award.” 
 

40. Correspondence and Announcements of the Lord Mayor  
 
(a) Councillor Seamus Walsh 

 
 The Lord Mayor referred to the recent sad death of Councillor Seamus Walsh 

on 17th July. 
 
 Seamus had served the Sherbourne Ward of the City since 2010 winning his 

seat 4 times, most recently in May of this year.   
 
Seamus was Chair of the Ethics Committee and had held this role since 
2016.  He was also a member of the West Midlands Fire & Rescue Authority.  
Seamus had served on both Planning and Licensing & Regulatory 
Committee and sat on a number of Scrutiny Boards. 

 
His funeral service was held at Christ the King Church on the 9 August and 
was very well attended which demonstrated how well-respected Seamus 
was. 
 
He would be sadly missed by all who knew him.   
 
 

Page 6



 

 
– 3 – 

 

(b) International Children’s Games 
 
 The Lord Mayor referred to the International Children’s Games, hosted in 

Coventry from 12th-15th August.  There were 73 teams of athletes aged 12-
15 years from 31 countries taking part competing in various different sports 
including 3 x 3 basketball, athletics, climbing, football, swimming, table tennis 
and tennis, with para-sport competitions included. 

 
 The Games were a great success and the Lord Mayor congratulated all 

those who organised this event as well as those who participated. 
 

41. Petitions  
 
RESOLVED that the following petitions be referred to the appropriate City 
Council bodies:  
 

(a) Requesting the ability to access to Floyds Fields, Tanners Lane, Tile 
Hill, by wheelchair and pushchair users  – 71 signatures, presented by 
Councillor M Lapsa. 
 

(b) Objecting to the change of existing surgery to 4 one-bed flats and 
office at 16-18 Henley Road, application FUL/2022/1970 – 25 
signatures, presented by Councillor L Bigham. 
 

(c) Requesting the prevention of HGV lorries from using the Scotchill and 
Burnaby Road as a cut through from Lyons Park to and from the M6 – 
121 signatures, presented by Councillor S Keough. 
 

(d) Requesting road safety on Beake Avenue – 612 signatures, presented 
by Councillor T Jandu. 
 

(e) Requesting residents parking on Sandy Lane – 27 signatures, 
presented by Councillor M Ali  
 

(f) Two petitions, each requesting residents parking schemes for 
Crabmill Lane and Silverton Road – 94 signatures (in total), presented 
by Councillor S Nazir 

 
42. Declarations of Interest  

 
Councillor G Ridley declared an interest in the matter referred to at Minute 47 (City 
Region Sustainable Transport Settlement).  His interest arose as his employer was 
referred to in the report.  He withdrew from the meeting during the consideration 
and voting on this item.  
 

43. Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22  
 
Further to Minute 4 of the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee, the City Council 
noted the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22. 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

 
– 4 – 

 

44. Annual Report of Ethics Committee 2021/22  
 
Further to Minute 5 of the Ethics Committee, the City Council noted the Annual 
Report of the Ethics Committee, 2021/22. 
 

45. Audit and Procurement Committee Annual Report to Council 2021/22  
 
Further to Minute 20 of the Audit and Procurement Committee, the City Council 
noted the Annual Report of the Audit and Procurement Committee 2021/22.  
 

46. Proposed Changes to the Constitution  
 
Further to minute 10 of the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities, the City 
Council considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance which outlined 
proposed changes to the Constitution. 
 
The Constitutional Advisory Panel at its meeting on 12 July considered the 
following proposed changes to the Constitution:  
 
(a) Clarification of Notices of Motion for Council (paragraph 9.1 of the Council 

Procedure Rules)  
(b) Casual vacancy – Failure to Attend meetings (insertion of a new paragraph 

into the Constitution to facilitate prompt declaration of a Casual Vacancy). 
 
Details of the proposed changes were set out in the report.  
 
RESOLVED that the City Council approves Recommendations (1) and (2) 
below with immediate effect and authorises the City Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer to make any necessary amendments to the Constitution:  
 

1. With regard to Notices of Motion, amendments to paragraph 9.1 of the 
Council Procedure Rules as detailed in Appendix A to the report; and 

 
2. With regard to Casual Vacancies following a failure to attend 

meetings, amendments to the Constitution by delegating authority to 
the City Solicitor and Monitoring Officer as the Proper Officer of the 
Council, following consultation with the appropriate Group Leader 
(where applicable), to declare vacancies that occur in relation to 
Section 86 of the Local Government Act 1972, as detailed in Appendix 
B to the report. 

 
47. City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement  

 
Further to Minute 20 of the Cabinet, the City Council considered a report of the 
Director of Transportation and Highways which indicated that the Council’s 
transport capital programme has secured a further £115.9 million, which took the 
total investment in Coventry’s transport network to just over £250 million for the 
next 5 years.  This enabled the Council to further its reputation as an innovative 
city and to tackle corporate priorities – including tackling the causes of climate 
change.  The report sought approval to enable the funding to be drawn down and 
the schemes designed and delivered. 
 

Page 8



 

 
– 5 – 

 

RESOLVED that the City Council  
 
1. Approves the submission of Business Cases to the WMCA and, in the 

case of CVLR, to the DfT, to secure CRSTS funding and delegates 
authority to the Chief Legal Officer, Chief Operating Officer and the 
Director of Transportation and Highways, following consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change, to accept 
the CRSTS £80 million funding and add to the Council’s Transport 
Capital Programme. 
 

2. Retrospectively approves the award of £2.7 million Active Travel Fund 
for Binley Cycle Route, £1 million Active Travel Neighbourhood and 
£1.63 million Sustrans ‘Paths for Everyone’ Funding and approve the 
addition of this funding to the Council’s Transport Capital Programme. 

 
3. Delegates authority to the Chief Legal Officer and the Director of 

Transportation and Highways following consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate Change, to finalise the 
terms of, and enter into, the relevant legal agreements as well as any 
associated documents deemed necessary to complete the projects 
relating the CRSTS Funding up to £80 million, Active Travel Fund £2.7 
million for Binley Cycle Route, Active Travel Neighbourhood £1 million 
and £1.63 million Sustrans ‘Paths for Everyone’ Funding, including any 
match funding which is not yet secure up to the amount of £5 million. 

 
4. Delegates authority to the Director of Transportation and Highways 

following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration 
and Climate Change, to approve the programme of public consultation 
and engagement and works to be undertaken for the Council’s Transport 
Capital Programme, including the CRSTS projects. 

 
5. Delegates authority to the Director of Transport and Highways following 

consultation with Cabinet Member for Jobs, Regeneration and Climate 
Change and the Cabinet Member for City Services, to approve the 
programme of works and public consultation and engagement to be 
undertaken for the Active Travel Neighbourhood schemes. 

 
(Note: Having declared an interest Councillor G Ridley withdrew from the meeting 
during consideration and voting on this matter). 
 

48. Schools National Funding Formula Consultation Response  
 
Further to Minute 21 of the Cabinet, the City Council considered a report of the 
Director of Education and Skills which detailed the Department for Education’s 
(DfE) consultation on further reforms to the National Funding Formula (NFF) which 
determines funding allocations for Local Authorities (LAs) and for all schools.  
 
The Council had previously set out that it did not agree with the move towards a 
nationally determined funding formula. LAs have knowledge of local factors and 
understood the context of the local requirements of schools and therefore were 
best placed to distribute funding in the most effective way for the children in their 
authorities. However, the DfE had made clear this was the national policy direction 

Page 9



 

 
– 6 – 

 

and it was therefore in the Council’s best interest to continue to engage with these 
consultations in order to influence the final outcomes for the benefit of the Council 
and Coventry schools. 
 
The proposals covered a range of specific school funding areas with the main 
theme of implementing a direct National Funding Formula, where the DfE would 
calculate and allocate funding directly to schools without local intervention. Some 
of the proposed changes were planned to take effect from 2023-24 but the DfE 
anticipated full implementation of the direct NFF will take until 2027-28. 
 
The majority of the consultation proposals were not yet fully developed and as 
such it was not possible to be specific about their direct impact at this stage. 
However, the proposals did reveal a likely direction of travel on some key issues, 
and the potential impact that these could have on both Council and school 
finances is detailed within the report. 
 
The report sought approval to submit a Local Authority (LA) response to the 
consultation which outlined Coventry City Council’s view on the proposals, as 
detailed in an Appendix to the report. The response clearly highlighted the 
Council’s concerns about changes which could negatively impact on the LA or on 
schools. Where appropriate the response also outlined areas that needed further 
consideration and made suggestions to improve proposals. 
 
RESOLVED that the City Council approves the proposed response to the 
Schools National Funding Formula consultation, as appended to the report. 
 

49. Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) Development Plan Document (DPD) 
Public Consultation  
 
Further to Minute 24 of the Cabinet, the City Council considered a report of the 
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services which sought authority to consult 
for an eight-week period on the draft HMO DPD and associated Article 4 Direction. 
The proposed consultation would be a “Regulation 18” consultation, where the 
public were asked to consider the issues identified and provide their views on 
whether any issues had been overlooked. The Council would then propose policy 
responses to the identified issues and again ask members of the public for their 
views on these policies. 
 
The report indicated that Houses in Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) could provide 
entry level accommodation but could also bring significant disruption to settled 
neighbourhoods. In order to ensure that HMOs can only come forward in ways that 
integrate with existing neighbourhoods, a Development Plan Document (DPD) had 
been drafted that identified the key issues and proposed planning policy 
responses. 
 
Furthermore, in order to ensure that these policies could be engaged 
comprehensively, an Article 4 Direction was proposed on the wards most impacted 
by HMOs currently, and those most likely to be in the future. 
 
In order to make sure that this change of policy can be applied to all HMOs, a draft 
Article 4 Direction was also proposed and was attached as Appendix 4 to the 
report. It was proposed to consult on this at the same time as the HMO DPD, 

Page 10



 

 
– 7 – 

 

acknowledging that many consultees would want to comment on both 
simultaneously. 

 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) had been undertaken (Appendix 3 to the 
report) and would also form part of the public consultation. 
 
Following the eight-week consultation, responses would be analysed and taken 
account of when considering amendments that may be required. A further report 
would be considered by Cabinet and Council to approve a second round of 
consultation prior to submission for Independent Examination. 
 
RESOLVED that the City Council approves the draft documents for an eight-
week public consultation, to begin at the earliest opportunity. 
 

50. City Council Appointments  
 
The City Council considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance on 
changes to Council bodies.  
 
Sadly, this year, vacancies had arisen as the result of the deaths of Councillor 
John Mutton and Councillor Seamus Walsh. The report informed Council of 
appointments made under delegated authority to some of those vacancies, sought 
approval to the appointment of the Chair of the Ethics Committee and to the West 
Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority and requested a further delegation to deal 
with the rest of those vacancies following the outcome of the Sherbourne Ward by 
election on 22 September 2022.    
 
RESOLVED that the City Council  
 
(1) Notes the following appointments made under delegated authority by 

the Director of Law and Governance, following consultation with the 
Leader 

  
• Councillor C Miks as the Deputy Chair of the Scrutiny Co-

ordination Committee 
• Councillor R Singh as the Chair of the Business, Economy and 

Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) 
• Cllr S Nazir to the Ethics Committee 
• Councillor S Agboola to the Audit and Procurement Committee 

and the Communities and Housing Scrutiny Board (4)   
 
(2)  Approves the appointment of Councillor S Nazir as the Chair of Ethics 

Committee 
 
(3) Approves the appointment of Councillor C Miks and G Lloyd to the 

West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority, and that Councillor Miks be 
the City Council’s Lead Member for that body.  

 
(4) Delegates the appointment of the remaining vacancies to Council 

bodies (and any subsequential amendments to appointments) to the 
Director of Law and Governance following consultation with the 

Page 11



 

 
– 8 – 

 

appropriate Group Leader following the Sherbourne Ward by-election 
on 22 September 2022. 

 
51. Question Time  

 
Councillor J O’Boyle provided written answers to the questions set out in the 
Questions Booklet together with oral responses to supplementary questions put to 
them at the meeting.  
 
The following Members answered oral questions put to them by other Members as 
set out below, together with supplementary questions on the same matters: 
 

No Question asked by Question put to Subject matter 

1 Cllr M Heaven Cllr P Hetherton Missed refuge collections 

2 Cllr M Heaven Cllr P Hetherton Loss of commercial 
contracts 

3 Cllr M Heaven Cllr P Hetherton  Resuming of ‘normal 
service’ in respect of 
refuge collections  

4 Cllr Lepoidevin Cllr J O’Boyle Escalator at Coventry 
Railway Station 

5 Cllr R Simpson  Cllr J O’Boyle Unexploded bomb at 
Gigafactory site 

6 Cllr R Simpson  Cllr J O’Boyle Revenue from land sale 
at Browns Lane 

7 Cllr S Gray Cllr D Welsh Plans to revise Local 
Development Plan 

8  Cllr S Gray Cllr P Hetherton Responses not received 
in respect of questions 
he had asked at the 
previous meeting* 

9 Cllr P Male Cllr G Hayre (in 
absence of 
Cabinet Member)  

Modernising Sexual 
Health Services* 

 
* Members agreed to provide a written response to the question.  
 

52. Statements  
 

1. Statement of the Leader 
 

The Leader, Councillor G Duggins, made a Statement in respect of a 
number of issues including the ‘City of Culture’ year, the Commonwealth 
Games, Childrens Games, and outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection of 
Childrens Services.  

 
Councillor G Ridley responded to the statement.  
 
 
 
 

 

Page 12



 

 
– 9 – 

 

2. Statement of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People  
 

The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, Councillor P Seaman, 
made a statement in respect of the recent Ofsted Inspection of Childrens 
Services, which had rated the service as ‘good’ and thanked all involved.  
 
Councillor J Lepoidevin responded to the statement. 

 
53. Debate: Household Energy Bills  

 
The following Motion was moved by Councillor R Brown and seconded by 
Councillor R Lakha: 
 
“The forecast rise in household energy bills is now a national crisis. It is expected 
that the average monthly cost of energy will rise to £355 a month by next January 
compared to the current average figure of £164 per month. Ordinary working 
families simply cannot afford this especially when added together with inflation 
driving up food and fuel costs. In May the government announced a package of 
support, including a £400 discount on energy bills for all UK households and an 
additional £650 for more than eight million low-income households. Things have 
moved on since May and now this is simply nowhere near enough. Millions of 
children and vulnerable people face a cold and hungry winter whilst upstream 
energy companies rake in billions of excess profits. This Council urges the 
Government to declare a national crisis and put into place a realistic and 
immediate plan to mitigate the effects of this crisis on not just hard-working 
Coventry families but for the whole of the UK.” 
 
RESOLVED that the amended Motion, as set out above, be unanimously 
adopted. 
 

54. Debate: The Local Electricity Bill  
 
The following Motion was moved by Councillor P Male and seconded by Councillor 
R Simpson: 
 

“This Council resolves to support the Local Electricity Bill” 
 
The following amendment was moved by Councillor A Tucker, seconded by 
Councillor J O’Boyle and, in accordance with the Constitution, accepted by 
Councillor P Male:  
 

After the word “Electricity”: 
 

Amend the word “Bill” to “Bill’s” and add 
 

“ ..ongoing scrutiny by Parliament, but we call on the Government to allow 
more time for Parliamentary debate on this vital issue” 

 
The amended Motion to now read: 
 

Page 13



 

 
– 10 – 

 

‘This Council resolves to support the Local Electricity Bill’s ongoing scrutiny by 
Parliament, but we call on the Government to allow more time for Parliamentary 
debate on this vital issue.’ 
 
RESOLVED that the amended Motion, as set out above, be unanimously 
adopted.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 6.55 pm)  

  

Page 14



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 13 

September 2022 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor K Maton (Chair) 

Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor M Ali 
Councillor L Bigham 
Councillor J Birdi 
Councillor J Blundell 
Councillor R Brown 
Councillor J Clifford 
Councillor G Duggins 
Councillor B Gittins 
Councillor S Gray 
Councillor G Hayre 
Councillor M Heaven 
Councillor P Hetherton 
Councillor A Hopkins 
Councillor J Innes 
Councillor T Jandu 
Councillor A Jobbar 
Councillor S Keough 
Councillor T  Khan 
 

Councillor AS Khan 
Councillor R Lakha 
Councillor R Lancaster 
Councillor M Lapsa 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor P Male 
Councillor A Masih 
Councillor J McNicholas 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor M Mutton 
Councillor S Nazir 
Councillor J O'Boyle 
Councillor G Ridley 
Councillor P Seaman 
Councillor R Singh 
Councillor R Thay 
Councillor CE Thomas 
Councillor A Tucker 
Councillor D Welsh 
 
 

 
  

Honorary Alderman H Fitzpatrick and K Taylor 

 
Apologies: Councillor F Abbott, R Bailey, L Harvard, J Lepoidevin, 

E Ruane, K Sandhu, T Sawdon, R Simpson and B Singh  
 

Public Business 
 
55. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

56. Motion Without Notice  
 
The following Motion Without Notice was moved by Councillor M Mutton and 
seconded by Councillor G Lloyd: - 
 

“In accordance with the Constitution, in relation to agenda item 3, I move a 
Motion without Notice that the Council’s Procedure Rule be suspended to 
enable Honorary Aldermen and Alderwomen to speak to the Motion”.   

 
RESOLVED that the above Motion Without Notice be unanimously adopted.  

Page 15



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
57. Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth II  

 
The following Motion was moved by Councillor G Duggins and seconded by 
Councillor G Ridley: - 
 

“This Council, on behalf of the residents of Coventry, place on record our 
sincere and deepest appreciation for the life of service and dedication given 
by Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth II. 
 
Her Majesty was a much loved and respected Monarch, who visited our 
City many times during her long reign and touched the lives of residents, 
companies and organisations in Coventry. She will be greatly missed and 
forever remembered by the people of our City. 
 
We celebrate an amazing life of duty and give thanks that Her Majesty was 
part of our lives. 

 
We send our heartfelt condolences to His Majesty, King Charles III and his 
family at this saddest of times”.  

 
Tributes were paid to Her Majesty, Queen Elizabeth II by Members and Honorary 
Aldermen.  
 
RESOLVED that the above Motion be unanimously adopted.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 3.45 pm)  

  

Page 16




 

Public report 
Cabinet 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet  11 October 2022  
Council 18 October 2022  
 
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People - Councillor P Seaman   

 
Director approving submission of the report: 
Director of Children’s Services 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
All wards.  
 
Title: 
 
Coventry’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 (Update 2022) (Youth Justice Plan) 
 
 
Is this a key decision?   
 
No - although the proposals affect more than two electoral wards, the impact is not expected to be 
significant. 
 
 
 
 
Executive summary: 
 
This paper is being submitted as notification that the Coventry Youth Justice Service (CYJS) - Youth 

Justice Plan has been agreed and signed off by its Chair, the Director of Childrens Services, and to 

seek Council endorsement. 

 

Youth Offending Teams (known now as Youth Justice Services) were established under the Crime 

and Disorder Act 1998. The functions assigned to the Youth Justice Service include the duty upon 

the local authority, under the Children Act 1989, to take all reasonable steps to encourage children 

not to commit offences. The Crime and Disorder Act imposed a duty on each Local Authority, acting 

in cooperation with its Statutory Partners (Police, Health, and Probation), to ensure that all Youth 

Justice services are available in their area to such an extent as it appropriate for the area. 

 

The key tasks of the service are: 

 

 Management and delivery of community sentences 

 Assessing and delivery of out of court disposal interventions 

 Assessing and delivery of diversion support to children at risk of entering the Youth Justice 

System. 

 Management and delivery of secure estate sentences and resettlement 

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



 Servicing the Youth Court and Crown Courts (in terms of provision of the court team, Bail & 

Health Assessments, provision of Pre-Sentence Reports and Stand-down Reports) 

 Parenting services and management of Parenting Orders 

 Victim services 

 
The Crime and Disorder Act also imposed a duty to complete and submit a Youth Justice Plan each 

year. The Plan provides an update against the 2021-23 strategy. For the first time this year, the Youth 

Justice Board (YJB) mandated a template for the plan as part of their grant agreements with Youth 

Justice Services and thus the plan has been presented in this format.  

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet is requested to: 
 

1) Recommend that Council endorse the Coventry’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 
(Update 2022). 

 
Council is requested to: 
 

2)    Endorse the Coventry’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 (Update 2022). 

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
The following appendices are attached to the report: 
 
Appendix 1 - Coventry’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 (Update 2022). 
Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Background papers: 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
None 
 
Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny? 
No 
 
Has it or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel, or other body? 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council? 
Yes – 18th October 2022 
 

Page 18



 

Report title: Coventry’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 (Update 2022). 
 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1. The plan demonstrates, in line with the Youth Justice Board (YJB) grant requirement, the 

continued delivery of statutory responsibilities as described in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

part 111 (section 38). CYJS has submitted the plan in line with the mandated YJB1 structure. 

The plan demonstrates the delivery of the Service’s statutory functions and the methods for 

achieving this in line with the grant requirement. This plan provides an updated picture on how 

the vision is being realized, priorities addressed, and provides a Service analysis and overview. 

It further outlines: how we engage/work collaboratively with children, families, and victims of 

crime; governance arrangements; partnership resourcing into the Service; our performance 

against key priorities; current challenges and risks; our emerging evidence base of best practice; 

and, how we continue to build on the developmental activities across the city in 2022/23. 

 
1.2  Headlines 2021/22 
 
1.2.1 Performance and outcomes for children, young people, families, and communities2  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1 Youth Justice Board explanation 
2 Family Group - a statistically similar comparator group as defined by the Youth Justice Board: Coventry, Derby, Bolton, Newport, 

Sheffield, Peterborough, Walsall, Leeds, Portsmouth, Southampton, Tameside.  

The number of children 

entering the youth justice 

system has been stable over 

the last three years but seen 

a marked decline this year; as 

a result, the Service has 

started a new Diversion Offer.  

The reoffending rate has 

remained stable from last year, 

though it is higher than the 

Family Group. The number of 

children reoffending has reduced, 

but the stable percentage reflects 

the reduction in the overall cohort 

size.     

Page 19



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2.2 Key Achievements  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There was a significant 

decline in the use of 

custody and remand 

across 2021/22.   

There is a continued improving 

trend for children being engaged 

in education, training, and 

employment (ETE); however, 

children in the youth justice 

system continue to achieve poor 

academically, compared to the 

city average.  

³As per comments last year, the ethnic breakdown in the Plan is aggregated in line with the Youth Justice Board national reporting criteria; a more detailed analysis is used operationally.  Page 20



 

 1.3 Our priorities and areas for improvement for 2021/23   
 

The Plan outlines that the Service is working with a smaller, more vulnerable, and traumatised group of children whose needs are very 

high and who present a significant challenge. Children in the YJS are most likely to be accessing (or have accessed) alternative schooling 

provision following permanent exclusion, likely to have been a victim of criminal exploitation, residing in a deprived/high risk area and more 

likely to be from an ethnic minority background. To appropriately tackle these issues, we need: children leading steps for change, a skilled 

workforce, and a city approach to delivering trauma informed prevention and diversion activity. The plan re-outlines our vision and priorities 

for the Coventry’s Youth Justice System, and how we seek to address these trends and findings.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 21



 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1. Completion and submission of this plan is a statutory duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998. It is requested that Cabinet recommend that the Council endorse the Plan. 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1. All statutory partners are consulted under a statutory duty imposed by the Act. All Management 

Board members are consulted and contribute, although only statutory partner’s cooperation is 

required. Additionally, the following methodology has been undertaken to formulate the plan: 

child/parent consultation on their experience and improvement areas; team consultation on how 

we achieve desistance for children; data analysis review of the Service and children in the youth 

justice system; a review of the best practice evidence base; a wider strategic partnership review; 

and, sharing with partners for feedback and amendments. 

 
3.2. Statutory Members are represented by: 

 Director of Children’s Services 

 Strategic Lead for Help Protection, Children’s Services 

 Chief Inspector, Coventry, West Midlands Police 

 Head of Coventry Delivery Unit, Probation  

 Head of Transformation, Coventry and Warwickshire Integrated Care Board   

 Associate Director of Operations, Mental Health Services for Children and Young People  

 

3.3. Other members include: 

 Head of Environmental Services Street Scene and Regulatory Services 

 Operations Manager, Coventry and Warwickshire, Prospects Services  

 Chair of The Magistrates Youth Panel 

 Head of Service, Education Improvement and Standards  

 Head Teacher, Coventry Virtual School 

 Violence Prevention - Programme Manager, Public Health Team 

 Early Help Manager, Children’s Services 

 Service Manager, Positive Choices 

 Head of Innovation and Engagement, Midlands, Youth Justice Board 

 
 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1. YJB grant conditions state that receipt of grant is conditional on the submission of a strategic   

plan. The YJB recognise that local political processes do not necessarily tie in with submission 
dates and therefore they accept a draft plan, which had to be submitted by the end of June 
2021; due to the Coventry Children’s Services Ofsted Inspection a 3-week extension was 
agreed by the YJB, and the plan was submitted in line with this deadline. 

 
5. Comments from Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 

Governance 
 
5.1. Financial Implications 

 
Grant funding from YJB may be withheld/withdrawn if the plan is not submitted in line with the 
Crime and Disorder Act and grant requirements. 

Page 22



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The change to the local authority contribution, Health and Police are because of increased costs 
(for example, staff spinal points and increments, and budget realignments); the Health, Police 
and Probation figures reflect ‘payments in kind’ through seconded roles and other delegated 
funds3. 
 
The plan was written prior to the YJB grant announcement and written based on funding being 
matched to the core grant allocation in 2021-22, as per the advice of the YJB. The grant has 
now been announced, with an additional one-year uplift for 2022-23 and the table above reflects 
this. The additional grant awarded will be used to support diversion activity to prevent children 
entering the youth justice system.  

 
 
5.2. Legal Implications 

 
Section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on the local authority, after consultation 
with the relevant bodies, to formulate and implement a yearly ‘Youth Justice Plan’. The Plan 
must set out how Youth Justice Services in the area are to be provided, composed and funded, 
how they will operate, and what functions they are to carry out. Such Plans are submitted to the 
YJB for England and Wales and published in accordance with any directions issued by the 
Secretary of State.    

 
 
6. Other implications 

 
6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

 
The plan’s vision is underpinned by the One Coventry Plan. The improvement and business 
plan (Appendix 1: Section 13-Looking Forward) details the steps over the next 12 months to 
realise the plan’s vision, and in turn the Council’s. The activity within the plan is aligned locally 
to plans that include: Early Help Strategy, Local Police and Crime Board Plan, Safeguarding 

Partnership Strategy, Coventry Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Children and Young People’s 
Plan, Local Policing Plan, Coventry Sustainable Communities Strategy, and the Coventry Youth 
Violence Prevention Strategy.  
 

6.2. How is risk being managed? 

 
Risk to the YJB grant, has been managed by consulting with partners in a timely manner to 
facilitate sign off and submission of the draft plan (grant requirement). The report is also 
submitted now for endorsement in line with statutory duties and good practice requirements. 

 
6.3. What is the impact on the organisation? 

 

                                            
3 Further finance tables are available on pages 63/64 of the Plan providing a breakdown of partner contributions to the pooled budget.  

Page 23

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

The Plan presents a balanced budget and no immediate implications for other groups. The Plan 
details the risks going forward in to 2021/23. 

 
6.4. Equalities / EIA? 

 
While this is not a new activity, an EIA has been completed and this identified a positive impact 
for one or more protected groups, given the detailed progressive actions within 
improvement/business plan.   

 
6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment? 

 
None. 
 

6.6. Implications for partner organisations? 
 
Partners have all participated in agreement and sign off the Plan and there are no implications 
arising post sign off. 
 
 

Report author(s):  
Nick Jeffreys 
Operational Lead for Coventry Youth Justice Service 
 
Service: Children’s Services 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7697 6107  
Email: nicholas.jeffreys@coventry.gov.uk  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service 
Area 

Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Chris Heeley  Strategic Lead, 
Help and 
Protection 

Children’s 
Services 

08.09.22 14.09.22 

Georgia Shelton Accountant Finance 08.09.22 14.09.22 

Lara Knight   Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

08.09.22 15.09.22 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  

    

Finance: Tina Pinks Finance Manager Finance  08.09.22 14.09.22 

Legal: Kate Burke Solicitor  Law and 
Governance 

08.09.22 14.09.22 

Director: John Gregg Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

- 08.09.22 14.09.22 

Members: Councillor 
Seaman 

Cabinet Member 
for Children and 
Young People 

- 08.09.22 14.09.22 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings   

Page 24

mailto:nicholas.jeffreys@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


1 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 
 

Be  

P
age 25



2 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 
 

  
Foreword from the Chair of the Management Board 

 
 

 
I am passionate about improving services for children and 
families. It is clear there is a commitment from politicians, 
partners, and teams to make a real difference to ensure 
that children, young people and victims, are first and 
foremost at the centre of Youth Justice services in 
Coventry. 
 
We are committed to our One Coventry approach, to tackle 
issues like exploitation and serious youth violence, with 
these arrangements maturing and developing to meet need 
at a strategic and operational level. There is a partnership 
commitment to trauma informed practice and a 
commitment to a public health approach through the 10-
year Coventry Youth Violence Prevention Strategy. 
 
The 2021-23 plan details how we intend to put the vision 
and priorities into action with key developmental areas 
around education engagement, promoting diversion from 
the youth justice system, addressing disproportionately and 
continued improvements against the Youth Justice Board’s 
National Standards and HMI Probation Framework. 
 
Our overarching Children’s Service’s vision is: ‘Coventry: 
together children and families are at the heart of 
everything we do.’. The Coventry Youth Justice Service 
vision and priorities seek to put this into action. The next 
year will build on activity in 2021/22 and seek to continue 
 
 
 
 
 

 
progress to divert children from the formal Youth 
Justice System (YJS), getting in early, reducing 
criminalisation of children, and supporting to have 
a community with fewer victims of crime. We will 
continue to drive improvements to reduce the 
number of children engaged in offending 
behaviour and youth violence, the number 
entering the youth justice system and the number 
subject to custodial sentences. 
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has affected 
progress, particularly the impact on the workforce; 
new starters have brought new ideas and 
experience, though time has rightly needed to be 
invested in ensuring robust induction processes.  
 
The Coventry Family Valued Programme launched in 
April 2021, it builds on the successes in Coventry; 
recognising where there will always be more to do 
to improve outcomes for children, young people, 
and their families and to that end I am committed 
to building a restorative culture. As a partnership in 
Coventry, we are proud of our achievements and 
we believe together we can make Coventry a safe, 
great and enjoyable place to live, grow and work 

 
 

John Gregg 

Director of Children's Services  
and Management Board Chair 

 

P
age 26



3 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 
 
 

 

Contents Page  
 

1. Introduction, vision and strategy 5 
   

2. Local context 7 
   

3. Child First 8 
   

4. Voice of the child 9 
   

5. Governance, leadership, and partnership arrangements 12 
   

6. Resources and services 18 
   

7. Progress on previous plan 20 
   

8. Performance and priorities 25 
   

9. National standards 32 
   

10. Challenges, risks, and issues 34 
   

11. Service improvement plan 36 
   

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation 37 
   

13. Looking forward 38 

   

14. Sign off, submission and approval 58 
 

Appendices                    60 

P
age 27



 

4 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update  

 

Executive Summary 

This plan is the update to the 2021-23 Youth Justice Strategy and Plan. The 2021-23 Plan outlined the priorities and vision for Youth Justice 

Services in Coventry for a two-year period. This plan provides an updated picture on how the vision is being realized, priorities addressed, and 

provides a Service analysis and overview using the template mandated by the Youth Justice Board1. It further outlines: how we engage/work 

collaboratively with children, families and victims of crime; governance arrangements; partnership resourcing into the Service; our performance 

against key priorities; current challenges and risks; our emerging evidence base of best practice; and, how we continue to build on the 

developmental activities across the City in 2022/23. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Plan outlines that Coventry Youth Justice Service is working with a smaller, more vulnerable, and traumatised group of children whose 

needs are very high and who present a significant challenge. Children in the YJS are most likely to be accessing (or have accessed) 

alternative schooling provision following permanent exclusion, likely to have been a victim of criminal exploitation, residing in a deprived/high 

risk area and more likely to be from an ethnic minority background. To appropriately tackle these issues, we need: children leading steps for 

change, a skilled workforce, and a city approach to delivering trauma informed prevention and diversion activity. The update improvement and 

development plan outlines, against the priorities, how we seek to address these trends and findings.  

 

 
1 Youth Justice Board explanation 

P
age 28



 

Introduction 
 

 

Youth Justice Services were established under the Crime and Disorder Act                        
1998 with the principal aim being to prevent offending behavior by 
children. The Act imposed a duty on each local authority together with its 
statutory partners, Police, Health and Probation, to ensure that adequate 
Youth Justice Services are available in their area. 

 
The key tasks of the service are: 

 

• Management and delivery of community sentences 

• Assessing and delivery of Out of Court Disposal interventions  

• Assessing and delivery of diversion2 support to children at risk of 

entering the Youth Justice System.  

• Management and delivery of secure estate sentences and resettlement 

• Servicing the Youth Court and Crown Courts (in terms of provision of 

the court team, Bail & Health Assessments, provision of Pre-Sentence 

Reports and Stand-down Reports) 

• Parenting services and management of Parenting Orders 

• Victim services 

 
The legislation also imposed a duty to complete and submit a Youth 
Justice Plan each year. The Act states that the Youth Justice Plan should 
set out how youth justice services in their area are to be provided, 
funded, the leadership and governance arrangements, and as well as key 
information about the Service to ensure quality and effective youth justice 
services.  
 
This Plan will provide an update on activity on the 2021-23 vision and 
priorities. The Plan follows a newly prescribed template by the Youth 
Justice Board that sees some areas re-presented as per the initial Plan. 
More generally, it will present an updated analysis and what has been 
achieved against the priorities, alongside the next steps through an  

 
2 Definition of diversion as per YJB doc  

 
 
updated business and improvement plan; this will detail how the CYJS 
vision and the following national outcome indicators will be achieved: 
 

• Reduce the number of children in the youth justice system 
• Reduce reoffending by children in the youth justice system 
• Reduce the use of custody 
 

Alongside, local agreed performance indicators that evidence positive 
outcomes for children, young people, and victims of crime and/or the 
mechanisms to achieve this, namely: 

 

• Reduce incidents of serious youth violence in the city and reduce 
the number of children presenting at A&E for such injuries. 

• Reduce the re-arrest/live reoffending rate for children exiting the 
youth justice system. 

• Reduce risk judgements for children in the youth justice system. 
• Reduce racial disparity for children in the youth justice system  
• Improve ETE engagement and attainment for children in the 

youth justice system. 
• Improve access to mental healthcare provision for children in the 

Youth Justice System; % in need compared to % accessing.  
• Improve feedback from children/family/parents and victims of 

crime 
• Improve Management Board Attendance at a Senior Level. 

To ensure a robust and up to date picture is presented, a repeat of last 
year’s methodology has been undertaken but with a focus on 
reviewing the activity under the agreed priorities and vision; in doing 
so, ensuring these remain fit for purpose and remain in line with Youth 
Justice Board's Strategic Plan 2021-243. 
 

This plan has been written alongside existing plans and strategies 
across the city in recognition that a whole city approach is required to 
achieve the outcomes outlined. The Plan is also subject to Coventry 
City Council Cabinet and Council endorsement. 

 
3 www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-board-for-england-and-wales-strategic-plan-2021-24  

P
age 29

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-board-for-england-and-wales-strategic-plan-2021-24


 

6 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

CYJS Vision and Priorities 2021-2023  

Coventry Children's Services vision: together children and families are at the heart of everything we do. 

CYJS’s vision complements the wider Children's Service’s Vision and YJB 'Child First, Offender Second' approach in aspiring to create:  ‘A youth justice 
system that sees children as children, treats them fairly and helps them to build on their strengths so they can make a constructive contribution to society. This 
will prevent offending and create safer communities with fewer victims.’ (YJB Strategic Plan 2021-24). Our vision is realised through the priorities and the actions 

in the improvement and business plan in Section 13. The vision and priories have collaboration, celebrating diversity, taking a whole systems approach, and 

addressing inequalities (including structural) at the centre.   

                                                                 

P
age 30



 

Local Context 
 
 
 

Just over one-fifth of Coventry’s population, or 79,765 
(21.5%) are children and young people under the age of 18 years. 

This is slightly higher than national (England) rate (21.4%), but lower than 
the regional (West Midlands) rate of 21.9% and the metro area (West 
Midlands Combined Authority) rate of 23.8%. It is, however, higher than the 
sub regional (Coventry and Warwickshire) rate 20.8%. 

Of Coventry’s children and young 
people population: 

• 22,757 are under 5 

• 28,844 (aged 5-10) 

• 20,684 (aged 11-15) 

• 7,480 (aged 16-17) 

 
Coventry is a diverse city and is 
expected to become even more 
diverse, with nearly half of Coventry 
Pupils from BME backgrounds. 
According to the latest school 

census,53.1% of Coventry’s 
school children are from 
BME background, up from 

39% in 2011. 

 
• 11 children were living in a 

privately fostered arrangement 

• 1535 open early help assessments 
(across the partnership) 

• 493 children are supported by a 
child protection plan 

• 1580 children 
in need 

• 752 children 
are in care 

• 578 care 
leavers 

 
The proportion of children and 
young people with English as an 
additional language: 

• In primary schools is 34.4% (the 
national average is 21.3%) 

• In secondary schools is 32.5% 

(The national average is 17.1%) 

• In special 
schools is 
28.6% (the 
national 
average 
is 14.8%) 

As at January 2020 

source data 

 

The proportion of children entitled 
to free school meals: 

• In primary schools is 18.3% (the 
national average is 17.7%) 

• In secondary 
schools is 19.2% 
(the national 
average is 15.9%) 

• In special schools is 
41.3% (the national 
average is 40.1%) 

As at January 2020 

source data 

 
 

Coventry is on a relatively small 
footprint (98.65 km2) and with an 
estimated population in mid-2019 
of 371,521 residents; this makes 
Coventry the 9th largest city in 
England in terms of population. 

85 primary schools/academies, 

21 secondary schools/ 
academies, 

1 all thorough school/academy, 

8 special schools/academy, 

1 nursery school, 1 PRU’s. 

These figures include 51 

academies and 4 free schools. 

 

MASH 
contact timeliness is 98.3% 
compared with 

98.5% in 2020/21 

and 92.8%.in 2019/20 

166 Ofsted registered 
childminders 

101 early years settings 

 
 
 
 

Coventry is identified as a 
‘Marmot City’. 14.4% of Coventry 
areas are identified as being in the 
most 10% deprived in England. 
Over one-third (37%) of Coventry 
children live in 
low-income families. 

% Of care leaver FTE figures 
aged 17-20 is 64.3% compared to 
49.8% in 2020/21. 

Compared to Statistical 
Neighbours 51.1%, West Midlands 
54.3%, and England average 56% 
(2019-20) 

 

2019 

2020 

 
 

29 Unaccompanied 

asylum-seeking children 
(as at end December 2021) 

382 
pupils educated 

at home 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

190 mainstream fostering 

households. And 24 new fostering 
households approved in 2020/21 
(as end December 2020) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sources: Data Team for Children’s Services and Education. Coventry people and race & ethnicity (equality factsheet 6) published January 2015; data from the 2011 Census (Table KS201EW). https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/31/children_and_families/2772/coventry_children_and_young_people_plan 
Coventry Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) – Citywide Profile 2019 - https://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/31860/english_indices_of_deprivation_2019_-_coventry_summary_report - - based on ‘Local Concentration - This measure defines 'hot spots' of deprivation by reference to a 
percentage of the local authority district's population - https://www.centreforcities.org/city/coventry/ & https://powwownow.co.uk/smarter-working/the-uks-most-connected-cities/ 

 

P
age 31

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/31/children_and_families/2772/coventry_children_and_young_people_plan
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/downloads/file/31860/english_indices_of_deprivation_2019_-_coventry_summary_report
http://www.centreforcities.org/city/coventry/


8 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update   

Voice of the Child 
 

 

 

 

Child First 
 
 
 
 
The CYJS Vision is the local ratification of the YJB’s Child First approach. The approach is underpinned by an evidence base developed by Professor Stephen 
Case, an expert in criminology at Loughborough University. The approach is based on the latest research on best practice and underpinned by four tenants 
for service delivery outlined with the Youth Justice Board's Strategic Plan 2021-24, namely: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Prioritise the best interests of children and recognising their particular needs, capacities, rights, and potential. All work is child-focused, 
developmentally informed, acknowledges structural barriers and meets responsibilities towards children.  

 

We reflect our commitment to ensuring children’s voices are at the centre of our decision making through our first vision statement and our 
commitment to addressing disproportionality where children are overrepresented in the criminal justice system as a result of structural inequality.  

3.  Encourage children’s active participation, engagement, and wider social inclusion. All work is a meaningful collaboration with children and their 
carers. 

 

 Our focus on engagement with children, families and victims is central to our vision and strategy, with additional recognition that such a 
commitment cannot be isolated to the Youth Justice Service alone but across the whole city through a joined up One Coventry approach.  

2. Promote children’s individual strengths and capacities to develop their pro-social identity for sustainable desistance, leading to safer communities 
and fewer victims. All work is constructive and future-focused, built on supportive relationships that empower children to fulfil their potential and 
make positive contributions to society.    

 

Our focus on trauma informed practice evidences our commitment to working relationally and empowering children through prirotising access to 
education, training, and employment in recognition that this is consistently identified as key factor for a children’s desistance, key to facilitating 
pro-social identity change and building on children’s areas of interest/strength  

4.  Promote a childhood removed from the justice system, using pre-emptive prevention, diversion, and minimal intervention. All work minimises 
criminogenic stigma from contact with the system. 

 

We pledge to committing to diversion and minimal intervention approaches to ensure that children are not unduly criminalised, and recognise 
that the community and social capital are imperative in tackling issues like serious youth violence and exploitation. 
  

P
age 32



9 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update   

Voice of the Child 
 

 

 

Voice of the Child 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Current Approaches to Child Feedback 
There are varied routes for co-creation/participation with children and 
families covered below. Routes have been explored to facilitate 
feedback at specific junctures, collaboration into decision making and 
ensure that methods support participation with all children in the YJS.  
 
Through Our Eyes  
Started in 2021/22, a quarterly feedback group led by a local charity, 
Guiding Young Minds, and the local Youth Commissioner. These 
sessions take place at a local youth club (Coventry Boys and Club) and 
sees children open to CYJS give feedback on their experiences, self-
assess the Service, and discuss pertinent issues individually/collectively 
to improve the Service. The sessions are facilitated externally to 
encourage and facilitate more honest feedback.  
 
The group was named through the first session in January 2022, which 
was also supported by the Children’s Participation Team and involved 
an initial self-assessment on the Service. The participation team fed 
back using the Participation Standards a framework for self-
assessment4. This identified that the 7 standards were being met, 
though participation was often ‘adult initiated’ rather than there being 
standalone pathways for unprompted feedback.  

 
4 Children and Young People’s Participation in Wales ... Good Practice 2016: ‘were used as the self-
assessment tool.  https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/good-practice-guide.pdf 

 
The cohort was aged between 15-18. Feedback was clear in that children 
felt they were being listened to, treated fairly, had good communication 
and workers were easy to get hold of, and they felt comfortable to share 
honestly. Children commented that their interests and strengths were 
built on; one child provided an example of stating that they were 
interested in boxing, and this later became part of their intervention. 
Children fed back that they liked having female workers as they found 
that they were nurturing and caring.  
 
Children reflected on that support was available, but that ultimately it was 
they have the ability to make choices and choosing to not reoffend was 
down to them. Children reflected on the value of restorative work opened 
their eyes to impact on others both indirect and direct victims.  
 
There were several areas for consideration, namely:  

- Having sessions in community hubs and wanting a YJS office in 
each area  

- Court process is difficult to navigate   
- Having access to people with lived experience  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All but 1 child reported they felt listened to. All children were 
able to identify how their worker supports their needs, e.g., 
follows up on things for them, changes locations of appts, 
takes out of the house where I can speak, uses preferred 

gender pronouns, sessions planned at times that suits them, 
offered transport where possible. 

 

P
age 33

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/good-practice-guide.pdf


10 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update   

Voice of the Child 
 

 

 

 
 
In response to the areas of consideration the following steps have been 
undertaken: 
- Coventry has 8 Family Hubs, and these have been re-promoted across 

the team – while these are not additional YJS offices, they are 
community spaces where 1 to 1 session can take place, alongside 
charity/third sector venues (see Section 5). 

 

- The CYJS Court Assistant Officer now contacts all children/families as 
soon as we are notified of a court listing to offer support/guidance 
through the process.   

 

-  The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Grant used in 2021/22 
for community mentoring, across 2022/23 will also see children at 
medium/high risk of exploitation be offered funded mentoring to 
ensure that offers for people with ‘lived experience’5 comes early.   

 
A second session has now been held in April 2022 with the findings 
feeding into The Plan (Section 13); this has also included some 1 to 1 
sessions led by Guiding Young Minds for children who have not been able 
to/wanted to engage through a group setting.  The group will continue to 
meet quarterly, and feedback will be presented to Board with ongoing 
consideration for encouraging direct feedback from children to Board and 
that clear actions are taken in response; the group moving forward will 
considering /discussing key issues/themes planned for Board.  
 
For the Plan 
In 2021/22, CYJS undertook a consultation with children and families 
open to the Service at the time to see what has worked well and what 
could be improved; several key themes emerged, namely: taking the 
service to children (home visits), adaptability, the importance of 
relationship building, diversity in offer of workers, and the value of 
learning about victims and impact of offending. These key themes 
supported the formulation of our 10 priorities and, to ensure these remain 

 
5 https://yjresourcehub.uk/training-and-workforce-development-

resources/item/1001-lessons-learnt-from-essex-lived-experience-workforce-
development-programme-county-lines-pathfinder-january-2022.html  

appropriate, the exercise was undertaken again during April 2022. 
Some of the key themes that emerged were similar to feedback through 
our Through Our Eyes sessions, namely: the majority of children felt 
listened to and that the right support was in place with several children, 
accessing YJS CAMHS support, complimenting how useful this was.  
 
Areas of worries for children were orientated to access to education, 
training, and employment and/or other meaningful activities; and the 
importance of professionals understanding the lived experience of 
children and community challenges around serious youth violence; and a 
normalized view of ‘postcode wars’. These specific learning points have 
fed into the improvement and development plan, but the feedback offers 
assurances that the priorities continue to be appropriate.  
 
End of Intervention Feedback 
For all children closing to the Service, an offer will be given to attend an 
end of intervention feedback session where appropriate (as assessed by 
the YJS Officer)6 facilitated by an experienced Sessional Worker. 
 
This gives opportunity for the child to reflect on the impact of their work 
with CYJS, looking at the workers they have engaged with, the overall 
service delivery, and supporting with closure planning. The feedback 
document was devised in conjunction with the Children’s Champion in the 
Partnership Team. The document seeks to draw upon qualitative, 
quantitative and distance travelled methods/processes from the start of 
the journey to the end. For families/children who have attended, a 4-6 
month check in will be offered as an opportunity to review outcomes and 
to celebrate successes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          
 

 
6 For example, a child who finds it difficult to meet new people. 

P
age 34

https://yjresourcehub.uk/training-and-workforce-development-resources/item/1001-lessons-learnt-from-essex-lived-experience-workforce-development-programme-county-lines-pathfinder-january-2022.html
https://yjresourcehub.uk/training-and-workforce-development-resources/item/1001-lessons-learnt-from-essex-lived-experience-workforce-development-programme-county-lines-pathfinder-january-2022.html
https://yjresourcehub.uk/training-and-workforce-development-resources/item/1001-lessons-learnt-from-essex-lived-experience-workforce-development-programme-county-lines-pathfinder-january-2022.html


11 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update   

Voice of the Child 
 

 

 

 
This pathway has seen 20 children engaged through these sessions and 
approximately a 50/50 split of children open to Out of Court Disposals 
verses Court. Children who did not wish to engage in the feedback 
sessions will have also had opportunity to engage in a written self-
assessment in replacement of the sessions. Feedback through these 
sessions reflected: the value of opportunities to access mentoring, 
supporting into education pathways, and the value of having a 
committed and caring worker. Some children reflected that despite 
feeling that they might be judged and wouldn’t get anything out of their 
order/ interventions, found that the opposite was true: “Out of a 
negative experience came a positive outcome”. This appears to evidence 
the focused efforts on developing more trauma informed ways of 
working centered through one relationship resulting in children’s not 
having to repeat their stories.  
 
The key area of feedback was around some children preferring younger 
workers, albeit also commenting that the workers were supportive/non-
judgmental. This feedback has been consistent, as captured within the 
Workforce Development Strategy 2021-23, and considerations to ensure 
a greater diversity of offer is explored in Section 7.  
 
Viewpoint  
Across the last year, the team has been embedding the use of Viewpoint 
when children and parents complete self-assessments as part of the 
ongoing assessment process. Now that this approach is embedded, and 
a new worker as Child Engagement and Development Officer is in post, 
a Service wide analysis will be undertaken on a 6 monthly basis to 
identify key themes for improvement/development.   
 
 
 

Recruitment  
CYJS has over the last year worked with the Participation Team to ensure 
that children’s voices are at the forefront of the recruitment process. This 
has seen a representative from the team involved in all recruitment 
processes over the last year.  
 
Support best practice and research 
While prioritizing approaches to support local collaboration, CYJS has also 
supported several research projects over the last year through the Office 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner, HMI Probation and other research 
hubs supporting Coventry’s children’s input into wider system change and 
support internal learning (see Section 12). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Next Steps: 
 

The last year has seen a new post created: Child Engagement and Development Officer. Over the coming year, they will lead on furthering engagement 
routes, ensuring that pathways for unprompted feedback are strengthened, and lead on responding to the learning identified above; these actions are as 
outlined in the Plan - Section 13.  

 
  

100% of children did not think there was anything 
further we could do to support them. One child 

commented that ‘having relationships works the most’. 

 

P
age 35



12 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update   

Voice of the Child 
 

 

 

 

Governance, Leadership and 
Partnership Arrangements 

In line with the requirements of the Crime and Disorder Act (1998) and revised guidance from the Youth Justice Board for 
Youth Justice partnerships 2021, CYJS Management Board oversees the justice services, monitoring and actioning around the 
quality and effectiveness of child justice services across Coventry.  

The Youth Justice Service is part of Children’s Services; this is in recognition of the needs of the children in the YJS and the 
need for coordinated responses for such children; this has most recently been outlined in the ‘Independent review of children’s 
social care’. The Head of Service has the Youth Justice Service as a single portfolio and is line managed by the Strategic Lead 
(Assistant Director) for ‘Help and Protection’ services, which includes the exploitation team who YJS share an office with. The 
Management Board is currently chaired by the Director of Children’s Services designated by the Chief Executive. The Board 
has cross cutting members, at a senior level, across the statutory and non-statutory strategic boards and groups championing 
the CYJS vision and priorities, for example: 

 

▪ Early Help Strategy 2020-2022 –Outcome 6: ‘Parents and young people involved or victims of crime and/or anti-social 
behaviour is reduced’ 

▪ Police and Crime Board – Priorities – ‘Reducing re-offending and harm’ and ‘exploitation and serious youth violence’ 

▪ Schools Violence Reduction Strategy and Plan– 2020-2029 

 
▪ Safeguarding Children Partnership – Priorities 2022-2023 - ‘Exploitation’ 

 
▪ Health and Wellbeing Board – Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023 – ‘Children and    young people fulfil their potential’ 

 
▪ Safeguarding Adults Board - Priorities 2019-2021 - To be assured that services and agencies have appropriate systems, 

processes, and training in place to support and safeguard adults effectively.  
 

 These cross-cutting priories ensure that the priorities and vision are seen 
as a city responsibility and challenge, as outlined in the 'One Coventry’ 
approach and the council's values: 

 

P
age 36



13 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

 

 

 

CYJS Management Board 
 

CYJS has the appropriate agencies and statutory representation on the Management Board, as detailed within the Board Members list in the 
appendices (appendix 1). Alongside the key Statutory Partners, CYJS also benefits from the attendance of the Chair of the Youth Court Bench, the 
Head of Education Improvement and Standards, Service Manager for Positive Choices (Substance Misuse Agency) the Headteacher of Coventry Virtual 
School, Operations Manager for Coventry &  Warwickshire Prospects7 Service, the Head of Environmental Service Street Scene & Regulatory Services, 
Programme Manager for the Violence Prevention (Public Health Team) and Early Help Manager for Children's Services, and as required attendance 
from relevant Secure Estates, Chair of the Coventry Youth Partnership and agencies as required for updates. The Board is well supported by the YJB 
and Partnership Advisor. The board discharges its duties by: 
 

⚫ Requiring the CYJS Operational Lead and partners to report and account for performance against national and local indicators that evidence positive 
outcomes for children. Advanced reports are provided on performance, Probation transfers, Education (School Age), Education (16+), Health, Positive 
Choices (Substance Misuse agency), and the Police. Each report acts as an update from each agency of their activity across the last quarter. 

⚫ Oversight of budget and staffing structures to ensure that the service is adequately resourced 

⚫ Commissioning (internally) specific projects, research, and evaluation of aspects of service delivery 

⚫ Quality assurance, oversight and monitoring of plans, including those, which emerge from community safeguarding and public protection incidents 

⚫ Scrutiny of compliance with YJB grant conditions, including timeliness of data submission and connectivity via Management Board meetings and access 

to YJB reports. 

⚫ Strategic ownership and sign off of the Annual Youth Justice Plan 

 
Management Board have continued the process of development, and this is covered in Section 11. Coventry has a 10 Year Youth Violence Prevention 
Strategy with a partnership owned action plan. The aims of the strategy and partners response is to act as a One Coventry response through a Public 
Health approach to the issue of youth violence. This Plan will be carried forward into the development of the Serious Violence Duty. The 10-year plan 
will form the public health approach foundations for the serious violence plan across the City in response to the Serious Violence Duty.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7 Prospects is the local service to support 16-24 year olds at risk of, or not in, education/training/employment - https://www.prospects.co.uk/Contact-Us/Corporate-Head-Office/Prospects-in-Coventry-and-Warwickshire-  

P
age 37

https://www.prospects.co.uk/Contact-Us/Corporate-Head-Office/Prospects-in-Coventry-and-Warwickshire-


14 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

 

 

 
 
Over the last year, this has been progressed through an Operational 
Group; however, following departure of the WM Police 
(Commander) and Public Health (Director), the new senior 
leadership team are reviewing the governance arrangements in line 
with the expectations through the Serious Violence Duty8. While the 
duty remains in draft terms, the duty is not isolated to children or 
young people; however, with the local commitment to a public 
health approach is centered towards ‘strong foundations and 
‘prevention’ that are equally central to violence more broadly. This 
review is currently underway, and an updated strategic needs 
assessment is being commissioned as part of this; this will inform 
an updated strategy and the current action plan and then reviewing 
on an annual basis.  
 
The local commitment to the strategy remains strong with the 
partnership continuing to co-fund a Violence Prevention Programme 
Manager and an additional Local Authority funded post in a Schools 
Violence Reduction Lead, who leads on the Schools Violence 
Reduction Strategy. These posts are additional to the locally funded 
posts through the West Midlands Violence Reduction Unit, namely: 
Education Intervention Advisor and Faith Communities Navigator & 
Community Navigator. 
 
Regional Influence:   

To further strengthen the responses to children locally, many 
priorities require regional/national input/influence. To achieve this, 
there is attendance from the team and/or Management Board to the 
following meetings: 

 
• Girls Delivery Group 
• Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion Strategic Board 
• Child Exploitation Board 

And, through a rota across regional Youth Justice leads: 

 
8 Serious Violence Duty - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/police-crime-sentencing-and-
courts-bill-2021-factsheets  

 

• West Midlands Criminal Justice Board 
• Regional MAPPA Senior Management Board 
• West Midlands Strategic Violence Reduction Board 

 
Additional to this, and in recognition of the need for coordinated responses 
to issues across the West Midlands Force/PCC area, a regional Youth 
Justice Subgroup has been set-up in 2022 as an arm of the Criminal Justice 
Board; this will enable the streamlining of regional matters, a clear regional 
strategic escalation pathway for governance of youth justice matters, and a 
regional decision-making forum for priorities. 
 
Operational Interplay: The interplay between regional, statutory boards 
and violence prevention board enables strong operational interplay. 
Members of the team, managers and Board participate in a number of 
operational groups, including, but not limited to: 

 
• The Contextual Safeguarding Subgroup and Operational Group 
• Coventry Reducing Re-offending Board 
• Channel Panel (PREVENT) 
• Drug & Alcohol Steering Group 
• The Coventry Youth Partnership 
• Coventry Serious Youth Violence Forum 
• Child Sexual Exploitation Operational Group 
• Vulnerable and Missing Panel 
• Child Exploitation and Missing Triage 
• Liaison and Diversion Service Programme Group 
• Youth One Day One Conversation 
• Education and YJS Action Group/Working Party 
• Coventry and Warwickshire Youth Panel Meeting 
• School and Police Panels Meeting 
• Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
• Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) 
• Fair Access Panels 
• Serious and Organised Crime Joint Action Group (SOCJAG) 

 
In addition to the above, there are also a number of champion leads across 
the Service including: Gangs, Child Engagement and Child Sexual Abuse.  
These champion leads support consistent practice across CYJS, developing 
their own expertise and supporting wider practice development.

P
age 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/police-crime-sentencing-and-courts-bill-2021-factsheets
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/police-crime-sentencing-and-courts-bill-2021-factsheets


15 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

 

 

Partnership and Secondment Arrangements: 

 
The Local Authority is represented by the Director of Children’s 
Services and Strategic Lead for Help and Protection the relationship 
has proven effective in: 

 
⚫ the role of CYJS Management Board Chair providing challenge   

and support to partners 
⚫ ensuring that the YJS is appropriately profiled in key forums,   
⚫ representation at West Midlands Strategic Violence Reduction   

Board 
⚫ Securing partner engagement and development activity; for 

example, resourcing into an exploitation hub. 
⚫ Overseeing the partnership arrangements protocol 
⚫ The Service has 5 qualified Social Workers within the Service 

 
The Probation Service are represented on the Management Board 
by the Head of Coventry Probation Delivery Unit. This relationship 
has proven effective in: 

 
⚫ Providing information specific to transitions; for example, re-

offending and engagement rates for young people post transfer 
⚫ Ensuring appropriate support is available to care leavers  
⚫ Facilitating joint audits across CYJS and Probation to ensure a 

continued learning feedback loop 
⚫ Overseeing the joint protocol and ensuring appropriate 

Probation resourcing into the Service 
⚫ The Service currently has 1 Full-time Probation Officer seconded in 

the Service who started in March 2020 on a three-year cycle.9 
 

West Midlands Police are represented by one of Coventry’s 
Detective Chief Inspectors. CYJS also has a named Inspector and 
Sergeant to support the Integrated Offender Management activity 
and Out of Court Disposals. This relationship has proved to be 
effective in: 

 
9 Probation Support Officer, which will see the Probation Officer post change to a 0.7 full-time equivalent 
and Support Officer as a 0.3 full-time equivalent 

 

• Securing close partnership working and high-level information sharing to 
support reducing youth violence and exploitation 

⚫ Increased police resourcing into the Offender Management and the local 
Youth Violence Reduction Team to support the preventative agenda 

⚫ Supporting the delivery of a point of arrest diversion offers for children 
⚫ Overseeing and ensuring appropriate Police resourcing into the Service, 

including the service level agreement, secondment arrangements and 
operational processes. 

⚫ The current seconded Youth Crime Officer has been in post since 2017. 
While secondment is not time limited, the arrangements will be jointly 
reviewed against the Youth Justice Board Guidance (last completed in 
2018) as needed (e.g., where performance issues arise). A  

 
Coventry and Warwickshire Integrated Care Board (ICB) is 
represented on the CYJS Management Board by the Head of Transformation 
(Children and Young People). The Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust is 
represented by the Associate Director of Operations, Mental Health Services 
for Children & Young People.   CYJS continues to benefit from currently 
hosting two health staff (2 full time equivalents). Clinical supervision is 
offered via CAMHS. These relationships have proven effective in: 

 
⚫ Supporting the embedding of Trauma Informed Practice both in terms of 

facilitating formulation meetings, and consultation with CAMHS to inform 
the development of this area of practice 

⚫ Development of a broader health approach 
⚫ Development of the Health economy training pool 

⚫ Overseeing and ensuring appropriate Health resourcing into the Service, 
the secondment arrangements and working arrangements. 

 
The ICB and YJS are currently in the process of recruiting a seconded 
Speech and Language Therapist; this is being progressed as part of the 
Trauma Informed Recovery Support (TIRS) Framework - see Section 7.  
 
Education is represented on the Management Board by the local Head of 
Service – Education Improvement and Standards – and by the Operations 
Manager (Young People & Families Coventry and Warwickshire) for 
Prospects. CYJS have an employed Education Lead role, who is a qualified 
teacher, and a Senior Careers Adviser within Prospects (not seconded).  

 
 

P
age 39



16 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

 
 
 
 
 

These relationships have proven effective in: 
 
⚫ Ensuring that pathways for ETE are explore and monitored for all 

children in the young justice system 
⚫ Securing appropriate resources and services to meet the needs of 

children and young people 
⚫ Having strategic oversight of the key barriers to ETE engagement 

and appropriate senior buy-in to address/tackle these 
⚫ Overseeing the education arrangements protocol and relevant 

service level agreements.  
 

Other partnership arrangements: 
 
Community Safety are within the Local Authority, with a particular 
operational focus on exploring preventative and civil powers, for 
example, Public Space Protection Orders.  
 
Courts provide regular feedback, which continues to be very 
positive. CYJS and the Deputy and Chair of the Youth Panel, have a 
close working relationship outlined in the Service Level Agreement.  
 
Early Help provide a targeted Youth Worker offer across the city, 
which is being piloted for all children given a first Police Only 
Community Resolution; this is following learning for children entering 
custody as first-time entrants. The 8 Family Hubs continue to be used 
as additional deliver sites for CYJS. 
 
Citizen Housing has a well-established working relationship with 
CYJS, with particular cross over around the use of acceptable 
behaviour contracts and other joint planning/management. 
 
Positive Choices provides substance misuse support for children 
(along with other offers); CYJS benefits from co-location of a lead 
worker and clear working arrangements through the updated service 
level agreement and revised commissioning arrangements. 
 

 
 

 
Other Providers/local organisations:  

 
St Giles (National Charity) offer children mentors with lived/relevant 
experience and have a particular focus on resettlement support. They have a City 
Center hub and have worked closely with CYJS (over the last few years), 
particularly with increasing concerns around youth violence and exploitation. 
 
Positive Youth Foundation (Local Charity) based in the Hillfields area, 
deliver several sports based mentoring offers: with a particular focus, through 
the Levelling the Playing Field Project10, on supporting children from Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic Backgrounds. 
 
First Class Legacy (Regional Charity) are currently exploring 
disproportionality and racial inequality across the team and running a regional 
peer parenting project11 explored in detail in Sections 7 and 9. 
 
Guiding Young Minds (Local Charity) with a mobile youth club bus in the 
city they offer mentoring, with a particular focus on supporting children where 
CYJS has not successfully engaged the child/family.   
 
Coventry Boys and Girls Club (Local Charity) offer sports and/or music-
based mentoring through a newly equipped youth club based by Coventry 
University.  
 
Aptitude CIC offer sports and/or music-based mentoring delivered through a 
youth club in the Radford area of the city. 
 

This is not an exhaustive list but evidences the progressive partnership working 
with field 'experts' to improve the offer to Coventry's children, ensure there are 
localized offers considering the articulated worries by children on postcode/areas 
issues (see Section 4), and increase the diversity offer to children. 

 
 

 

 
10 https://levellingtheplayingfield.org/  
11 https://youthjusticeboard.newsweaver.co.uk/yots2/1arsemjrcju1df4hdy7b24?lang=en&a=1&p=57921336&t=21098815   

P
age 40

https://levellingtheplayingfield.org/
https://youthjusticeboard.newsweaver.co.uk/yots2/1arsemjrcju1df4hdy7b24?lang=en&a=1&p=57921336&t=21098815


17 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

 

Workforce Overview 
  

Workforce Demographics 
As of the 1st April 2022, the YJS workforce has total 19 permanent staff, down from 23 reflecting current 
vacancies; a full breakdown is provided in the appendices (see appendix 3). The YJS has had a higher 
turnover rate than last year (28%), higher than the City Council rate of 13.5%; the small size of the 
Service does impact on changes year by year. The difference reflects 2 staff retiring, 1 staff member  
changing careers (all over 20 years with the Service), and 3 staff who joined the year previous re-evaluating their choice to work in Youth Justice and 
moving to different areas of work; learning has been taken from the latter around ensuring the induction is as integrated into the team and robust in 
nature, though it is a significant factor that all three started during the Covid 19 pandemic (not a trend isolated to the Service12). Sickness levels, 
while impacted by Covid 19, remained similar to last year (8.99) at 8.27 days lost per full time equivalent, lower than the City Council average at 
13.25 days.   
 
The staffing cohort is very diverse in experience with 58% having 6+ years’ experience in the Service and 47% 11 years or more.  The current 
workforce demographic profile is not fully reflective of the community; the YJS has 79% female staff, a 1% difference from last year and 26% (5) 
have a self-reported ethnicity of Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic; the same figure as last year. There is a commitment to ensure that the nature and 
diversity of the workforce responds to local needs, as discussed in Section 7.  
 

Workforce Learning and Development  
Over the last two years, CYJS has introduced Senior Practitioner roles within the Service (see appendix 2). This post provides improved 
connectedness between strategic priorities and operational delivery with the role acting as bridge between direct delivery/management; examples 
are detailed in Section 7. While new starters have brought huge experience (Social Work, Multisystemic therapy, and the charity sector), inductions 
into the Service and knowledge upskilling have incurred significant team/manager investment. This will continue over the next 12 months as roles 
are recruited to and to achieve a stable workforce.  
 
CYJS has a Training Planner following the Service completing the YJB's Youth Justice Skills Audit for Youth Justice Practitioners13 in early 2021. 
This comprehensive exercise was completed by Coventry YJS practitioners and supported the development of a service specific workforce 
development strategy (2021-23), alongside the wider Children’s Services strategy. The priorities identified and actions from this have fed into the 
progression under the priority of ‘Workforce Development’, detailed in Section 7. The workforce strategy articulates the pathways for development 
within the Service. CYJS currently has two YJS Officers who have successfully completed the Social Work Degree Apprenticeship, two students on 
placements (Social Work and CAMHS), a Team Manager completed a Level 5 Management and Leadership Apprenticeship, and the Operational 
Lead has led a Peer Review for another YJS. CYJS has recruited 1 YJS Officer and 1 YJS Support Officer over the last year, with all practitioners 
completing/completed the Youth Justice Effective Practice Certificate; the qualification is endorsed by the Youth Justice Board and brings together 
the most up-to-date thinking, knowledge, research, and evidence about what works in this field.  

 
12 An international trend named ‘The Great Resignation’  
13 https://yjresourcehub.uk/workforce-development/item/619-youth-justice-skills-matrix.html  

P
age 41

https://yjresourcehub.uk/workforce-development/item/619-youth-justice-skills-matrix.html


18 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Resources and Services 

 
 

Resources and Services 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Budgets 2022/23 
CYJS funding consists of the City Council budget, YJB Grant and 
statutory partner contributions. In addition, funding is received from 
the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) that is 
additionally used to support diversion/mentoring offers, and all of 
which sits in CYJS pooled budget (see appendix 3).  
 
This budget enables the continued running of Youth Justice services 
and as will be outlined, continued improvement as per the CYJS 
vision, priorities, and Plan (Section 13). 

The Community Safety Fund was confirmed on 30th May 2022 by the 
West Midlands Police Crime Commission (PCC). The payments for 
services in-kind relate to staffing costs for employees working with 
the Youth Offending Service and have all been confirmed: Probation, 
Police, and Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership Trust. Each 
agency additionally makes a cash contribution to cover expenses of 
the role for CYJS; the Police contribution is covered by the PCC grant. 

 
The YJB grant has not yet been confirmed, while the YJB and Ministry 
of Justice review allocations and the funding formulas for Youth 
Justice Services; however, the YJB have given written assurances that 
the core grant allocation will at least be matched from last year and 
the plan is written on the basis of the same contribution.  
 
There has been a slight uplift from last year for the Local Authority 
contribution reflecting the 2% Pay Award. Last year CYJS received an 
additional top up grant (and a later small top-up) that funded an 
interim Quality Assurance Lead in 2021, trauma informed practice 
 

 training, one off projects (for example, Round Midnight – see Section 
10) an animated video about the Service, and an external review by 
Lee Westlake (see Section 7). Section 13 outlines how the pooled 
budget will be used to continue to realise the agreed priorities and 
local vision, as well as the Services outlined in the introduction; this 
will in turn meet the objectives outlined within the YJBs Strategic Plan, 
West Midlands PCC Plan, and the local One Coventry Plan. 

 
Workflow Demands 
There has been a continued downward trajectory regarding the 
number of children in the youth justice system. CYJS has seen a 
further reduction since last year’s average of 73 (2020/21) to an 
average of 52 (2021/22). The trend reflects a national one, detailed 
within the latest Youth Justice Statistics 2020/2114 and the impact of 
the Covid 19 pandemic. However, with the Covid 19 pandemic easing 
an increase was expected, though not seen (see Section 7 for 
performance breakdown).  
 
Invest to save – The reduction in children in the YJS has given 
opportunity to support children who have been arrested, but where no 
further action is being taken; this is explored in detail in Section 7. The 
project has involved new processes and infrastructure. Referrals are 
direct from West Midlands Police and as the process of embedding 
referrals improves, this pathway will see a return to caseloads similar 
to 2020/21 over the coming months. CYJS will progressively recruit to 
the current vacancies in line with the increasing demand and in the 
 

 
14 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1054236/Youth_Justice_Statistics_2020-

21.pdf  

P
age 42

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1054236/Youth_Justice_Statistics_2020-21.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1054236/Youth_Justice_Statistics_2020-21.pdf


19 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Resources and Services 

 

 
 
 
meantime utilises the opportunity to invest in creative programmes to 
support an Arts Mark Award application in recognition that this will 
support children to develop strengths and support desistance; see 
Section 13.  
 
The overall reduction over the last few years has enabled an increased 
intensity of support, needed to effectively respond to and address 
children’s experiences of childhood trauma, serious youth violence and 
exploitation (see Section 8); this includes ‘taking the Service to children’, 
detailed in the Annual HMIP Report 202115, essentially increasing 
staffing/partnership time per child.  
 
Ensuring good value for money: 
The following mechanisms demonstrate the approaches to ensure that 
funding is used appropriately, and successful outcomes achieved.   
 
Quality Assurance  
The updated Quality Assurance Activity Schedule (appendix 4) outlines 
CYJS’s 2022-23 plan for quality assurance activity with broader actions 
tracked/progressed through the improvement/business plan. Section 9 
covers the responses to the National Standards self-assessment, 
the localizing of these standards, and the following mechanisms 
used to ensure the embedment of these, namely: CYJS has held, 
and will continue, monthly developmental practice workshops, monthly 
practice reviews, and quarterly team half days. These spaces also 
provide opportunity for Board Member engagement and team building. 
The monthly practice reviews provide opportunity to review children 
where CYJS has not been successfully in achieving engagement, explore 
this through a trauma informed lens, and agree a plan for resolution; 
this is chaired by the CYJS Operational Lead or Team Manager and 
includes, Health, Police, Team Manager and YJS Officers. 
 
Key performance indicators:  
The Management Board specifically monitor national indicators: 
▪ Reduce the number of children in the youth justice system 

 
15 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/03/FINAL-HMIP-

Youth-Annual-Report-2021.pdf - p.18 

▪ reduce the use of custody 
▪ reduce reoffending by children in the youth justice system  
 

Alongside, local agreed performance indicators: 
 

▪ Reduce incidents of serious youth violence in the city and reduce the 
number of children presenting at A&E for such injuries. 

▪ Reduce the re-arrest/live reoffending rate for children exiting the 
youth justice system. 

▪ Reduce risk judgements for children in the youth justice system. 
▪ Reduce racial disparity for children in the youth justice system  
▪ Improve ETE engagement and attainment for children in the youth 

justice system. 
▪ Improve access to mental healthcare provision for children in the 

Youth Justice System; % in need compared to % accessing.  
▪ Improve feedback from children/family/parents and victims of crime 
▪ Improve Management Board Attendance at a Senior Level. 

 

Monitoring these ensures good value by evidencing positive outcomes 
for children, young people, and victims of crime and/or the mechanisms 
to achieve this. The Ministry of Justice are currently reviewing national 
indicators and any changes will be incorporated to the above measures. 
 

Methodology for the plan 
The Plan has been formed through the following steps: 1. Management 
Board review and planning section. 2.Child/Parent consultation on their 
experience and improvement areas. 3.Team Consultation on how we 
achieve desistance for children. 4.Data analysis review of the Service 
and children in the youth justice system. 5. Assessment analysis of for 
and against desistance needs for children/adults. 6. Assessment 
analysis of risk assessment factors for all children/adults. 7. Evidence 
base best practice review of other YJSs. 8. Wider strategic partnership 
review and parity to existing strategic plans. 9. Sharing with partners 
for feedback and amendments. 
 P

age 43

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/03/FINAL-HMIP-Youth-Annual-Report-2021.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2022/03/FINAL-HMIP-Youth-Annual-Report-2021.pdf


20 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Progress on the Plan 

 

Progress on the previous Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The 2021-23 Plan outlined the 10 priorities, as detailed within Section 1. 
The improvement and business plan outlined actions per each priority and 
updates will be provided identifying key achievement, what is outstanding 
(why and what will be done), and the outcome measure for the priority.  

 
1.Child Engagement and Desistance  
There have been significant developments in this area, as detailed within 
Section 4. Additional to these aspects, the Service has re-named from 
Coventry Youth Offending Service to Coventry Youth Justice Service in 
recognition of the criminogenic impact of ‘offending’ labels16; this was 
following a consultation with children, families, and the team. The new logo 
was co-designed with a child open to the Service at the time: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alongside, this we have: 
• had several children designing an animated video as an overview of what 

the Service aims to do, but through the lens of a child.  
• completed a leaflet re-design with the Participation Team to ensure that 

these are more child/family friendly. 
• we have continued to review standards in light of teh Covid 19 pandemic 

to ensure continued service delivery and this will remain an ongoing 

 
16 https://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/44396/1/Hazel%202017b%20Now%20all%20I%20care%20about%20Summary.pdf  

https://www.law.ed.ac.uk/research/impact-and-engagement/edinburgh-study-of-youth-transitions-and-crime 

process: this has seen the retention of some elements of practice – for 
example, taking the Service to children to support engagement through 
home visits and utilising local community/family hubs. Section 4 details 
feedback from children, the outcome measure for this priority.  
  

2.Restorative Justice  
CYJS continues to have lead restorative justice practitioners and will 
contact all victims where consent has been given. The feedback from 
children in Section 4, iterates the importance of restorative justice and 
Section 8 details delivery over the last year. CYJS has continued to meet 
the Restorative Justice (RJ) Council Marker, supported other Youth 
Justice Teams in their applications/shared best practice and completed a 
review of services for children who are victims of crime to ensure that 
access to targeted mental health support is available if needed.  
 

3.Joint Strategic City Planning 

A statutory management group has been established that enables 
greater partnership operational oversight and ownership of the plan. 
Management Board Members have continued to join Team Half Days to 
encourage team integration. The local indicators have been reviewed 
and updated as per Section 6, to ensure that the measures are fit for 
purpose; this includes the introduction of Board attendance and Section 
representation. Section 11 details developmental activity with 
Management Board over the last year, which includes Board Members 
being identified as sponsors for each priority to facilitate a strategic 
approach of high support, high challenge. The operational Youth 
Violence Prevention Partnership Board have continued to lead on the 10 
Year Violence Prevention Strategy while the review of the upcoming 
Serious Violence Duty is undertaken, as detailed in Section 5. 

  

P
age 44

https://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/44396/1/Hazel%202017b%20Now%20all%20I%20care%20about%20Summary.pdf
https://www.law.ed.ac.uk/research/impact-and-engagement/edinburgh-study-of-youth-transitions-and-crime


21 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Progress on the Plan 

 

 
 

 
4.Trauma Informed Practice 
Coventry and Warwickshire ICB have been successful in securing a 
regional funding pot, named TIRS (Trauma Informed Recovery 
Support) Framework. The funding is the NHS’s response to the Long-
Term Plan commitment of investing in additional services for children 
and young people with complex needs. The aim of the TIRS framework 
is to provide child led, strengths based, trauma informed intervention 
to children who have experienced trauma and adversity but are not 
currently in receipt of such intervention. The TIRS framework cannot 
be a panacea for all childhood trauma, and therefore will focus on 
supporting the following cohorts of children and young people: 
 

• Edge of Care (local team) 
• Open to, or at risk of entering, the Youth Justice System 
• Out of education or at risk of exclusion (based on local learning) 
• Transitioning from the secure estate back into the community 

 

This will see much support in the YJS, but most significantly upstream 
support for children at risk of entering the YJS. The Child Exploitation 
and Assessment of Extra Familial Risk Commissioning Strategy has 
been delayed to sequence with the TIRS framework, as an in depth 
needs assessment is currently underway that will inform the strategy.   
 

Within CYJS, a review of interventions and training has taken place 
with an external consultant, Steve Bore Specialist Services17. This has 
seen interventions become more trauma informed and reflect on where 
this was not previously; for example, the Service 4-5years ago would 
have utilized knife crime injuries as part of a programme that would 
now be viewed as potentially re-traumatizing and likely to increase a 
child’s anxiety around community violence. It has also supported in re-
framing with families and other professionals around re-framing:  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
17 https://steveborespecialist.com/  

 
This training and review have supported the team in the formulations for  
why children are engaged in offending behaviour, using the 5Ps model 
(predisposing, presenting, precipitating, perpetuating, protective) model 
resulting in more individualized and successful interventions.  
 
There is a commitment in the 10 Year Violence Prevention Strategy to 
the child’s system being more trauma informed that has seen the 
Violence Reduction Partnership deliver training across primary and 
secondary schools supporting in moving responses to children from a 
behavior/medical model response to a more trauma informed one: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Moving forward, the key performance indicator for this area will be: 
‘improve access to mental healthcare provision for children in the Youth 
Justice System; % in need compared to % accessing’. This will support in 
outcome measuring and build on the quarterly Management Board 
updates the seconded CAMHS team provide to Management Board.  
 
A review, albeit later than initially planned due to staffing capacity, has 
seen a revision to the specialist CYJS CAMHS pathway with the 
introduction of a local intensive multi-agency case consultation (IMACC); 
this model utilized the principles of Enhanced Case Management (ECM), 
trauma informed practices, systemic principles, and trauma recovery 
model18, but provides greater flexibility to meet the needs of children than  
 

 
18 The primary model that will underpin IMACC is the Trauma Recovery Model (TRM) (Skuse and 
Matthew, 2015). 

P
age 45

https://steveborespecialist.com/


22 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Progress on the Plan 

 

 
 

 
the national ECM model that requires specific resources to maintain 
efficacy to the model (e.g., clinical psychologist input). The new 
model will see all children open to the Service being screened and a 
higher number of children being able to engage in the IMACC process 
verses the ECM model. 

 

5.Tackling Exploitation and Serious Youth Violence 
The last year has seen the operationalization of a local Serious 
Organised Crime Exchange (SOCEX) that has seen additional policing 
resources and improving information sharing processes to support in 
tackling exploitation; plans to co-locate with CYJS/Horizon, has been 
impacted by the Covid 19 pandemic. Additionally, the Youth Crime 
Officer attends a daily triage meeting where any instances or issues 
involving children can be discussed/action planned. These feed into a 
weekly triage meeting which reviews responses for children arrested 
over the week/where concerns around exploitation; this will lead to 
action planning for these children and likely navigating into the most 
appropriate multi-agency forum19 as detailed in Section 5. The point 
of arrest intervention offer has continued from last year (funded by 
the Violence Reduction Partnership) and expanded over the last year: 
St Giles, Positive Choices, Positive Choices and offers through the 
Coventry Youth Partnership. Positive Choices are now delivering a 
mentoring offer for children identified as low risk of exploitation 
(considered through the weekly triage meeting) that complements 
existing support/pathways for children who need statutory 
arrangements/ existing commissioned offers. 
  
Arrangements across the region have also been strengthened with 
particularly focus on Warwickshire; see Section 8 that details 
concerns around county lines from Coventry into Warwickshire. This 
has been achieved by action planning to tackle county 
lines/exploitation through the Serious and Organised Crime Joint 
Action Group (SOCJAG)20. 
 

A Child Criminal Exploitation Profile has been completed and is  

 
19 This process does not replace a referral into the Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) but is addition to 
this to ensure appropriate steps have been taken.  
20 https://www.warwickshire-pcc.gov.uk/working-together/tackling-organised-crime/  

being used to inform the Safeguarding Partnership’s updated plan for 
tackling Exploitation as one of the three key priorities.   
 
The partnerships (led by West Midlands Police) have been successful in a 
funding bid to the Youth Endowment Fund to replicate a successful 
model from Northamptonshire, named: the Community Initiative to 
Reduce Violence (CIRV)21; this will be adapted to meet local needs and 
fit with the existing infrastructure. While this is in the very early stages, 
it will see an extension of the current ‘reachable/teachable’ moments 
and expansion of the current triage arrangements, meaning more 
children/families are offered support at an early point and reducing the 
number of children entering the YJS or being exploited.  
 
The expansion of the Horizon Team has been impacted by the 
challenges of Social Worker recruitment and a model to recruiting 
adolescent workers, action planning through MACE (Multi-Agency Child 
Exploitation) meetings, has been implemented.  
 
Section 8 details an up-to-date picture on trends for exploitation and 
serious youth violence. This evidences a positive reduction in serious 
incidents/violence, evidencing the impact of measures to tackle 
established groups like C2/RB7 through Gang Injunctions and Public 
Space Protection Orders, but a concerning picture around increasing 
weapon possession, violence within schools, and how children from on-
white British backgrounds are more likely to be criminally exploited and 
enter the youth justice system for more serious offences.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
21 https://www.cirv-nsd.org.uk/  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The CIRV bid involved several 
community events facilitated by 
Redeeming Our Communities (ROC) 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=
Cz80cpxSe7c  

P
age 46

https://www.warwickshire-pcc.gov.uk/working-together/tackling-organised-crime/
https://www.cirv-nsd.org.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Cz80cpxSe7c
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Cz80cpxSe7c


23 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Progress on the Plan 

 

 
 

 
The learning review by the safeguarding Partnership, detailed in last        
year’s plan, has now taken place and recommendations will be  
considered within Section 13.  

 
6. Promoting Prevention and Diversion  
A Diversion pathway has been established for the Service for children 
who have been suspects in offences, but where the Police are taking 
no further action (NFA); this enables an earlier offer to these children, 
albeit on a voluntary basis and where consent has been given. This is 
in direct response to the learning from custody reviews around children 
having multiple NFAs before entering the youth justice system for a 
serious offence and going straight to custody. Section 8 details how 
this project will also support in addressing racial disparity in the YJS. 
The diversion pathway has been developed through redistributing 
resources, due to the declining number of children in the YJS and 
particularly those seen through Court.  
 
Arrangements for mentoring have been strengthened, through a bi-
monthly partnership meeting that ensures children in the YJS have 
access to community mentoring offers. This supports in increasing the 
diversity of the offer to children, enabling matching, and builds on the 
evidence base that one trusted adult can make the difference.22 
Additionally, over the last 12 months we have piloted a youth worker 
offer of support, delivered through the Family Hubs, to children given 
first Police only community resolution for a lower-level offence. All the 
children who have engaged have not reoffended and the intervention 
is in direct response to local learning reviews.  
 
The local out of court scrutiny panel has been reinstated this year. This 
sees a sample of children reviewed on a quarterly basis by the 
Offender Management Police Inspector, Children’s Champion, Panel 
Volunteer and Operational Lead for CYJS. This has strengthened 
quality assurance of decisions and enables direct feedback by the 
Operational Lead into the quarterly Management Board; further details 
are provided in Section 9.   

 

 
22 https://www.nya.org.uk/resource/hidden-in-plain-sight-gangs-and-exploitation/  

7. Education, Training and Employment (ETE) 
The TIRS Framework will see a Speech and Language Therapist (SALT) 
join the Service on a secondment arrangement; this is in response to the 
SEND Inspection 201923. Section 8 evidences the over-representation of 
speech, language, and communication/neurodiverse needs within CYJS; a 
SALT will improve capacity to assess the Service, but most significantly 
ensuring there is a specialized offer for children in the YJS, recognising 
that children would enter the YJS with their learning needs unmet.  
 
A review of the local Fair Access Panel24 has been undertaken over the 
last year that has led to changes to improve integration with Early Help 
and ensure that a whole family approach is taken. 
 
CYJS has seen AQA accreditation for interventions completed by children 
seeing nearly 100 units achieved by children; this supports children to be 
work ready, improve their CV, and celebrate their academic progression. 
Monthly education meetings continue to take place across the 
partnership, now led by CYJS, reviewing children in and at risk of entering 
the YJS to ensure appropriate education, training and employment 
opportunities are available/supported to engage with.  
 
The Timpson Review (2019)25, and local custody reviews, have 
highlighted the high proportion of children permanently excluded from 
school within the secure estate. A sports based mentoring offer is now 
available for children at risk of permanent exclusion/have been excluded 
/low school attendance named Chances26. This is a payment by results 
commissioning arrangement based on an evidence-based model, and 
locally delivered by Positive Youth Foundation.   

 
CYJS will continue to track the educational attainment of children in the 
YJS, where good practice examples are identified these will be considered 
for local learning; Section 8 details the outcomes for education and the 
desistance analysis continues to identify that ETE as the most significant 
factor in supporting desistance. 
 
 

 
23 https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80456  
24 https://www.coventry.gov.uk/directory-record/57777/fair-access-protocol  
25 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/edward-timpson-publishes-landmark-exclusions-review  
26 https://positiveyouthfoundation.org/2021/03/18/hundreds-of-young-people-in-coventry-to-benefit-
from-1-25million-sport-and-activity-life-improvement-scheme/  

P
age 47

https://www.nya.org.uk/resource/hidden-in-plain-sight-gangs-and-exploitation/
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80456
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/directory-record/57777/fair-access-protocol
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/edward-timpson-publishes-landmark-exclusions-review
https://positiveyouthfoundation.org/2021/03/18/hundreds-of-young-people-in-coventry-to-benefit-from-1-25million-sport-and-activity-life-improvement-scheme/
https://positiveyouthfoundation.org/2021/03/18/hundreds-of-young-people-in-coventry-to-benefit-from-1-25million-sport-and-activity-life-improvement-scheme/


24 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Progress on the Plan 

 

 
 
  

8. Workforce Development 
A live performance dashboard has been created enabling improved and 
triangulated tracking of assessment timelines and adherence to local 
processes underpinned by the Youth Justice Board National Standards.  
The Training Planner (see Section 5) has resulted in a sequenced series 
of training events to respond to identified areas of development, for 
example: 
 

- Systemic Training and follow-on group supervision – enabling 
reflection and supporting in hypothesizing for why children have/are 
engaging in offending behavior. 

- Resettlement – building confidence in constitutive resettlement and 
lens of supporting a child’s identity shift.  

- Speech, Communication and Language Needs – support in assessing 
and responding to children’s needs. 

- Assessment for Adolescent who display harmful sexual behaviour 
(HSB) 3 – specific training for assessing and responding to HSB 

- Structured Assessment of Violence Risk in Youth (SAVRY) – support 
around risk formulation for pre-sentence reports.  

 

A pathway for development for the Youth Justice Degree Apprenticeship 
remains outstanding due to the impact of Covid 19 on the Youth Justice 
Board achieving ministerial approval. In the interim a local pathway is 
being developed to ensure progression for staff and support a grow your 
own culture. Other quality assurance processes are outlined in Section 6 
and Section 9. 
 
9. Continued National Standard Learning  
Section 7 details the steps and actions taken over the last year in 
response to the 2020 National Standards Self-Assessment. 

 
10.  Addressing Disproportionality  
CYJS has continued the Service review by ‘First Class Foundation’27 
consultants reviewing the experiences of children and families open to 
CYJS, though engagement has been impacted by Covid 19 and 
concurrent activities. This has led onto team reflective sessions to support 
cultural competency equipping practitioners with the skills and 

 
27 https://firstclassnation.com/  

confidence to have explicit conversations with children about their ethnicity 
and identity/disproportionately; within the recent HMIP Thematic 
Inspection of the experiences of black and mixed heritage boys in the YJS28 
this was identified as an issue (see Section 11 for the emerging response to 
this report). CYJS has continued to support early targeted offers for 
children at risk with a particularly focus on interventions through sports, 
like Levelling the Playing Field locally delivered by Positive Youth 
Foundation and Sky Blues in the Community29. These early support offers 
aim to reduce the racial disparity in the YJS by engagement in such 
activities.  
 

Over 2021/22 we have had over 40 families referred and access support 
from the Kitchen Table Talks Project. The project has created and 
facilitated community based parental peer support building resilience and 
social capital for parents with children known to, or at risk of being a 
perpetrator or victim of serious youth violence; the project is being 
evaluated by Wolverhampton University and aims to reduce racial disparity.  
 

Recognizing the learning in the Punishing Abuse Report and wider research 
through the Young Women’s Justice Project30 that the experience of girls in 
the Youth justice System is different to boys, we have committed to 
ensuring that there is a female specific offer; this works continues and a 
wider ‘girls and gangs’ project explores how girls are exploited through 
county lines and serious youth violence. The Service has co-led on a 
regional approach to set a mission statement and commitment to ensure 
robust, early and partnership responses to support pathways and reduce 
likelihood of coming into the YJS. This has seen consideration to bespoke 
lived experience offers, like SWAG. This work will continue over the next 
year and will remain a key focus of this priority, particularly around 
responding to girls’ roles within criminal exploitation that, as outlined in the 
national research, largely hidden31.  

 
 
 

 
 

 
28 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/  
29 https://www.levellingtheplayingfield.org/component/content/article/95-levelling-case-studies/140-sky-
blues-community-coventry-levelling-playing-field?Itemid=437  
30 https://www.ayj.org.uk/young-womens-justice-project  
31 https://www.nya.org.uk/resource/hidden-in-plain-sight-gangs-and-exploitation/  

P
age 48

https://firstclassnation.com/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/
https://www.levellingtheplayingfield.org/component/content/article/95-levelling-case-studies/140-sky-blues-community-coventry-levelling-playing-field?Itemid=437
https://www.levellingtheplayingfield.org/component/content/article/95-levelling-case-studies/140-sky-blues-community-coventry-levelling-playing-field?Itemid=437
https://www.ayj.org.uk/young-womens-justice-project
https://www.nya.org.uk/resource/hidden-in-plain-sight-gangs-and-exploitation/


25 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

 
 

Performance and Priorities 
 

 

 
 

The last year has continued to be challenging in responding to and 
ensuring quality service delivery with the ongoing impact of the Covid 19 
pandemic and concurrent declining number of children entering the YJS. 
Section 6 outlines the national and updated local performance indicators; 
an updated picture for 2021-22 against these indicators is presented 
below except where this information is presented under other areas (for 
example, feedback from children in Section 4).  

Reducing first time entrants (FTE) to the youth justice system 

While the FTE rate has remained almost flat between 2019-2021, at 
around 230 per 100,000, in 2021/22 this has nearly halved to a rate of 
112. The latest available YOT family FTE indicator for period Jan 21-Dec 
21 indicates a rate of 197, but overall reflective of fewer children in the 
youth justice system, a regional and national trend.  

In Coventry, CYJS continued to offer an Enhanced Community Resolution 
funded by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), which 
accounted for 42% of interventions over a doubling to the year previous; 
We started 93 disposal-based interventions in 2021/22. 55 of these (59%) 
were for out-of-court disposals; this does not include offers of intervention 
where children are supported where the Police are taking no further 
action. Overall, there has been a shift from Court disposals making up 
60% of interventions in 2020/21 compared to just over 40% in 2021/22.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

First-time entrants - Coventry 2018-20222 - rate per 100,000 for children aged 10-17 

Child Proven Offences Profile  

In 2021/22, CYJS was aware of 118 offences which resulted with a 
substantive disposal (i.e., one that forms part of a person’s criminal 
record) and 136 non-substantive. The most common categories that 
resulted in non-substantive outcomes were: Violence Against the Person 
(46%), Criminal Damage (16%) and Drugs (11%); and, by a 
substantive outcome were Violence Against the Person (32%), Robbery 
(14%) and Domestic Burglary (13%).  

Comparing to previous years (2017/18-2021/22), all proven offence 
groups have reduced largely in line with reductions overall with notable 
exception of motoring offences that has reduced by 90% and 
knife/weapon offences that have increased from 25 to 32 overall proven 
offences. 

 

Youth Violence Profile 

A Police profile has been provided to enable comparison to proven 
offences trends, specifically looking at Youth Violence given this is a key 
priority. Looking at under 24s, the group accounts for 29% (30% last 
year) of all violence against the person offences. Within this, consistent 
offences were Assault Occasioning Actual Bodily Harm (56% (increase 
from 32%), followed by wounding with (11%)/without intent (10%)). 
Victims were mostly likely to be aged between 20-24 followed by 15-19. 
Last year has seen fewer more serious injuries than previous years, 
evidenced by a reduction in the number reported as ‘attempted murder’. 
While violence remains the main offence type for children, peer to peer 
violence in schools is reported to have increased but this is often not 
reflected in proven offences due to peer witnesses and victims being 
very reluctant to make formal complaints. There has been significant 
evidence of this in relation to the violence between organised crime 
groups and urban street gangs.  

 

P
age 49



26 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

 
 

 

 

Disposal Profile 
Overall, there were 196 disposals this year; by far the most 
used was the non-substantive Community Resolution (CR), 
used on 90 occasions.  We started 93 disposal-based 
interventions in 2021/22; 55 of these (59%) were for out-of-
court disposals, including 39 (42%) Enhanced Community 
Resolutions (ECR). There was a significant increase of ECRs 
and CRs compared to last year reflecting the impact of the 
Covid 19 pandemic with 2017/18 seeing 205 and 2018/19 
seeing 141; additionally, over the last year there has been a 
specific Policing resource to support OOCDs that may also be 
a factor. ECRs will be considered for more serious offences 
and any second offences will be referred to YJS for 
consideration through the local OOCD Joint Decision Panel. 
Section 7 details the offer away from YJS for children given a 
first Police only CR.  
 
For court disposals, we saw a reduction in all areas reflecting 
the commitment to divert children (detailed in Section 7), the 
impact of more peer-to-peer offending (see Youth Violence 
Profile) and improvements required by West Midlands Police in 
‘investigating crime’ identified in their latest inspection 
(HMICFRS, 2021)32.  
            
              Disposals – Coventry 2020-22 

 

Reducing offending and reoffending by children 

The latest national data indicates a reoffending percentage of 36.8% (Jul 19 – Jun 20), the lowest rate in four years, though the family group average is 
33.8%. The number of reoffences was less for Coventry at 2.64 on average, versus 3.58 for the Family Group; showing for children or young people who do 
reoffend they commit fewer offences. We have tracked the reoffending of 48 young people whose original penalty was imposed between October 2020 and 
March 2021; in all cases, the 12-month monitoring period for reoffending has now expired. Only three of these young people reoffended within 12 months 
with a total of 8 further offences, giving a reoffending binary rate of just 6.3% and frequency rate of 0.17; there were no clear patterns with the sample of 
only 3. The use of breach action for children (only counts as reoffending where re-sentenced) reduced significantly with only two children and 1 adult having 
breach action taken for Court Orders; this has reduced from the 18 in 2020-21.This trend reflect that the service is working with a reduced number of children, 
the dynamic/creative means of engagement being more successful in engaging children in the last year, and processes to ensure alternative routes to further 
criminalization are explored in the first instance. 

 
32 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/peel-assessments/peel-assessments-2021-22/west-midlands/  

P
age 50

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/peel-assessments/peel-assessments-2021-22/west-midlands/


27 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

 

 
 
 
Demographics  
Across 2021/22, the average number of children open for interventions was 52, compared to the 70 at the end of year snapshot for 2020/21. At the end of the 
2021/22, 80% were male a decrease on last year of 6% and 59 % were aged 16 or over (compared to 77% in 2021).  
 

66.7% of children/young people had current or previous Children's Service's involvement at least at a Child Protection Level, an increase on the 55.7% % for 
the 2020/21 snapshot. The breakdown of this was as follows: 16.7% currently of a Looked After Child, 19.4% formerly a Looked After Child, 11.1% had a 
current Child Protection Plan and 44.4% formerly having a Plan. The number of former or current Looked After Children reduced by from 41% last year to 36% 
this year; however, there was a significant increase in the number of children previously or currently subject to a Child Protection Plan (an increase of 40%). 
This change will be somewhat reflected by having a smaller cohort and thus smaller changes resulting in starker percentile differences; however, this evidences 
why there is a commitment to trauma informed practice, iterates the findings within the Punishing Abuse Report (see Section 12) and is important context for 
the local criminal exploitation picture explored below.  
 

There is an over-representation of Black, Mixed Heritage and White British children in the 
YJS cohort, and a large under-representation of Asian young people (see appendices). The 
ethnic makeup of the group was 48% White British, 8% White Ethnic Minority, 18% Black, 
10% Asian, and 15% Mixed Heritage. As of January 2022, Coventry schools had a population 
makeup of 44% White British, 9% White Ethnic Minority, 13% Black, 22% Asian, 6% Mixed 
Heritage, 3% Chinese / Other, and 1.0% Refused. Violence Against the Person is the most 
prevalent category among all ethnic groups with exception for Other White, though this is 
not statistically significant. Children who reside in deprived areas in Coventry are more likely 
to be open to CYJS and more likely to be from the CV2 an CV6 areas of the city. 

 
Child Exploitation  
There remains a juxtaposition between the decreasing number of children in the youth justice system and continued concerns around serious youth violence; 
this is not an isolated local trend33. There is local exploitation team to support children named the Horizon Team. Since April 2020, the team have overseen, and 
supported children, identified to be at medium/high risk of all forms of exploitation (including criminal); this resulted in a 52% increase in the number of 
children supported by the team comparing 2018/9 to 2020/21. Looking at the last 6 months, every month the numbers of children connected to criminal 
exploitation outpace the numbers of children connected to other forms of exploitation. This trend is unsurprisingly reflected in the National Referral Mechanisms 
submitted for children (Aug 20-Aug 21)34 that saw over 50% of referrals for criminal exploitation and 70% of all referrals being made by the Local Authority.  
 

Demographic trends for the Horizon team largely mirror YJS: 84% Male to 64% female and areas in which children are residing (CV2 and CV6), though the age 
group is slightly younger (approx. 1 year); this potentially shows a trajectory of younger children being exploited and then a small number entering the youth 
justice system. Having completed the disproportionality analysis below, this data suggested that where exploitation is a significant concern children enter the 
YJS for predominantly serious violent offences, evidencing the correlation between exploitation, serious youth violence and racial over-representation. 
Reviewing missing reports for children across Aug 2020-21, the key exploitation concern related to: child sexual abuse, an age range of 13-18, and 28.4% were 
children in care; this somewhat differs to the findings above for criminal exploitation; this may reflect the ‘hidden in plain sight’ nature of criminal exploitation35. 

 
33 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar-2021/ and https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1054236/Youth_Justice_Statistics_2020-21.pdf  
34 Coventry Child Criminal Exploitation Profile – October 2021 
35 Hidden in Plain Sight - National Youth Agency 2020 

P
age 51

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar-2021/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1054236/Youth_Justice_Statistics_2020-21.pdf


28 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

 

 
 
 

          Disproportionality 
In April 2022 Coventry Youth Justice Service (CYJS) undertook a data 
comparison exercise to understand whether there was any identifiable 
disproportionality around ethnicity type and main justice disposal 
outcome. The data focused on the CYJS caseload from 2021-22, 
excluding only children who were made subject to a non-substantive 
(Police only) diversionary outcome during that time; use of breach was 
very low at 3 children and thus too low for statistical significance. 
 
The exercise compared White British children versus the wider cohort 
and identified that the non-white British children were twice as likely to 
be charged to Court but had an offence frequency of 2.37 verses 1.8. To 
understand this further, we undertook deeper dive into the details of 
this and circumstances around charging decisions. This identified that 
charging decisions were appropriate in line with the seriousness of 
offences and that both groups were offered the same number of ECRS; 
though, there was a significant difference in Youth Conditional Cautions 
where 86% of children were White British. It showed that non-white 
British children were more likely to reside in the CV2 postcode and be 
identified to be a victim of exploitation/concerns around serious youth 
violence. The review found children were more likely to have been NFA’d 
for offences before being charged for more serious offences. Moving 
forward, and to impact on this racial disparity, the diversion offer will 
seek to redress this and the current referral breakdown for this is 50/50, 
reflective of local secondary school population data.  
 
Strategic Needs Assessment - Violence Reduction Partnership 

The Strategic Needs Assessment draws upon a varied data set to 
understand the regional picture on serious youth violence and 
highlights: 
 

           Possession of Weapons (Nov 2018 - Oct 21) Violence with Injury   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Young People presenting at A&E for injuries 
 
The assessment (see maps) identified a high concentration of Violence with 
Injury incidents in Hillfields (within the St Michaels ward) and, though this 
may reflect some aspects of the nighttime economy, a consistent pattern 
was seen with Possession of Weapon offences. A slightly different pattern 
was seen for victims and suspects of under 25 violence (see above), which 
was more reflective of hotspots in Wood End (CV2) and Foleshill/Hillfields 
(CV6/CV1). Lastly, reviewing the homes addresses of suspects, perpetrators, 
and victims of County Lines in Coventry (below):  
 

This identified a similar pattern but that while 
offences (violence/weapon possession) 
predominantly take place in the Hillfields, the 
majority of victims and perpetrators reside 
elsewhere in the city. This evidence base has 
led to Hillfields and Wood End receiving 
additional funding through the Police and 
Crime Board, alongside specific resourced 
support via the Violence Prevention 
Partnership in detached youth work36.  

 
Across the West Midlands the most common age to be involved in County 
Lines (Jan 19- Oct 21) was aged 16-17 years old, across all persons 40% 
were Black, a significant overrepresentation, and over 90% were male. For 
Coventry, Warwickshire remains the main area where County Lines are seen. 
 
The demographic picture for hospital admissions is a comparative picture to 
the exploitation and YJS profile regarding home addresses. Admissions for 
‘fist used’ as a weapon’ saw a spike in Sept/Oct believed to be as a result of 
assaults taking place with schools and injuries requiring X-rays through A&E.  

 
36 https://westmidlands-vrp.org/supporting-places/coventry/  

P
age 52

https://westmidlands-vrp.org/supporting-places/coventry/


Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

29 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 
 

       
      This trend likely reflects the trend of the permeation of gang/postcode 

issues that has arisen in Coventry over the last 5-6 years and as discussed 
by children in Section 4. The largest number of referrals for assault are 
within the White ethnic group and 13% of the referrals are in the Black 
ethnic group. Overall, there has been annual decline compared to 2021 
for all areas, but most notably for gunshot injuries (see below). 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reducing the use of custody and remand 
There has been a significant reduction in remand use compared to 
2020/21 (see appendix) and the lowest recorded use overall. All children 
remanded were aged 17, male with the following ethnicities: White British 
(concurrent), Black African (concurrent) and Black Caribbean. Only one of 
the remands was new for 2021/22 and an intensive bail package was 
offered but not given by the Courts; while a community sentence was 
given a refresher on the robustness of intensive bail support packages 
was completed at the Youth Panel Meeting in November 2021. 
 
Custodial episodes for children have reduced but remain higher than the 
Family Group Average; a rate of 0.29 per 1000 children compared with 
0.21 for the Family Group. However, 2021/22 only saw two children as 
new entrants into custody and no new children going to custody since 
May 2021; 3 children had concurrent sentences for offences in 
custody/offences before their index sentence.   
 
Custody Analysis  
CYJS undertakes a learning review for all children who have gone to 
custody. Reviewing instances of 2021/22, for all children there had been 

extensive attempts to support desistance, which had not been successful. 
Peers and identity through gang labelling was a significant factor for all 
children. All had a significant Children’s Services histories, wider family 
members, siblings or parents who had been in custody and this reflected 
an intergenerational transmission of offending behaviour. All children were 
known to the Police Offender Management Team or Police Organised Crime  
Group team: all children were offered third sector support through 
mentoring offers. For all children there were concerns or they were known 
to have been witness to serious youth violence in the community, 3 had 
Conclusive Grounds decisions through the National Referral Mechanism, all 
were, at points, open to the Horizon Team, and all had been/or were 
accessing alternative schooling provision (non-mainstream).  

For the majority, there known lived experiences were similar to those 
outlined in the Punishing Abuse Report but compared to 2020/21 a greater 
reflection of experiences of trauma being related to serious youth violence 
and exploitation. Two children were White British, Two Black African and 1 
child was Mixed ethnicity; see appendices.   

 
Restorative Justice 
CYJS achieved a secondary contact rate of 100% compared to 93% in 
2020/21. The numbers of victims reduced in line with the reduced number 
of offences, though the use of shuttle mediation and face to face increased 
from 2020/21; likely reflective of the recovery from the Covid 19 pandemic. 
Of the children who engaged in face-to-face mediation in 2020/21, none 
have reoffended across 2021/22. Feedback from victims of crime remained 
very strong with an average rating score of 4.9 out of 5 mirroring the last 
three years.  
 
Health Profile  
There were 71 referrals this year, this is a decrease of 7 referrals since the 
last year but a significant percental increase. There were 63 males and 16 
females and 2 non-binary children, reflecting a shift to a greater proportion 
of females. Reviewing referrals by ethnicity, these were in line with the 
overall YJS cohort.  

 
24% of children referred were classified as Looked After Children compared 
to 25% in 2020/21. Last year, 9% of referrals were for children that were 
within a custodial provision that has reduced significantly in line with only 2 
 
 

P
age 53



Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

30 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 
 

 
new children going to custody and both being around 18 at the time of 
sentence. The vast majority of referrals were for children subject to an Out of 
Court Disposal and all of the children accessing the diversion pathway were 
referred. 
 
Approximately half of the referrals were for information and the other half 
for assessment/ consultation and or intervention. More broadly, the ‘Long 
Term Plan Children and Young People complex needs service: Midlands 
Overview (2020)’ document identifies that Coventry has a high assessed 
number of children with mental health disorders aged 5-16 and a  high 
number of adverse childhood experience related indicators compared to the 
national average; this has been compounded through the Covid 19 period 
where an increased number of children have presented in crisis and been 
admitted into inpatient CAMHS provision37. 
 

Referrals into Positive Choices (substance misuse support for children) 
halved from the last year, but this is in line with reduction in numbers across 
CYJS and a higher proportion being referred for health support/accessing 
mentoring. Cannabis use remains the main referral reason; quarterly 
updates from Positive Choices and Health are provided and tracked through 
Management Board. 
 

Educational needs  
Reviewing children open to the Service across 2021/22, 16% open to CYJS 
had an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and 51% having some form 
of identified special education needs as identified through their assessment. 
These figures are consistent with 2020/21, but much higher than the general 
schooling population, which, as of January 2021, had 17.6% of pupils with 
Special Educational Needs and/or EHCP compared to CYJS’s 67%.  
 

Education attainment  
An analysis of children open to CYJS in Key Stage 4, across 2016-2019, was 
completed last year that has not been repeated due to the impact of Covid 
19 pandemic. The review identified that children were 2 grades below where 
they were expected to achieve similar to the specialist and alternative 
schooling provision across the city38; these findings are in line with national 

 
37 This has seen a review of targeted support for Emotional Well-being and Mental Health Support.  
38 https://www.compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk/schools-by-
type?step=phase&region=331&geographic=la&phase=secondary ; 

 

research39. The analysis identified a downward trend overall, but this 
reflects 
a move to a smaller group of children in the youth justice system with a 
very high level of need. 
 
Education, Training and Employment (ETE) Engagement 
In 2021/22, among CYJS children/adults aged over sixteen, 19% were 
NEET at the time they completed their intervention a 1% improvement 
compared to 2020/21. However, positively, across all children 84.8% 
were in suitable ETE at the end of their intervention, though this is a 
decrease of 2%; these children are reviewed through each quarter’s 
Management Board to ensure appropriate support has been implemented 
to achieve ETE engagement.  
 
Alternative provision data  
Reviewing local permanent exclusion data and Violence Reduction 
Partnership regional data, a decline was shown in permanent exclusions 
for Coventry over the last 3 academic years with Coventry keeping part-
time timetables in place for less than 1/6 of the maximum days allowed; 
this indicates a resistance to take children away from the safety of 
educational settings. Coventry has the lowest exclusion rate across the 
Violence Reduction Partnership West Midlands area, below the England 
average. Reviewing children open in 2021/22, 24.1% were in alternative 
education at some point while open to CYJS representing a significant 
overrepresentation and approximately half of all children of school age; 1 
child was identified to be electively home schooled. Of this group, in order 
of size: 58% were White British reflecting an overrepresentation, White 
Other 12% (total 70%), Black 9% and other groups below 5%.  
 
Desistance Analysis  
Last year, to better understand the factors which will support children to 
not reoffend and inform the priorities set, CYJS undertook a review of the 
assessed risk factors for and against a child's offending behaviour for all 
children from the last year (2020/21); this exercise was undertaken again 
for 2021/22 and reviewed against the 2020/21 findings.   

 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/homepage/1250/extended_learning_centre_-_key_information  

39 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/814368/und
erstanding-educational-background-young-offenders-amended-summary.pdf  

P
age 54

https://www.compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk/schools-by-type?step=phase&region=331&geographic=la&phase=secondary
https://www.compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk/schools-by-type?step=phase&region=331&geographic=la&phase=secondary
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/homepage/1250/extended_learning_centre_-_key_information
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/814368/understanding-educational-background-young-offenders-amended-summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/814368/understanding-educational-background-young-offenders-amended-summary.pdf


Performance and Priorities – 2021/22 

31 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 
 

 

Reviewing the assessed factors for preventing/reducing a child’s offending 
behaviour, the most significant factors across both years were 
consistently:(1) Learning, Education, Training and Employment (2) Family 
and wider networks (3) Engagement and Participation. 
  
Reviewing the assessed factors for a child’s offending, the three most 
significant factors in 2020/21 were: (1) Features of lifestyle (2) Families 
and wider networks (3) Thinking and behaviour; and in 2021/22: (1) 
Families and wider networks (2) Substance Misuse (3) Emotional 
Development and Mental Health. This reflects a shift from the previous year 
and likely to reflect the work on trauma informed practice and evidence the 
shift from viewing decisions as being cognitively led versus emotionally led. 
There was a significant shift in seeing ‘substance use’ as a key factor, 
though this has not been reflected in an increase in referrals rates for work 
around substance use and this will be explored as part of the development 
and improvement plan.     
 
Risk Assessments 
The overwhelming evidence in this Section demonstrates significant 
concerns around serious youth violence, exploitation and children with a 
high level of need locally, regionally, and nationally. This trend has been 
reflected in the assessed risk levels of all children; since use of AssetPlus 
Assessment Framework in 2016/17, 15 children were assessed as 
presenting a high risk of serious harm or/and high concerns regarding their 
safety and wellbeing concerns (any adverse outcomes). Across the last few 
years this has increased as follows: 
 

•36 - 2017/18 • 44 – 2018/19 • 58 - 2019/20 • 59 – 2020/21 • 51 –2021/22• 
 

The last year saw a decrease but a higher percentage given the reduction 
in numbers; it is anticipated that the overall number in 2021/22 will be 
similar to 2019-2021 with the increase in numbers through the Diversion 
Project.  
 
In last year’s plan, an in-depth review of all risk assessments between April 
2019 and March 2021 was undertaken; this has been repeated for the 
2021/22 period. Similar trends were identified, regarding the key high-risk 
concerns being related to the perpetration of community violence with the 
‘Peers/Rival Gang Members’ accounting 29% for potential victims. When 
 

looking at the most concerning possible ‘adverse outcomes’, this related 
physical/harm and death followed by ‘emotional harm’ and ‘criminal 
exploitation’; this highlights that the city has seen escalating issues of 
serious youth violence since 2016 to 2020, particularly between two 
prominent urban street gangs. 
 
 
Priority Review 
Section 7 has demonstrated that CYJS is working with a smaller, and 
sadly more violent, vulnerable, and traumatised group of children whose 
needs are very high. Children in the YJS are most likely to be accessing 
(have accessed) alternative schooling provision following permanent 
exclusion, at risk of being or are a victim of criminal exploitation, residing 
in a deprived/high risk area and more likely to be from a Black or Ethnic 
Minority Background. To appropriately tackle these issues, we need: 
children leading steps for change, a skilled workforce, and a city approach 
to delivering trauma informed prevention and diversion activity. This 
evidence base demonstrates that the 10 priorities continue to be 
appropriate, namely: 
 

(1) Child Engagement and Desistance (2) Restorative Justice 
(3) Joint Strategic City Planning (4) Trauma Informed Practice 
(5) Tackling Exploitation and Serious Youth Violence (6) 
Promoting Prevention and Diversion (7) Education, Training and 
Employment (8) Workforce Development (9) Continued National 
Standard Learning (10) Addressing Disproportionality  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

P
age 55



National Standards 

32 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

 

 

 

National Standards 
 
 
 
 

In April 2020, all Youth Justice Services were required to submit a self-
assessment against the YJB’s new National Standards, which ‘…define 
the minimum expectation for all agencies that provide statutory 
services to ensure good outcomes for children in the YJS'. The self-
assessment was submitted in April 2020 and involved Management 
Board Member sponsors per each of the standards. in January 2021, 
following a national moderation exercise, Coventry had confirmation 
that the submission offered an evidenced reflection of the judgments 
in the service standards and that a validation visit was not required 
due to the quality of the return. The self-assessment highlighted that, 
while the Service continued to see outcomes for children largely met, 
there were significant areas for progression and improvement, namely: 
National Standards 4 (In Secure) and 5 (Transitions) alongside Board 
Development. An Improvement Strategy 2020-23 was developed and 
then superseded by the 2021-23 Youth Justice Plan that built on from 
the activity identified within the self-assessment.  
 
Since the submission of the self-assessment, CYJS has created and 
updated all guidance for all pathways. This has been done through the 
lens of the journey of the child in the youth justice system and ensuring 
a clear benchmarking of expectations at specific junctures as identified 
through best/evidenced practice models; for example, concepts like 
'constructive resettlement' where the focus is supporting a child's 
identify shift, in addition to practical resettlement factors (e.g. housing). 
The impact of this meant a team wide uplift and greater parity in 
services offered depending on the indiviudal practioners; this has been 
imperative as CYJS has continued to see the most experienced 
practitioners retire and new practitioners not necessarily entering the 
Service with previous youth justice experience. To ensure that these 
standards/mechanisms for improvements embed, and lead to sustained 
Service improvement, a programme of monthly auditing has been 
completed across the last year. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Through these audits, a review of key developments for each standards 
are outlined below:  
 
Standard 1: OOCD 
A review of OOCDs was undertaken in Quarter 1 2021/22, that led to a 
rota for Children’s Services attendance at the Joint Decision Panel, an 
amendment of the decisions process in the Panel to explicitly include the 
options for an ‘extended assessment period’ and ‘escalation’ to ensure 
these options are considered by the partnership, and reintroduction of 
the quarterly scrutiny panel (detailed in Section 7). 
 
Standard 2: at Court  
An audit was completed in Quarter 3 looking at decisions regarding 
when and when enforcement action had not been taken. This led to a 
mentoring process being implemented across the team to strengthen 
expectations around third sector engagement in a child’s plan and a 
simple guide40 for YJS Support Officers being devised to ensure 
consistent recording processes; workshops were undertaken to 
introduce this. Following this review, a review of Post Court Reports was 
completed that identified some inconsistencies in completion quality; a 
team simple guide was produced to ensure quality was consistently high 
and to particularly support less experienced practitioners in the Service.  

 

 
40 Simple guides – these are key headlines for a procedure, guidance, or policy 

P
age 56



National Standards 

33 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

 
 
 
 

Standard 3: in the community (court diposals) 
A review of assessment quality was undertaken at the start of the year that 
identiifed a good use of hypothesis models, but a need for greater clarity 
on current controls and contingency planning to evidence these are clear 
and robust. A peer review model was undertaken across each team led by 
the Senior Pracitioners and they have led on quality assurance for children 
on the Diversion Project to continue in supporting whole team/system 
development.  
 
In Quarter 4, an audit was undetraken into Referral/Youth Rehabilitation 
Orders. The case planning process was strongly embedded, however uses 
of engagement processes were variable leading to a refresher on what 
constitutes ‘acceptable reasons’ and the intertwining of working in a trauma 
informed way. This has supported with equipping practitioners with the 
skills to navigate the competing balance of care versuses control. 
 
Standad 4: in secure settings 
Constructive Resettlement: the last year has seen the introduction of 
resettlement key worker and ensure, where appropriate, there is an 
increased intervention offer to children as part of their resettlement 
journey; this is to ensure that there is a robust offer given the generally 
higher reoffending rates for this cohort. At the start of 2021, a resettlement 
audit was undertaken to assess the impact of this change and the updated 
guidance from 2020. The audit identified that responses remained 
somewhat orientated to resettlement pathways and two refresher 
workshops were undertaken on constructive resettlement as a result, 
alongside reviewing several case study examples. 
 
Standard 5: on transition and resettlement 
Young adults transferred to Probation continue to have their progression 
tracked through CYJS Management Board and reoffending rates are 
tracked through the aforementioned live reoffending tracker. Updates are 
provided to Management Board for those transferred across the last 
quarter, which largely showed positive engagement and no breach action 
or reoffending; however, there have been challenges in the transfer 
process as a result of Covid 19, with particular challenges for 
children/adults in custody. In Quarter 1, a Joint Probation Audit was  

undertaken that highlighted the challenges the Service had in supporting 
transfers to Offender Management in Custody (OMIC) in lieu fo a 
national process. This gap was escalated to Youth Custody Service, 
Youth Justice Board and the CYJS Management Board; this remains the 
case and a local agreement (child by child) has been agreed to transfer 
to Coventry Probation who wil provide oversight if/where there are 
issues for transfers to OMIC. The audit also led to strengthened 
processes for oversight by the Seconded Probation Officer, leading to an 
improved system footprint of their actvitiy/transfer process.  
 
In Quarter 3, a management supervision audit was completed that led 
to piloting of an amended supervision template to ensure it was 
strengths focussed and appropriately capturing the child’s voice. A re-
review was undertaken in Quarter 4 and this showed improved 
capturing and, following team consultation, the new supervision 
template was implemented across CYJS.  
 
In Quarter 4 a Joint Children’s Services Audit was undertaken to review 
multi-agency working and if review the effectiveness of arrangemets 
that should  achieve a shared understanding of risk and planning for 
children. The audit resulted in strenghtneng the CAMHS screening for all 
children through the new pathway (see Section 8), a re-review of the 
children’s plan, and a workshop around adapting this to meet children’s 
needs (e.g. age). Learning from all audits have been communicated 
through monthly developmental practice workshops, monthly team 
meetings and quarterley half-team days. 
 
Next steps 
The audits (particularly the latter) led to Management Board in February 
2022 agreeing for an external review now being undertaken by Lee 
Westlake Ltd41; the initial approach was replicating a peer review in 
process but with a focus on the initial assessment process and more 
lately leading to reviewing the arrangements for contigency planning. 
Learning from this will be used to inform the focus of a further self-
assessment across 2022/23 that will also consider the updates in the yet 
to be published new case management guidance.  
  

 
41 Lee Westlake is a previous Head of Service and Chair of the Youth Justice Sector Improvement 
Partnership; Lee continues to deliver the lead peer review training across the Sector.  

P
age 57



49 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Challenge, risks, and opportunities 

 

Challenges, risks, and issues 
 

 
 
Legislation and guidance – YJSs/partnership will need to respond to the 
changes within the Police, Crime Sentencing and Courts Act (2022), including 
the Serious Violence Duty. As outlined in Section 5, the storming phase to 
ensure governance and processes are in place is underway. 
 
National Key Performance Indicator Review - The Management Board 
have reviewed the current local indicators, though there is a national review 
the existing national indicators that CYJS will have to respond to.  
 
Funding - The YJB grant remains unannounced at the time of writing the 
plan and while assurances have been given on the maintenance of last year’s 
core grant, this impacts on longevity planning. The impact of unconfirmed 
annual funding is also reflected across the current funding profile for agendas 
to tackle serious youth violence and exploitation. 
 
Workforce and offers – Staff changes and new staff induction over the past 
two years resulted in significant time investment from other staff, including 
managers. This will continue over the next 12 months as roles are recruited to 
with retention particularly significant given the Service has moved to a new 
Diversion Offer. 
 
The Diversion route gives a huge opportunity to reinvest resources earlier and 
prevent entry into the YJS; with this said, the offer presents a need for a 
cultural shift within West Midlands Police that is currently underway. The 
pathway also sees an opportunity to redress a significant current challenge in 
the racial disparity seen in Court (see Section 8).   
 
Out of Court Disposals - The last year has seen a shift into a higher 
proportion in the use of out-of-court-disposals that is welcomed, but there is 
an ongoing challenge in ensuring appropriate decision making with changes to 
how Home Office Counting Rules are interpreted42 and that the Association of  

 
42 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counting-rules-for-recorded-crime  

 
 
Chief Police Officers Youth Gravity Matrix 201343 requires urgent updating; 
a national review is currently underway. HMIP, last year, descried this as a 
‘…as a ‘postcode lottery’ in the use of out-of-court disposals, with wide 
variation in the policies and processes that govern local schemes (p.33).44;  
Coventry and Birmingham YJSs are currently working alongside West 
Midlands Police and the PCC to develop an updated Out of Court Disposal 
Policy for the region.  
 
Offence Pattern Trends - Section 8 outlines that while most proven 
offence types have reduced significantly, violence against the person 
remains the most common offence group type and the city saw an increase 
in weapon possession amount children last year. The last year has also 
seen an increase in violence within schools and, while a reduction in the 
most serious offences, a worrying trend of the possible permeation of 
gang/postcode issues/increased tensions into mainstream secondary 
schools. 
 

There is a significant amount of work 
to tackle violence within schools, as 
part of Education Violence Prevention 
Plan; for example, activity through 
the City’s Police and Schools Panels 
and direct intervention into schools 
like Round Midnight45 that uses 
virtual reality story scenarios as an 
engagement tool; CYJS is supporting 
in the delivery of this. 
 

Children Permanently Excluded - There is still a significant over 
representation of children permanently excluded in CYJS and most 
significantly in the very small number of children receiving custodial  

 
43 https://yjlc.uk/sites/default/files/ACPO%20Youth%20Gravity%20Matrix.pdf  
44 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar2020/ 
45 https://www.roundmidnight.org.uk/  

P
age 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counting-rules-for-recorded-crime
https://yjlc.uk/sites/default/files/ACPO%20Youth%20Gravity%20Matrix.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar2020/
https://www.roundmidnight.org.uk/


35 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

Challenge, risks, and opportunities 

 

 
 
 
sentences: this remains a key focus and, through the team desistance analysis 
(see Section 8), there clear recognition that education, training, and 
employment is the strongest factor in supporting desistance.   
 
Services - NSPCC (National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children) 
have had funding withdrawn locally that has impacted on the local offers for 
children convicted of sexual offence. CYJS has undergone assessment and 
intervention training so this can be undertaken in house; this is an additional 
ask and demand will be reviewed over the next 12months.  
 
There remains an ongoing challenge around Youth Justice Services 
maintaining independence46, and a balance of a ‘child first’ approach/risk 
management. This was specifically highlighted in the HMIP 2021 Annual 
Report: ‘We are mindful that services have focussed upon ensuring a ‘child 
first’ approach is implemented, but do not consider this has to be mutually 
incompatible with continuing to ensure that risks children present to others 
are still effectively assessed and understood. Particularly given the rise in 
violent offending and the complexity of the children working with YOS. For 
this reason, we urge YOS to ensure they focus upon adequately assessing risk 
and putting in place effective planning and implementation to manage, 
mitigate and reduce risks wherever possible’.’47 
 
Inspection - HMIP have moved from a 4-year inspection cycle to a 6-year 
cycle as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic. CYJS’s last inspection was a short 
quality screening in 2016 and a new framework (2018) and a new amended 
framework (2021) has been introduced since then. This has led to the work 
with Lee Westlake Ltd, outlined in Section 9, to support in external reviewing 
of CYJS to ensure that local auditing is in line with revised inspections. 
 
Opportunities 
• The TIRS and CIRV funding across the next three years gives huge 

opportunity to support system change at a preventative, diversion, and 
tertiary basis; these models are both being external quality assured and 
support the wider national research base. 

• SOCEX – additional investment into exploitation mapping, intel 

 
46 https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/ - an independent review of children’s social care 
47 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar-2021/  

triangulation and support around disruption measures gives great 
opportunity to prevent the small number of children entering the YJS. 

• CYJS and Children’s Services are currently using these funding routes 
as an opportunity to review current adolescent services across the 
Services and making sure that these are fit for the current need of 
the city with a specific focus on pathways away from care or custody.  

• The Covid 19 pandemic has seen more hybrid ways of working that 
give opportunity to work more effectively and these aspects will 
continue to be maintained; for example, some multi agency risk 
panels to continue to take place on a virtual basis due to increased 
partnership attendance and engagement.  

 
Next steps 
The improvement and business plan will outline, against the priorities, 
how we intend to respond to these challenges, deliver on the CYJS 
vision and measures of success as per the national and local 
performance indicators. In doing so, meeting and delivering on the YJB's 
'Child First' vision, the guiding principles, and strategic pillars. 
 
The plan consolidates learning through the Covid 19 recovery, learning 
from relevant inspections, thematic reviews learning exercise, research, 
and other sources (for example, HMIP Academic Insights)48. The plan is 
a working plan that will continue to develop across the coming year. The 
plan has been created to complement, and sit alongside, existing plans 
(for example, Coventry Youth Violence Prevention Partnership Strategy 
Plan), referring to specific elements, but without duplicating actions or 
reporting processes. The Plan focuses on specific actions across the 
coming year in recognition that much of this work will lead to follow on 
activity against the vision and priorities, which will be outlined in an 
updated 2022/23. 
 
 
 

 
48 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/research/academic-insights/  

P
age 59

https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/inspections/yar-2021/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/research/academic-insights/


 

 

Service Improvement Plan 
 

 
 

Development of the Service Improvement and Business Plan 
Section 13, outlines actions against each priority and these are triangulated 
across the YJB national standards and the YJB 2021-24 Strategic Plan. The 
Plan outlines what each action does to meet local/national indicators and 
the expected outcome of the action. Board Member sponsors are identified 
for each priority who will offer support and challenge around the priority. 
The Plan also details Plans, Papers, and Source Documents that identify  
what the action is in response to, for example: local learning, HMIP 
inspections (local, thematic, and annual), feedback from children/families 
/team and relevant research. 
 

HMIP Thematic/New Standards 
Following July 2021 new standards and a strategic Out of Court Strategy 
and Resettlement Strategy have been completed in advance of these 
standards with the recommendations considered as part of last year’s Plan; 
with updates on these are provided in Section 7.  
 

The recent HMIP Thematic Inspection of the experiences of black and 
mixed heritage boys in the YJS led to the formulation of a task and finish 
group with representation from: CYJS, the City Council, Early Help, 
Education, YJB, West Midlands Police and the third sector. Given the 
systemic nature of this issue, the majority of actions are absorbed into the 
Plan though some steps have already been achieved, for example but not 
limited to: 

 

- An ethnicity breakdown of children released under investigation and stop 
& search data will be reviewed as part of the performance scorecard for 
the Safeguarding Partnership within the exploitation priority; this will 
enable scrutiny and support to address disproportionality issues. 

- A Police User Voice group has been created to discuss such issues, 
supported by the PCC Youth Commissioner; this will see a pathway for 
children/young people to offer scrutiny directly to the Police.  

- Extension of the PCC Funding to include children at medium/high risk 
of exploitation given there is a pattern for black and minority ethnic 
children being criminally exploited and entering the YJS.  

Local Learning 
The partnership has undertaken one Community Safeguarding and Public 
Protection Learning Review in the last year, though while the child was charged 
in 2021 the offence was from 2019. The process involves all agency partners 
completing an internal review and then a round table learning event; this is 
chaired by the Independent Chair for the Safeguarding Partnership. The review 
illuminated common themes from those completed in 2020/21, namely: 
significant familial and peer entrenchment through organized crime groups. This 
led to specific training around masculinity and the development of an 
intervention programme focusses on de-glamourizing gang culture named Info 
Real: https://www.inforeal.co.uk/.  
The learning from custody reviews from the last 
year are outlined in Section 7.  
 
Board and Workforce Development 
In late 2021, Coventry City Council commissioned  
an independent review of the YJS Board governance arrangements to ensure 
that the Board was in a state of readiness for a future inspection (HMIP/JTAI) 
and to identify areas for improvement to work towards promoting good 
governance and optimal productivity of the board. This was undertaken in by 
Mutual Ventures (an external consultancy company) and involved two stages: 
Individual 20 min conversations with each member to gather their thoughts on 
the board, their role, and input into the agenda for the reflection session; 
facilitating a session for the board to reflect on their role and define next steps. 
This resulted in a task and finish group (Probation, Community Safety and 
Violence Reduction Partnership) being tasked with reviewing the vision, 
objectives, chairing arrangements and overall functioning in line with the YJB’ s 
‘Youth justice service governance and leadership’ published in December 2021. 
These recommendations have since been considered by Management Board 
through a further development session completed in April 2022 facilitated by 
Phil Sutton, a Youth Justice specialist and lead within the Association of YOT 
Managers (AYM); the recommendations are reflected in the Plan in Section 14, 
including exploring arrangements for an Independent Chair. Workforce 
Development remains a priority as outlined in Sections 5 & 7. 

P
age 60

https://www.inforeal.co.uk/


 

 

Evidence-based practice and 
innovation 

 

 

Current examples 
The Punishing Abuse Report presents the findings of a targeted review of 80 
children across 11 authorities in the West Midlands (including Coventry) and 
West Mercia. The report starkly highlights how children in the youth justice 
system have experienced early childhood abuse, loss, and structural 
inequalities. The report’s recommendations were an integral part of last 
year’s plan and, following a re-review of the recommendations, will continue 
to be in this/coming years Plan.  
 
Kitchen Table Talks outlined in Section 7, this project has been a YJB 
Pathfinder and follows a proven success model from Sandwell YJS. Coventry 
has referred over 40 families into the project and while awaiting the final 
report, the interim report in Oct 2021 outlined: an increase in parental 
wellbeing and improved relationships with the YJS49  
 
While there is currently a lack of national guidance and evaluation on which 
models of preventative based interventions are continually effective and thus 
viable for upscaling, the ‘child first, offender second’ evidence base highlights 
that criminogenic impact of the Youth Justice System and advocates for ‘…a 
childhood removed from the justice system, using pre-emptive prevention, 
diversion and minimal intervention. All work minimizes criminogenic stigma 
from contact with the system (Case and Browning, 2021).50 Therefore, 
Coventry has built on the established point of arrest intervention offer 
through St Giles (see Section 7) to ensure an eclectic mix (various locations 
across the city, building on different interests, and differing diversity of 
delivery) of community mentoring offers is considered at this point; this also 

 
49 https://yjresourcehub.uk/evaluation-library/item/925-serious-youth-violence-interim-evaluation-report-
west-midlands-pathfinder-april-2021.html  
50 Child First Justice: the research evidence base – full report - https://yjresourcehub.uk/evaluation-
library/item/download/1116_220257bdb0ede10d9032a660364ac828.html  

 
builds on the learning from the 2017 Lammy Review (2017). For children who 
need a more intense offer to prevent escalation, (as outlined by Deković et al. 
(2011)51 and the HMIP Annual Report 2021) children are offered support 
through the Service’s Diversion Offer and the additional partnership services 
within the YJS. The projects/offers will be quality assured by Coventry 
University to support in building a local evidence base of best practice.   
 
Emerging Practice/Innovation:  
Coventry has been successful in bidding for the Trauma Informed Recovery 
Support (TIRS) Framework and the Community Initiative in Reducing Violence 
(CIRV) – see Section 7. Both initiatives are predicated on the emerging 
evidence base around ‘reachable/teachable’ moments, outlined starkly in the 
‘Closing the gaps: Preventing children and adolescents falling into violence 
(2021)52. The Youth Worker offer (detailed in Section 7) running over the last 
12 months has seen all children who have successfully engaged have not been 
arrested over the same period; this is an emerging evidence base but evidences 
the promising results thus far. The Violence Reduction Partnership, West 
Midlands Police, Horizon, and CYJS have been trialing (outlined in Section 10) a 
virtual reality resource named Round Midnight; initial feedback from children 
and the conversations the tool is facilitating through school, family hub and 
other group sessions, shows great emerging evidence of successful outcomes 
as a tool to engage children.  

 

 
51 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0306624X17751161#:~: 
text=A%20meta%2Danalytic%20study%20by,skills%20showed%20the%20largest%20effects. And A 
thematic inspection of the experiences of black and mixed heritage boys in the youth justice system, 2021  
52 https://institute.global/sites/default/files/articles/Closing-the-Gaps-Preventing-Vulnerable-Children-and-
Adolescents-Falling-Into-Violence.pdf  

P
age 61

https://yjresourcehub.uk/evaluation-library/item/925-serious-youth-violence-interim-evaluation-report-west-midlands-pathfinder-april-2021.html
https://yjresourcehub.uk/evaluation-library/item/925-serious-youth-violence-interim-evaluation-report-west-midlands-pathfinder-april-2021.html
https://yjresourcehub.uk/evaluation-library/item/download/1116_220257bdb0ede10d9032a660364ac828.html
https://yjresourcehub.uk/evaluation-library/item/download/1116_220257bdb0ede10d9032a660364ac828.html
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0306624X17751161#:~: text=A%20meta%2Danalytic%20study%20by,skills%20showed%20the%20largest%20effects
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0306624X17751161#:~: text=A%20meta%2Danalytic%20study%20by,skills%20showed%20the%20largest%20effects
https://institute.global/sites/default/files/articles/Closing-the-Gaps-Preventing-Vulnerable-Children-and-Adolescents-Falling-Into-Violence.pdf
https://institute.global/sites/default/files/articles/Closing-the-Gaps-Preventing-Vulnerable-Children-and-Adolescents-Falling-Into-Violence.pdf


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Looking forward 
 

P
age 62



39 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

Children, young people, and victims, first and at the center of what we do  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 1 & 2 
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 1 & 2 

National Standards 1 - 5 

Child Engagement and Desistance – Caroline Ryder (Board Member Sponsor), Tianne Peynado (Practice Lead)  

 

Key Indicator – Improve feedback from children/family/parents and victims of crime 

1.  Through Our Eyes continue to meet quarterly and 
consider dynamic methods of Management Board 
feedback.  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

with Guiding      Young 

Minds and Youth 

Crime Commissioner  

End of Q2 Direct 

pathway for 

Children’s 

voices and 

views to be 

actioned by 

Management 

Board 

 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s 

Voices Analysis and Strategy 2022 

 

Participation in Practice and Co-creation 
Project - Peer Power Project 2021 
 

2.  Development of a child/family friendly headline 

plan 

Tianne Peynado 
(Engagement and 
Development Officer) 

End of Q2 Children/Fami

lies know our 

vision and 

priorities 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s 

Voices Analysis and Strategy 2022 

 

Participation in Practice and Co-creation 
Project - Peer Power Project 2021 
 

3.  Publishing the Child’s Journey Animated Video   Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2 Children/Fam

ilies know our 

vision and 

priorities 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Participation in Practice and Co-creation 
Project - Peer Power Project 2021 
 

4.  6 Monthly Viewpoint/Self-Assessment Analysis and 
exploration for direct feedback pathways, alongside 
direct questions around children’s experiences of 
racial/other forms of discrimination  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2 Improved 

engagement 

with children  

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s 

Voices Analysis and Strategy 2022 

 

HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black and 
Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS (2021) 
 

5.  Case closure reviews to continue to be presented 

to quarterly Management Board 

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q4 Strengthen 

approach to 

learning 

following 

feedback 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Domain 1 Self- Assessment 

6.  Development of a peer/voluntary role model 
programme  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q4 

 
 
 

 

Improved 

whole family 

offer 

Increased 

and 

improved 

child/family/

parent 

feedback 

West Midlands Violence Reduction Unit 

Evaluation - 

Serious Youth Violence pathfinder: 

Evaluation report – April 2021 P
age 63



40 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

7.  Through Our Eyes Review of personalized CYJS 

space for children and families. 

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2 An improved 

child friendly 

personalized 

space. 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

HMIP Domain 1 Self-Assessment  
 
Youth Justice Plan 2021 

8.  Engagement with children accessing Family 

Hubs and School Link Officers  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2 Support 

community 

integrating and 

build emerging 

themes for 

children  

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 
Analysis and Strategy 2022 

9.  Create a leaflet for the Police Station explaining 

the OOCD’s and the process of working with 

CYJS once referred by Police from assessment 

to intervention. 

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner), 

Tianne Peynado (Youth 

Justice Development and 

Engagement Officer) 

End of Q1 Manage 

children and 

parent/carer 

expectations 

once referred 

into CYJS. 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 
Analysis and Strategy 2022 

10.  Evaluate and review the ISS induction in order to 

identify gaps and determine actions to improve 

the process. 

Brittany Hawke (Senior 

Partitioner), Stacey 

Brown (YJS Senior 

Practitioner), Tianne 

Peynado (Youth Justice 

Development and 

Engagement Officer) 

End of Q3 A child 

undertaking an 

ISS 

intervention 

fully 

understands 

the process 

and the 

expectations. 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 
Analysis and Strategy 2022 

11.  Empower staff to challenge and advocate for 

children regarding the number of professionals 

involved in a child’s life. Group discussion to take 

place in pod meetings. 

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner) 

End of Q2 Raised 

awareness 

amongst the 

team regarding 

the impact of 

multiple 

professionals 

in a child’s life 

and where 

possible 

minimise the 

multiple 

professional 

contacts.   

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 
Analysis and Strategy 2022 

P
age 64



41 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

12.  Explore and build new links of training and 

employment opportunities for children. 

Tianne Peynado (Youth 

Justice Development and 

Engagement Officer) 

End of Q4 Establish and 

offer more 

training and 

employment for 

children. 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Children’s and Parent’s/Carer’s Voices 
Analysis and Strategy 2022 

13.  Review of where referrals to Positive 
Choices have not been made but there are 
concerns that a child is abusing 
substances. 

 
 

Tianne Peynado (Youth 

Justice Development and 

Engagement Officer) 

End of Q4 Increased 

volume of 

feedback of 

children. 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

2021/22 Desistance Analysis  
 

Children, young people, and victims, first and at the center of what we do YJB Child First Principles: Principle 1 & 2 
YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 3 

National Standards 1 - 5 

Restorative Justice – Sue Robertson (Board Member Sponsor), Matt Haynes (Practice Lead) 

 

Key Indicator – Improve feedback from children/family/parents and victims of crime 

1.  Reapplication RJ marker and associated actions, 

including a review of the offer to victims of crime.  

Matt Haynes (YJS Team 

Manager) and Carl 

Woodend (RJ Lead) 

End of Q3 Improved 

victim offers  

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Increased and 

improved victim 

feedback 

Restorative Council Code of Practice for 
Victims of Crime (2021) MOJ 

2.  Recruit new Referral Order Panel Volunteers and 

deliver refresher/new starter training  

Abi Jones (YJS Team 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Improved 

community 

engagement  

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Increased and 

improved victim 

feedback 

Referral Order Guidance (2018) 

3.  Development and publishing of Reparative 

Projects across the Service.  

Carl Woodend (RJ Lead) End of Q4 Improved 

community 

engagement 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Increased and 

improved victim 

feedback 

Peer Review 2022 

One Coventry Approach – everyone working together to make a difference  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 2, Priority 1 & 2 

National Standards 1 - 5 

Joint Strategic City Planning – Chris Heeley/John Gregg (Board Member Sponsor), Nick Jeffreys (Practice Lead) 

 

Key Indicator – Management Board Attendance at a Senior Level 

P
age 65



42 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

1.  Engagement in the Youth Justice Subgroup, 

agreeing regional YJS priorities and reviewing of 

the West Midlands Out of Court Processes.   

Nick Jeffreys 

(Operational Lead) 

End of Q3 Improved 

regional 

continuity 

Reduced number 

of children in the 

YJS 

Punishing Abuse Report  (2021) 

 

2.  Community Partnership Meeting to continue bi-

monthly and mini consortium to be developed for 

CYJS with benching outcomes returns and 

expectations; children medium/high risk of 

exploitation to be included in the pathway.  

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner), 

Nick Jeffreys 

(Operational Lead) 

and Sinead Hastings 

(Horizon Team 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Improved 

oversight and 

governance 

for community 

sector 

provision. 

Increased referral 

rates to projects. 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

HMIP Domain 1 Self- Assessment 

 
Supporting the desistance of children 

subject to court orders - Buckley and Moore 

(2021)  

 

Police and Crime Commissioner Funding 

Plan (2022) 

 

Mentoring and Peer Mentoring (2021) HMIP 

3.  Serious Youth Violence (SYV) Duty – Strategic 

Needs Assessment to be completed and local 

plan for governance devised.  

 

 

 

Caroline Ryder 

(Violence Prevention 

Programme 

Manager) and Craig 

Hicken (Head of 

Environmental 

Services, Street 

Scene & Regulatory 

Services) 

End of Q2 Ensure 

strategic 

connectivity 

is effective 

and 

achieving 

desired 

outcomes 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Strategy and Action Plan 

 
National Standard 5 
 
Punishing Abuse Report 2021 
 
Serious Violence Duty (2022)  

4.  Following the SYV Duty review an agreement on 

the governance arrangements for 10 Year 

Violence Prevention Strategy  

 

 

 

John Gregg (Director 

of Coventry 

Children’s Services) 

and Pete Henrick 

(Chief 

Superintendent, 

Coventry, West 

Midlands Police  

End of Q2 Ensure 

strategic 

connectivity 

is effective 

and 

achieving 

desired 

outcomes 

Reduce incidents of 

serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Strategy and Action Plan 

 
National Standard 5 
 
 

5.  Establishment of a Coventry Children’s 

Services’ Trauma Informed Recovery Support 

(TIRs) implementation group. 

Matt Clayton (Strategic 
Lead – Looked After 
Children (Practice)) 
 
 

End of Q4 
 

 

Ensure 

resources best 

used  

Reduced number 

of children in the 

YJS 

Punishing Abuse Report 2021 

  Local Learning Reviews 

 

6.   Review of local Indicators when the new national 
indicators are introduced across the Police and 
Crime Board, Management Board, Safeguarding 
Partnership. 
 
 

Letoya Smith 

(Safeguarding Boards 

Quality Assurance 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Ensure 

strategic 

connectivity is 

effective and 

achieving 

Reduce incidents 

of serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

MOJ National Indicator Review  

P
age 66



43 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

  
 

desired 

outcomes 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

7.  Embedding Relational Practice across YJS and 
Children’s Services  
 
  

Katie Rhodes 

(Restorative Practice 

Lead) 

End of Q4 Family Valued 

Programme 

intertwined 

with the CYJS 

Vision 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Interim QA Analysis 
 

Leeds Family Valued Programme (2017) 

8.  Updated performance report presented to Board 
Members for consideration.  
 
 
 
 
Subsequent, Performance Report review regarding 
assessment of fit for purpose with changing 
patterns and trends. 

All Board Members End of Q1 
 
 
 
 
 
End of Q4 

Improved 

performance 

measuring 

Ensure Board 

Members have a 

thorough 

understand of 

relevant KPIs 

Domain 1 Self- Assessment 

 

Contextual Safeguarding (2020) HMIP 

9.  All Board Members to attend CYJS Team 
Meetings/Team Days/Half Days to explain their role 
and remit - continue 

All Board Members End of Q4 Improved 

team/Board 

relationships 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Domain 1 Self- Assessment 

10.  The Partnership YJS Management Meeting to 
present to the Management Board on their 
respective lead areas 
 
  

All Priority Leads End of Q4 Creating 

structured and 

well-defined 

pathways and 

processes to 

services 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Interim Quality Assurance Review Action 
 

Risk and Desistance: A Blended Approach 

to Risk Management) - HMIP (2021) 

11.  Actions from the Management Board Task and 
Finish Group paper recommendations: 
 
Partnership Independent Chair Proposal    
 
Review the current Terms of Reference to reflect 
the new agreed Management Board vision, 
objectives, membership criteria and responsibilities 

 

 

Kirsty Baker (Head of 

Coventry Probation 

Delivery Unit) 

 

Nick Jeffreys (YJS 

Operational Lead) 

 
 
End of Q1 
 
End of Q2 

Ensure Board 

Members have 

a thorough 

understand of 

relevant KPIs 

Management 

Board Attendance 

at a Senior Level 

Task and Finish Group Paper 2022 

 

Plymouth YJS Inspection (2022) 

12.  Review of outreach youth work provision in Stoke 
Aldermoor through the Early Help Outcome 6 
Subgroup.    
 

Caroline Ryder 

(Violence Prevention 

Programme Manager) 

End of Q1 Identify early 

offer gaps in 

the city and 

ensure 

services are 

resourced to 

high need 

areas 

Reduce incidents 

of serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

County Lines Analysis – Section 8 2022 

P
age 67



44 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

13.  Informal Peer Review of Management Board  
 
 
 

Nick Jeffreys (YJS 

Operational Lead) and 

Chris Heeley (Strategic 

Lead – Help and 

Protection) 

 

End of Q2 Ensure Board 

Members have 

a thorough 

understand of 

relevant KPIs 

Management Board 

Attendance at a 

Senior Level 

Peer Review 2022 

One Coventry Approach – everyone working together to make a difference  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 1 & 2 

National Standards 1 and 2 
Trauma Informed Practice – Chris Evans/Heather Kelly (Board Member Sponsor), Racheal DamhuisBoogers/Lesa Arms (Practice Leads) 
 
Key Indicator – Improve access to mental healthcare: % of children in the community and being released from custody with an identified need for a mental health intervention; 
and of that % mental health interventions delivered 
 

1.  Implementation of the Trauma Informed 

Recovery Support (TIRS) Framework  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Including a Speech and Language Therapist being 

seconded into YJS 

 

 

Nikki Holmes (Vanguard 

(TIRS) Project Manager 

– NHS Coventry and 

Warwickshire ICB) and 

Lyn Parsons (Clinical 

Consultant Lead NHSEI 

Trauma Vanguard 

Project 2021-2024 

NHS Coventry and 

Warwickshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group)  

 

 

Nikki Holmes (Vanguard 

(TIRS) Project Manager 

– NHS Coventry and 

Warwickshire ICB) 

End of Q4  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
End of Q2 

Having a 

system that 

works in a 

trauma 

informed way 

 

 

 

Reduced number 

of children in the 

YJS 

NHS England & NHS Improvement Long 

Term Plan (LTP) 

 

Punishing Abuse Report 2021 

 
Local Learning Reviews 

 

Serious youth violence and its relationship 

with adverse childhood experiences - 

Gray, Smithson and Jump (2021) 

 

Neurodiversity – a whole-child approach 

for youth justice – Kirby (2021) 

 

North Tyneside YJS Inspection (2021) 

2.  Continued trauma informed spaces for team 

support and   development 

- monthly informal counselling offer and 

review at end of year. 

- piloting of groups by Shaw  

- Systemics group spaces 

- closed trauma groups pilot with a 

Psychotherapist and report to Board to 

inform next steps. 

Racheal 

DamhuisBoogers 

(Specialist Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q4 Improved 

team 

wellbeing 

Reduced risk 

judgements 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Increased and 

improved victim 

feedback 

 

A thematic review of the work of youth 

offending services during the COVID-19 

pandemic – Nov 2020 – Coventry YJS 

Response 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

YJB Skills Audit - 2021 

P
age 68



45 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

3.  Review of additional management and Clinical 
support following introduction of Service Manager – 
Roshni from RISE   

Roshni Lawson (Service 

Manager – Specialist 

Mental Health with 

additional vulnerabilities  

Children and Young 

People – Rise) 

End of Q3 Supporting 

trauma 

informed 

approaches 

across the 

Service 

Reduced risk 

judgements 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Increased and 

improved victim 

feedback 

HMIP 2020 Annual Plan 

 

 
Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 
Trauma-informed practice (2020) HMIP 

4.  Embedding of the intensive multi-agency case 
consultation (IMACC) 

Lesa Arms (YJS Team 

Manager) and Racheal 

DamhuisBoogers 

(Specialist Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q4 Improved 

health 

assessing and 

offers to 

children 

Reduced risk 

judgements 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Increased and 

improved victim 

feedback 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 
Trauma-informed practice (2020) HMIP 

 

Resilience Model – HMIP Academic 

Insights (2022) 

5.  Consideration for funding to the Antser Virtual 

Reality Technology allowing the user to 

experience the impact of trauma, abuse and 

neglect through the eyes of the child 

 

 

Lesa Arms (YJS Team 

Manager) and Ed Baynes 

Clarke (Schools Violence 

Reduction Lead) 

End of Q2 Earlier 

identification 

of needs 

Reduced number 

of children in the 

YJS 

Local Custody Review Analysis 
 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

6.  Trauma informed training for, Schools, Family 

Hubs, and wider Children’s Services.  

 

 

 

 

 

Edouard Baynes Clarke 

(Schools Violence 

Reduction Lead) 

End of Q4  Earlier 

identification 

of needs 

Reduced number 

of children in the 

YJS 

Education violence reduction strategy 

(2020) 

 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB  

 

 

YJB Serious Youth Violence Stocktake 

 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

 

 

P
age 69



46 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

7.  Team completion (including new starters) of the 

Trauma Informed Effective Practice Award  

Lesa Arms (YJS Team 

Manager) 

End of Q4 Improved 

health 

assessing and 

offers to 

children 

Improve access to 

mental healthcare 

for children 

Punishing Abuse  Report (2021) 

 

YJB Serious Youth Violence Stocktake 

(2021) 

 

8.  Mentors in Violence Prevention, Round Midnight 

and other preventative interventions to be 

implemented across schools (focus on those 

with highest perm exclusion and hotspot areas 

in Section 8)  

Nikki Penniston (Head of 

Delivery – West Midlands 

Violence Reduction 

Partnership) and 

Edouard Baynes Clarke 

(Schools Violence 

Reduction Lead) 

End of Q4 
2021 

Earlier 

identification 

of needs 

Reduced number 

of children in the 

YJS 

YJB Serious Youth Violence Stocktake 

(2021) 

 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

Education violence reduction strategy 

(2020) 2021 

 

Promising Approaches to Knife Crime – 

HMIP Research 2022 

9.  Family Therapy Review regarding YJS access 

and consideration for support to Parenting Lead. 

  

Roshni Lawson (Service 

Manager – Specialist 

Mental Health with 

additional vulnerabilities  

Children and Young 

People – Rise) and Abi 

Jones (YJS Team 

Manager) 

End of Q2 Improved 

health 

assessing 

and offers to 

children 

Improve access to 

mental healthcare 

for children 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

YJB Serious Youth Violence Stocktake 

(2021) 

 

10.  Eye Movement Desensitization and 

Reprocessing (EMDR) training for seconded 

CAMHS practitioners 

Roshni Lawson (Service 

Manager – Specialist 

Mental Health with 

additional vulnerabilities  

Children and Young 

People – Rise) 

End of Q3  Improved 

health 

assessing 

and offers to 

children 

Improve access to 

mental healthcare 

for children 

Trauma-informed Interventions for At-

Risk and Justice-Involved Youth; A Meta 

Analysis (Olaghere et al., 2021) 

11.  EMDR training for CAMHS in schools  Chris Evans (Associate 

Director of Operations 

Mental Health Services 

for Children & Young 

People 

Coventry & Warwickshire 

Partnership NHS Trust) 

End of Q1 Improved 

health 

assessing 

and offers to 

children 

Improve access to 

mental healthcare 

for children 

Trauma-informed Interventions for At-

Risk and Justice-Involved Youth; A Meta 

Analysis (Olaghere et al., 2021) 

P
age 70



47 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

Making a difference, Reduce reoffending/Safer communities, Safer children  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 1 & 2 

National Standards 1,3 and 5 
Tackling Exploitation and Serious Youth Violence – Daryl Lyons (Board Member Sponsor), Sara Graves (Practice Lead) 
 
Key Indicator – Reduce incidents of serious youth violence in the city and reduce the number of children presenting at A&E for such injuries. 

1.  Progression of the recommendations following 

the wider Learning Review into children given 

life custodial sentences.  

 

 

  

Audit and Performance 

Subgroup Chaired by 

Neil McDonald 

(Strategic Lead – 

Quality Assurance) 

End of Q3 Earlier 

identification 

of needs 

Reduced use of 

custody 

 

Reduce incidents of 

serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

Local Learning Review 2022 

2.  Safeguarding Partnership to consider the response 

to the Child Criminal Exploitation Profile under the 

‘Exploitation’ Priority: 

 

- development of an Updated Exploitation 

Strategy. 

 

 

 

- review of current City adolescent offers to 
ensure these are fit for purpose with a 
specific focus on pathways away from care 
and custody (this will include PACE 
Provision). 

 

 

 

 

Rebekah Eaves 

(Business Manager – 

Coventry Safeguarding 

Children’s Partnership 

and Adult Board) 

 

 

Matt Clayton (Strategic 

Lead – Looked After 

Children (Practice)), 

Sara Graves 

(Operational Lead- 

Responsive Services) 

and Nick Jeffreys (YJS 

Operational Lead) 

 
 
 
 
End of Q2 
 
 
 
 

End of Q3 

Resources for 

responding to 

teenage 

children is 

best utilised to 

meet their 

needs.  

Reduce incidents of 

serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

 

Reduced number of 

children in the YJS 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

YJB Serious Youth Violence 

Stocktake (2021)  

 

Local Child Criminal Exploitation 

Profile (2021) 

 

Risk and Desistance: A Blended Approach 

to Risk Management) - HMIP (2021) 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Board - Youth Violence 

Literature Review (2020) 

 

Contextual Safeguarding (2020) HMIP 

 

Brighton and Hove YOS Inspection 2021  

 

The Case for Change – MacAlister (2022) 

3.  Serious Organised Crime Exchange (SOCEX) 

are now in place - a review of their role 

alongside the Youth Violence Reduction Team 

to ensure mapping, detection and processes for 

intervention around Child Exploitation/County 

Lines is robust. 

 

Daryl Lyons (Chief 

Inspector), Sherrie 

Kimberley (T/Inspector 

– Partnerships 

Manager) and Sara 

Graves (Operational 

Lead- Responsive 

End of Q4 Robust 

pathway of 

support for 

children at risk 

of criminal 

exploitation   

Reduce incidents of 

serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Board - Youth Violence 

Literature Review (2020) 

 

 

P
age 71



48 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

 Services)  

Reduced number of 

children in the YJS 

4.  Coventry Community Initiative in Reducing 

Violence (CIRV) Operationalized 

 

 

  

Daryl Lyons (Chief 

Inspector) 

End of Q4 Development 

of ‘reachable 

moment’ 

offers across 

the city 

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants  

 

Reduced incidents 

of serious youth 

violence and 

reduced attendance 

at A&E for assault 

injuries 

Injustice or in justice – Children’s 

Commissioner - 2020 

5.  Review of Serious Youth Violence Forum and 

the processes for network disruption regarding 

County Lines  

Sherrie Kimberley 

(T/Inspector – 

Partnerships Manager) 

and Nick Jeffreys (YJS 

Operational Lead) 

End of Q3 Earlier 

identification 

of needs 

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

YJB Serious Youth Violence 

Stocktake (2021) 

 

 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

6.  Review of the Local Offender Management Unit 

regarding the responses to children identified to 

be linked to Urban Street Gangs  

 

Sherrie Kimberley 

(T/Inspector – 

Partnerships Manager) 

End of Q1  Robust 

pathway of 

support for 

children at risk 

of criminal 

exploitation   

Reduced incidents 

of serious youth 

violence and 

reduced attendance 

at A&E for assault 

injuries 

CSPPI Learning 2021 

7.  Management Board Review of mentoring offer for 

children at low risk of being exploited to be in 

place with a clearly defined referral pathway 

Sharon Bolesworth 

(Positive Choices 

Service Manager) 

End of Q4 Mentoring 

offer in place 

and being well 

assessed. 

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

YJB Serious Youth Violence 

Stocktake (2021) 

 

8.  St Giles to be refunded for the continued 

reachable moment mentoring offers, known as 

desist and transform; this covers: under 25s police 

custody, entered hospital for assault injury, 

identified concerns identification, and resettlement 

 

 

 

 

Steve Clarke (Contract 

Manager – St Giles) 

and Nikki Penniston 

(Head of Delivery – 

West Midlands Violence 

Reduction Partnership) 

End of Q1 
2022/23 

Safe city for 

children, 

young people, 

and families 

Reduced incidents 

of serious youth 

violence and 

reduced attendance 

at A&E for assault 

injuries 

 

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Strategy and Action Plan 

 

Domain 1 self- assessment 

 

Mentoring and Peer Mentoring 

(2021) HMIP 

9.  Horizon Dashboard to be shared with YJS Sara Graves 

(Operational Lead- 

Responsive Services) 

and Becky Pearson 

(Child Exploitation 

Coordinator) 

End of Q2 Robust 

pathway of 

support for 

children at risk 

of criminal 

exploitation   

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Strategy and Action Plan 

 

P
age 72



49 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

10.  Min Quarterly intel/info pack disseminated 

across the team and CSLT to include relevant 

themes around threat to life and disruption 

notices relevant to issues affecting children.  

Becky Pearson (Child 

Exploitation 

Coordinator)  

End of Q2 Team/Leader 

understanding 

of emerging 

issues 

regarding 

child 

exploitation 

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Strategy and Action Plan 

11.  Monthly NRM submission list shared and 

disseminated among TMs 

Adam Good (NRM 

Manager – SOCEX 

West Midlands) 

End of Q1  Robust 

pathway of 

support for 

children at risk 

of criminal 

exploitation   

Reduced number of 

first-time entrants 

Cardiff Inspection (2020) 

Making a difference, Reduce reoffending/Safer communities, Safer children  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 4 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 3 

National Standard 1 

Promoting Prevention and Diversion - Overall Leads - Nigel Patterson/Craig Hicken, Katy Callender and Lesa Arms (Practice Lead) 

 

Key Indicator – Reduce the number of children in the youth justice system 

1.  Continued Development of a single referral route 

for targeted diversion intervention for the third 

sector, complimenting existing targeted youth 

work offer through the Family Hubs and PCSOs 

by the Violence Reduction Team. 

 

Tracking off all children arrested, and intervention 

pathways through targeted third sector provision 

(for example, St Giles) 

 

Rebecca Farr 

(Partnerships Inspector) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership Strategy and 

Action Plan 

 

HMIP South Gloucestershire (2021) 

Report 

2.  CYJS review of arts-based intervention offers and 

review against areas for Artsmark Award through 

the Arts Council. 

Nick Jeffreys 

(Operational Lead) and 

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2  Improved arts 

offer for 

children  

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest 
Reduced use of 
custody 
 

HMIP Sandwell Inspection (2018) 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

3.  Coventry Youth Partnership to present the 

mentoring dashboard for early offers to 

Management Board 

Rashid Bhayat  (Positive 

Youth Foundation) 

End of Q2 Increased 

strategic 

engagement 

with  the 3rd 

sector 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

Punishing Abuse Report  (2021) 

Domain 1 Self- Assessment 

4.  Continued roll out and evaluation of the Youth 

Worker offer following Police Only Community 

Resolutions – quarterly updates  

 

Nigel Patterson (Early 

Help Manager) 

End of Q4 Improved 

diversion 

pathways 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB 

 

OOCD Strategy 2021 

P
age 73



50 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

5.  Diversion Offer numbers to increase and external 

evaluation to be progressed; the evaluation will 

include the Police referral pathway to appropriate 

community offers at the point of arrest. 

 

 

Lesa Arms (CYJS Team 

Manager) and Tony 

Halon (Sgt Partnerships 

End of Q3 Improved 

diversion 

pathways 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB 

6.  Continued review of regional/national offers for 

Outcome 22 and local pilot; review following 

publication of the Turning Point Project; Chance to 

Change that is expected to be published in 

2022/23 

Nick Jeffreys 

(Operational Lead) and 

Ryan Chambers 

(Detective Chief 

Inspector FCID) 

End of Q2 Improved 

diversion 

pathways 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

HMIP Annual Report 2021/22 

 

OOCD Strategy 2021 

7.  Review funding for Violence Reduction 

Partnership Programme Manager  

Management Board  End of Q3 Resources for 

responding to 

teenage 

children is best 

utilised to meet 

their needs. 

Management 
Board Attendance 
at a Senior Level 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership Strategy and 

Action Plan 

8.  Life skills programme to be developed mirroring 

the programme delivered in the Through Care 

Service and use of the Training Flat 

 

 

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q4 Children closing 

to CYJS have 

skills to live 

independently  

Reduced re- 
offending/arrest 
 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

9.   Resilience analysis for children open to YJS to 

inform early offers.  

 

 

 

Racheal 

DamhuisBoogers 

(Specialist Mental Health 

Practitioner 

(YOT/CAMHS)) 

End of Q3 Improved 

health 

assessing 

and offers 

to children 

Improve access to 
mental healthcare 
for children 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

Systemic Resilience – HMIP Academic 

Insights (2022)  

10.  Toolkit of tiered interventions across the City to be 

shared across the Partnership 

Eve Linstead (Education 

Lead)  

End of Q4 Improved 

diversion 

pathways 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB 

 

Coventry Youth Violence 

Prevention Partnership Strategy and 

Action Plan 

11.   Management Board review of Turnaround Funding 

and expansion of existing early help offers.   

Management Board End of Q2 Improved 

diversion 

pathways 

Reduced number 
of first-time 
entrants 

Early Help Action Plan – Crime and ASB 

 

MOJ 2022 – Turnaround Scheme 

 

Making a difference, Reduce reoffending/Safer communities, Safer children  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 3 

National Standard 5 
Education, Training and Employment – Rachael Sugars/Jas Madahar (Board Member Sponsor), Eve Linstead (Practice Lead) 
 
Key Indicator – Improve ETE engagement and attainment for children in the youth justice system 

P
age 74



51 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

1.  Management Board review of the progression of 

the Education Violence Reduction Action Plan  

 

 

 

Edouard Baynes Clarke 

(Schools Violence 

Reduction Lead) 

End of Q3 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Education violence reduction strategy (2020) 

2.  Seconded Speech and Language complete a 

Service needs assessment and present to 

Management Board, alongside development of 

an awareness video on children with speech 

and language needs.  

Nikki Holmes (Vanguard 

(TIRS) Project Manager 

- NHS Coventry and 

Warwickshire ICB) and 

Eve Linstead (Education 

Lead) 

End of Q3 Improved 

identification 

and offer to 

children with 

speech, 

language, and 

communication 

needs. 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

 
Reduced 

re-offending/arrest 

SEND inspection 2019 
 
Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

Neurodiversity – a whole-child approach 

for youth justice – Kirby (2021) 

 
 

3.  Review of Key Stage 4 – identification of good 

practice examples and consideration for 

learning – presentation to management Board 

for actions where identified.  

 

 

Kevin Coughlan 

(Performance Manager) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

Understanding the educational background 
of young offenders (DFE, 2019) 
 
Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

4.   Continued development of identification of 
sympathetic local employers  

Hannah Parry 

(Prospects 

- Senior Careers 

Adviser) and Eve 

Linstead (Education 

Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved 

employment 

pathways 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

HMIP Annual Report (2020) 
Interim QA Analysis 

5.  Coordination of the 2nd year of the Chances 

Programme delivered by Positive Youth Foundation  

 

 

Rachael Sugars (Head 

of Service – Education 

Improvement and 

Standards) and Jo Monk 

(Inclusion and 

Attendance Manager) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification 

children at 

highest risk 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Injustice or in justice – Children’s 
Commissioner – 2020 
 
Custody Learning 2021 

6.  Review of the ‘Back on Track’ Programe by 

Wolverhampton Youth Justice Service  

Matthew Haynes (YJS 

Team Manager) 

End of Q3 Improved 

pathways for 

children back 

into 

mainstream 

school  

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Wolverhampton Inspection (2022) 

P
age 75



52 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

7.  Continued AQA accrediting of all interventions Eve Linstead (Education 

Lead) 

End of Q4  Improved 

employment 

pathways 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

HMIP Birmingham Inspection (2020) 
 
Youth Justice Plan 2021 

8.  Review datasets for school age and non-school 

age children considering family group/national 

comparisons, particularly around educational 

attachment. Prospects to develop a comparator 

data set across neighbours where commissioned – 

consider attainment (levels) for end of Year 13; to 

include tracking of cohort to understand young 

person’s educational journey.   

 

Rachael Sugars (Head 

of Service – Education 

Improvement and 

Standards) and Jas 

Madahar (Operations 

Manager, Young People 

& Families Coventry & 

Warwickshire) 

End of Q2 Ensure Board 

Members have 

a thorough 

understand of 

relevant KPIs 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

Understanding the educational background 
of young offenders (DFE, 2019) 

9.  Management Board Review of children at risk of 

not being included in education (RONI)/ / local ‘out 

of sight’ dataset to consider the robustness of early 

pathways.  

 

Rachael Sugars (Head 

of Service – Education 

Improvement and 

Standards) and Ed 

Baynes Clarke (Schools 

Violence Reduction 

Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved 

pathways for 

children back 

into 

mainstream 

school 

Improved ETE 

attendance and 

attainment 

Timpson Review 2019 
 
Custody Learning 2021 

Workforce valued, motivated, skilled, confident, and sustainable  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 1, Priority 1 & 2 

National Standards 1 - 5 
Workforce Development – Mamps Gill (Board Member Sponsor), Nick Jeffreys (Practice Lead) 
 
Key Indicator – Improve feedback from children/family/parents and victims of crime 

1.  Develop a pathway for completion of the 

foundation degree in Youth Justice– 1st 

employee enrolled 

Sarb Bhambra (Principal 

Social Worker) and Nick 

Jeffreys (YJS Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q3 Practitioners 

will be part way 

through a 

Youth 

Justice Degree 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

2.  Re-completion of YJS Matrix and subsequent 

review of the training planner.  

 

  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q3  Improved team 

confidence, 

knowledge and 

skills 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 

 

HMIP Annual Report (2020) 

 

HMIP Resettlement Thematic (2021) (2021) 

(2021) 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

P
age 76



53 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

3.  Annual Team supervision survey Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved 

supervision 

framework 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Domain 1 self- assessment 

4.  Continue to explore possible ‘Positive Action’ 

recruitment to ensure the service better reflects 

the community and review example of best 

practice approaches from other Youth Justice 

Services. 

 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4  Increased 

team diversity 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 2021 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

5.  Review of the Workforce Development Strategy 

2021-23 Workforce Review in preparation for 

the - review team demographics/workforce 

development strategy for review in 2023 

 

  

Sarb Bhambra (Principal 

Social Worker) and Nick 

Jeffreys (YJS Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4 Increased 

team diversity 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 2021 

 

6.  Review of Champion Areas across the Service 

and re-sharing of the Champions list.  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

 

End of Q3 Improved 

service 

knowledge and 

expertise 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Domain 1 self- assessment 

7.  Exploration of a lived experienced   
apprenticeship  

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2 Increased 

team diversity 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 2021 

8.  Actions as per quality assurance framework Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4  The quality of 

will be of good 

or outstanding 

when 

measured 

against HMIP 

standards 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 

9.  Youth Justice Sector Improvement Partnership 

training offers to be attended by Team 

Managers and Senior Practitioners 

Nick Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead) 

End of Q4  The quality of 

will be of good 

or outstanding 

when 

measured 

against HMIP 

standards 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Workforce Development Analysis and 

Strategy (2021) 

P
age 77



54 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

10.  Once the YJB Grant is confirmed, Children’s 

Services Senior Leadership Team to be with 

resourcing needs following the IT Needs 

Analysis  

 

 

Karyn Bacon (Business 

Systems Manager 

(Children’s Services)) and 

Nick Jeffreys (YJS 

Operational Lead) 

End of Q2 Improved IT 

support to 

CYJS 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Domain 1 self- assessment 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

11.  Team Gender Identity Training  

 

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q2 Improved team 

confidence, 

knowledge and 

skills 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

Team consultation and Section 8 

Service open and honest – listening, responsive, effective, and safe  YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3 & 4 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 3 & 4 

National Standards 4 and 5 
Continued National Standard Learning – Standards 4 and 5 – Kirsty Baker (Board Member Sponsor), Hannah Darby (Practice Lead) 
 
Key Indicator – Reduce reoffending by children in the youth justice system 

1.  Once the Youth National Offender Management in 

Custody (OMIC) process is published, to be 

considered locally for implementation and 

ratification in the local YOT to Probation transfer 

process.  

 

 

Abi Jones (Team 

Manager) 

End of Q2 Improved 
transition 

arrangements 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

National Standard Self- Assessment 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

2.  Review process for AssetPlus sharing with secure 

estates.  

 

 

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner) 

End of Q2 Ensure CYJS 
and Secure 

Estates have up 

to date shared 

assessments 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

National Standard Self- Assessment 
 

HMIP Camden (2020) Report 

3.  Continued Management Board tracking and 

oversight of children leaving custody, alongside 

reviewing the learning process to ensure 

dissemination and reflection across the whole 

partnership.  

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner) 

End of 

Q4  

Improved 

outcomes for 

children leaving 

custody 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

National Standard Self- Assessment  

 

Contextual Safeguarding (2020) HMIP 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

4.  Continue custody reviews for all children to assess 

learning and feed into Management Board action 

with learning presented to the Extended Health and 

Protection Managers Meeting 

Nick Jeffreys 

(Operational Lead) 

End of Q4  The quality of 

will be of good 

or outstanding 

when measured 

against HMIP 

standards 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

 

Reduced use of 

custody 

 

Resettlement Strategy – 

recommendations (2021) 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

P
age 78



55 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

5.  Individualised secure estate packs to be provided 

to families as required with support from 

Commissioning where appropriate.  

 

Stacey Brown 

(YJS Senior 

Practitioner) and 

Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development 

Officer) 

End of Q4  Improved 

outcomes for 

children leaving 

custody 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

National Standard Self- Assessment 

6.  Development of Probation and Prospects Pathway 

for Young Adults.  

 

Jas Madahar (Operations 

Manager, Young People 

& Families Coventry & 

Warwickshire) and Matt 

Sharp (Senior Probation 

Officer - Coventry 

Probation) 

End of Q2 Improved 

access to ETE 

for young adults 

Improved ETE 

engagement and 

attainment 

Coventry Youth Violence Prevention 

Partnership Strategy and Action Plan 

 

7.  Review of children’s experience of custody  through 

1 to 1 engagement to inform review of resettlement 

strategy 6-month specific  

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner) 

and Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q3 Improve 

understanding 

of children’s lived 

experience 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

HMIP Report -Children in  Custody (2019-

20) 

8.  Parents Against Child Exploitation (PACE) Training 
Programme across Horizon and YJS  
 
 

Becky Pearson (Child 

Exploitation 

Coordinator) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Resettlement Strategy – recommendations 

(2021) 

9.  Resettlement Key Worker support offer reviewed, 

alongside regional St Giles Resettlement Service  

 

 

Stacey Brown (YJS 

Senior Practitioner) 

and Tianne Peynado 

(Engagement and 

Development Officer) 

End of Q4  Increased 

mentoring 

access by 

children 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Resettlement Strategy– recommendations 

(2021) 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

10.  Annual programme established for exploitation 

awareness raising training across CYJS, Horizon, 

Children’s Services, School, and the Police. 

Becky Pearson (Child 

Exploitation 

Coordinator) 

End of Q4 Earlier 

identification of 

needs 

Reduced incidents 

of serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Resettlement Strategy– recommendations 

(2021) 

P
age 79



56 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

11.  National Standard re-assessment following final 

recommendations from the Service review being 

undertaken by Lee Westlake. The re-assessment 

will put specific focus on exit strategies for 

children’s transitions ending to CYJS and the 

sequencing of interventions based on need 

prioritization.  

  

CYJS Management 

Team 

End of Q4 The quality of 

will be of good 

or outstanding 

when measured 

against HMIP 

standards 

Increased and 

improved 

child/family/parent 

feedback 

CYJS Auditing 2021/22  

 

HMIP Annual Report 2021 

Service open and honest – listening, responsive, effective and   YJB Child First Principles: Principle 3 & 4 

YJB Strategic Pillars: Pillar 3, Priority 3 & 4 

National Standards 1 - 5 

Addressing Disproportionately - Overall Leads – Sharon Bolesworth (Board Member Sponsor), Abi Jones (Practice Lead) 

 

Key Indicator – Reduce racial disparity for children in the youth justice system 

1.  Top tips for working with girls in the Youth 

Justice System and local bespoke offer enacted  

 

 

Abi Jones (YJS 

Team Manager) 

End of Q4 Improved 

transition 

arrangements 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

National Standard Self- Assessment 

 

Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

2.  Specific inclusion within the Early Help strategy 

to support black and dual heritage boys to feed 

into reducing their overrepresentation in the 

criminal justice system; this will then feed into all 

strategies across Children’s Services.  

Nigel Patterson 

(Early Help 

Manager) 

End of Q3 Reduce racial 

disparity in the 

youth justice 

system  

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice 
system: 2020/21 
 
Lammy Review (2017) 
 

YJB Disproportionality Assessment 

(2021/22) 

 

HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black 

and Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS 

(2021) 

3.  CYJS team to have attended cultural awareness 

training to ensure they are empowered to have 

culturally competent conversations with all 

children about their identity.  

Abi Jones (YJS 

Team Manager) 

End of Q3 Reduce racial 

disparity in the 

youth justice 

system 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice 
system: 2020/21 
 
Lammy Review (2017) 
 

YJB Disproportionality Assessment 

(2021/22) 

 

HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black 

and Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS 

(2021) 

 

Plymouth YJS Inspection (2022) 

P
age 80



57 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

4.  Exploration with the Insight Team how diversity 

information can be incorporated into Coventry’s 

Strategic Joint Needs Assessment to help all 

colleagues better understand the 

intersectionality of diversity issues and be able 

to identify themes and patterns, leading to 

targeted support and intervention.  

Abi Jones (YJS 

Team Manager) 

End of Q4 Reduce racial 

disparity in the 

youth justice 

system 

 Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice 
system: 2020/21 
 
Lammy Review (2017) 
 

YJB Disproportionality Assessment 

(2021/22) 

 

HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black and 
Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS (2021) 

5.  Nick Jeffreys to make a specific formal request 

of the Children’s Services Leadership Team for 

disproportionality to feature in the Coventry 

safeguarding Children’s Partnership priorities 

either as a stand alone priority, or as a key 

feature in every other priority to ensure 

disproportionality is tracked and evaluated using 

a secure multi-agency process. By the end of 

Q2. 

 

Nick Jeffreys 

(YJS Operational 

Lead) and Neil 

McDonald 

(Strategic Lead – 

Quality 

Assurance) 

End of Q2 Reduce racial 

disparity in the 

youth justice 

system 

Reduce incidents 

of serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice 
system: 2020/21 
 
Lammy Review (2017) 
 

YJB Disproportionality Assessment 

(2021/22) 

 

HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black and 
Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS (2021) 

6.  The Task and Finish HMIP disproportionality 

group to have understood from the placements 

team how diversity issues form a part of 

placement requests and seek to support any 

possible areas for development.  

 

Abi Jones (YJS 

Team Manager) 

and Shoayb 

Khalifa 

(Operational 

Lead, 

Placements) 

End of Q3 Reduce racial 

disparity in the 

youth justice 

system 

Reduce incidents 

of serious youth 

violence in the city 

and reduce the 

number of children 

presenting at A&E 

for such injuries. 

Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice 
system: 2020/21 
 
Lammy Review (2017) 
 

YJB Disproportionality Assessment 

(2021/22) 

 

HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black and 
Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS (2021) 

7.  The procurement of St Giles and Guiding Young 

Minds (Youth Engagement projects) for the 

coming year 2022-23, to improve the diversity of 

offer to children, as part of PCC Plan, and offers 

to children at medium/high risk of exploitation  

Stacey Brown 

(YJS Senior 

Practitioner) 

End of Q4  Improved 

diversity of offer 

and support 

over- 

representative - 

entry  

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Workforce Development Analysis and 
Strategy (2021) 
 
HMIP Thematic – Experiences of Black and 
Mixed Heritage Children in the YJS (2021) 
 
Punishing Abuse Report (2021) 

 

Youth Justice Plan 2021 

 

8.  Management Board of the ‘levelling the 

playing field’ mentoring offer and clear 

mentoring pathway defined between CYJS 

and Horizon. 

Rashid Bhayat  (Positive 

Youth Foundation) 

End of Q2 Increased 

engagement 

with the 3rd 

sector 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Domain 1 Self- assessment 
 
Mentoring and Peer Mentoring (2021) HMIP 

 

P
age 81



58 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

Improvement and Business Plan 

 

  
Action 

 
Lead 

 
By When 

 
Outcomes 

 
Indicator 

Relates Plans/Papers/Source 

Documents 

9.  Kitchen Table Talks to be available to 

CYJS and Horizon, and local parenting 

peer group developed  

Mandy Allen (YJS 

Parenting Lead) 

End of Q2 Reduce racial 

disparity in the 

youth justice 

system 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

West Midlands Violence Reduction Unit 

Evaluation - Serious Youth Violence 

pathfinder: Evaluation report – April 2021 

10.  Reducing the Unnecessary criminalisation of Looked 
After Children reviewed and impact analysis.   
 

Natasha Stirling 

(Operational Lead – 

Through Care) and Nick 

Jeffreys (Operational 

Lead YJS) 

End of Q4 Reduce the 

number of 

Children 

Looked After in 

YJS 

Reduced number 

of first-time 

entrants 

Reduced re- 

offending/arrest 

Reduced use of 

custody 

Section 8 Analysis 2022 

11.  Management Board to be presented within the 
quarterly Management Board Reports a breakdown 
of Children’s Services involvement with children 
open to CYJS for consideration/action where 
needed.  
 
 

Dave Woodhouse (Lead 

Data Analyst) 

End of Q2 Ensure Board 

Members have 

a thorough 

understand of 

relevant KPIs 

Management 

Board Attendance 

at a Senior Level 

Section 8 Analysis 2022 

P
age 82



Appendix - 59 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

 
 

Sign off, submission and approval 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

………………………………………………….… (Signature) 
 

John Gregg - Director of Children’s Services for Coventry (Management Board Chair) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
………………………………………………….… (Signature) 

 

Daryl Lyons Chief Inspector, Crime Manager, Coventry Neighborhood Policing Unit 
 
 
 
 
 
 

………………………………………………….… (Signature) 
 

Kirsty Baker – Head of Coventry Probation Delivery Unit  

 
 
 
 

 

………………………………………………….… (Signature) 
 

Heather Kelly – Head of Transformation (Children and Young people), NHS 

Coventry, and Warwickshire Integrated Care Board 

 

 

Date: 21.07.2022 

 
 
 

Page 83



Appendix - 60 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 Update 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Management Board Membership 
 

Name Title Attendance* 

Daryl Lyons  Chief Inspector, Crime Manager, Coventry Neighborhood 

Policing   Unit - West Midlands Police. Previously Paul Southern  

Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4 

Jas Madahar Operations Manager, Coventry & Warwickshire Prospects 
Service 

Q1, Q3, Q4 

Heather Kelly Head of Transformation (Children and Young people), NHS 

Coventry, and Warwickshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Q1, Q2 (interim 

member 

attended) Q3 

Chris Evans Associate Director of Operations, Mental Health Services for 

Children & Young People, Coventry & Warwickshire 

Partnership NHS Trust 

Q2, Q3, Q4 

John Gregg (Chair) Director of Children’s Services for Coventry, Coventry City 
Council 

Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4 

Sue Robertson  Chair of the Youth Panel Q1, Q3, Q4 

Sharon Bolesworth Positive Choices Service Manager Q1, Q3 

Jim Horgan Head Teacher, Coventry Virtual School (formerly LACES), 
Coventry City Council 

Q2, Q3, Q4 

Racheal Sugars Head of Service, Education Entitlement, Coventry City Council Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4 

Nigel Paterson Early Help Manager, Early Help & Family Hubs (Central), 

Coventry City Council 

Q1, Q2, Q3 

 Caroline Ryder Violence Prevention - Programme Manager 

(Shared post Coventry City Council and West Midlands Police) 

Q2, Q3, Q4 

Craig Hickin Head of Environmental Services, Street Scene & Regulatory 

Services, Coventry City Council 

Q4 

(representative 

attended Q1, 

Q2, Q3) 

Kirsty Baker 
(Deputy Chair) 

Head of Coventry Probation Delivery Unit Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4 

Chris Heeley  Strategic Lead for Help and Protection, Coventry City Council   Q1, Q4 

Mamps Gill Youth Justice Board - Head of Innovation & Engagement – 
Midlands 

 

Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4 

 
*Attendance does not include deputies unless specified. Where members have changed mid-year, attendance has been included 
from the predecessor. Two additional Board Member development events took place on 4th May 2022 and 23rd November 2021.  

 

2021/22 Board Dates:  
 

• Quarter 1 – 12th August 2021 

• Quarter 2 – 18th November 2021 

• Quarter 3 – 10th February 2022 

• Quarter 4 – 12th May 2022 
 

Page 84



Appendix - 61 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 

 

Appendix 2: Workforce  

    Structure   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 85



Appendix - 62 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 

Appendix 2: Workforce Structure Demographics  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Female
79%

Male
21%

Sex

P
age 86



Appendix - 63 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 

Appendix 3: Budget and Spend 2022/23 
 

CYJS Finance Tables (2022/23) 

 

 

P
age 87



Appendix - 64 | Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 

 

 

 

Appendix 3: Budget and Spend 2022/23 

 
 

ppendix - 56 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 
 

Appendix 3: Workforce Informatio 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 88



Appendix - 65 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23  

 Appendices 4 – Quality Assurance Activity Schedule  

 COVENTRY CHILDREN'S SERVICES - CYJS 

 Quality Assurance Activity Schedule: 1st April 2022– 31st March 2023 

 Youth Justice Service 

 
Theme Purpose 

Context / 
Source 

Auditors   Apr May Jun Jul  Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar   Comments 

 

Practice 
Observations 

Review the quality of child sessions.  

All HMIP 
Domains and 

National 
Standards 

CYJS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

     x     x      x       

  

Frequency may be higher, dependent on audit learning. Individual 
learning areas to be action/tracked in supervision, and broader learning 
will be completed through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - Out 

of Court 
Disposals 

To test the application of Association of 
Chief Police Officers (ACPO) Gravity 
Matrix (2013) and the Youth Out of 
Court Disposals; Guide for Police and 
Youth Offending Services; are decisions 
in line with this and, where 
appropriate, appropriate escalation has 
taken place.  

HMIP Domain 
3 and 

National 
Standard 2/ 

ACPO 
Guidance  

Lead Manager 
 

Operational Lead 
 

CYJS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - 

PACE - 
Quarterly 

Board Report 

To test the application of the Police 
and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) 
(1984), are decision in line with this 
and, where appropriate, has sufficient 
challenge taken place.  

HMIP Domain 
2/3 and 
National 

Standard 2/3 
PACE (1984) 

Lead Manager 
 

Operational Lead 
 

CYJS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - 

Remands - 
Quarterly 

Board Report 

To test the application of Legal Aid 
Sentencing Punishment of Offender's 
Act (2012) - are decisions in line with 
the guidance and has the Service taken 
appropriate action to offer appropriate 
community measures, where 
appropriate. 

Legal Aid 
Sentencing 
Punishment 

of Offender's 
Act (2012)/ 

National 
Standard 4  

Lead Manager 
 

Operational Lead 
 

CYJS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Threshold 
Analysis - First 
Time Entrants 

- Quarterly 
Board Report 

To test the application of YJB and ACPO 
guidance, are decisions in line with 
guidance and do interventions reflect 
assessed need. 

ACPO 
Guidance/HM
IP Domain 1 
Governance 

Operational Lead 
 

CYJS Management 
Board 

  

  x     x     x     x   

  

Reviewed through quarterly Management Board and actions then 
monitored through the Board 

 

Youth Justice 
Board 

National 
Standard Self-

Assessment  

 
To test the embedment of new 
guidance introduced across 2020/21 
following the National Standard Self-
Assessment in early 2019/20.  
 
  

All HMIP 
Domains and 

National 
Standards 

CYJS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

 x  x  x 
 
x
  

 x x   x x  x x  x  x 

  

Actions for National Standard progression covered in the 2021/22 Action 
Plan.   
 
Individual learning areas to be action/tracked in supervision, and broader 
learning will be completed through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 

 

Supervisions 
Annual Supervision Staff Review HMIP Domain 

1 Governance 
Operational Lead 

  

      
x
  

               

  

Any feedback to be provided direct to Team Manager and associated 
development actions monitored for completion through supervision.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 

 
                

 
 

P
age 89



Appendix - 66 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23  

 

 Theme Purpose 
Context / 

Source 
Auditors  Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar  Comments 

 

AssetPlus 
Timeliness 

 
To ensure assessments are completed 
in a timely manner.  
 
  

National 
Standard 2 

and 3 

CYJS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

x   x x  
 
x
  

 x  x x  x  x x  x  x 

  

Any associated actions will be reviewed through Management Meetings 
and Service learning delivered through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 

 

AssetPlus 
Quality 

Assurance 

All AssetPlus assessments to be quality 
assured and feedback provided where 
amendments are required. 
 
Timeliness of assessments reviewed 
through weekly CYJS Management 
Meeting.  

All HMIP 
Domains and 

National 
Standards 

All CYJS Team 
Managers and 

Senior Practitioners 

  

x x x x x x x x x x x x 

  

Continually completed with timeliness tracked through CYJS Management 
Meetings on a weekly basis. Any associated actions will be reviewed 
through Management Meetings and Service learning delivered through 
practitioner’s monthly workshops. 

 

Missing 
Reporting 

All Missing Notifications provided to 
CYJS for relevant children and Return 
Home Interviews.  

National 
Standard 3  

 
Lead Manager 

  

  x     x     x     x   
  

Ongoing action being monitored on a quarterly basis through CYJS 
Management Meeting. 

 

Report 
Gatekeeping 

Quality Assurance for all Pre-Sentence 
Reports. 

National 
Standard 2 

and 4 

All CYJS Team 
Managers 

  

x x x x x x x x x x x x 

  

Continually completed with timeliness tracked through CYJS Management 
Meetings on a weekly basis. Any associated actions will be reviewed 
through Management Meetings and Service learning delivered through 
practitioner’s monthly workshops. 

 

Supervision 
Observations 

Observations of supervision to be 
undertaken (one per manager) 

HMIP Domain 
2 and 3 Operational Lead   

                  x     
  

Any feedback to be provided direct to Team Manager and associated 
development actions monitored for completion through supervision.  

 

Direct Work 
Observations 

Observations of practice to be 
undertaken (min one per staff member 
over 12month period) 

HMIP Domain 
2 and 3 

All CYJS 
Management 

  

                      x 
  

Individual learning areas to be action/tracked in supervision, and broader 
learning will be completed through practitioners’ monthly workshops. 
Higher frequency where needs identified and as part of other processes 
(for example, probation/induction period).   

 

External 
Review 

To ensure that practice is in line with 
the HMIP Standards 2 and 3 and 
identify further areas for development.   

HMIP 2 and 3 Lee Westlake Ltd 

 

x x x x x x       
 

The monthly auditing has fed into the key areas of exploration, namely a 
focus on risk/contingency planning.  

P
age 90



Appendix - 67 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 

Appendix 5- Performance Information 

 

First Time Entrants Reoffending 

  
Table 1: FTEs per 100,000 of the 10–17-year-old population, Coventry YJS 2018-22 

 
 

Use of Custody 

 

Table 3: Custodial sentences as a rate per 1,000 of the 10–17-year-old 
population, Coventry YJS 2017-2022 

Table 2: Children/Young People reoffending within a year, Coventry YJS 2016-2020 

 
 

Use of Remand 
 

 
Table 4: New remand episodes per 1,000 of the 10–17-year-old population, 
Coventry YJS 2017-2022 

P
age 91



Appendix - 68 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 
 

Custody and Remand Accommodation 

  
Table 5: New episodes of custody and remand, Coventry YJS 2017-22 (10-17 Year old’s) 

 
Education, Training and Employment 

 

Table 7: Engagement in suitable ETE by local assessment and by the YJB national 
standard, 2018-22 

Table 6: Suitable accommodation, Coventry YJS 2018-22 

 
 

Gender 
  

 
Table 8: Gender profile of children with proven offences, Coventry YJS 2021-22 

P
age 92



Appendix - 69 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 
 

Offences 
 

Table 9: Offences by offence type, Coventry YJS 2017-2022 

P
age 93



 

Appendix - 70 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 
Ethnicity 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Table 10: Ethnic profile of young people with proven offences, open to Coventry YJS 31/03/2022 Table 11: Ethnic profile of young people in Coventry Secondaries 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 12: Over and Under Representation by Ethnicity as per Table 10 and 11 data 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 94



 

Appendix - 71 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23 
 

 
Ethnicity 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 13: Relative representation in custodial sentencing      Table 14: Ethnicities of custodial sentences for children - 2021-22 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 95



Appendix - 72 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23  

 

Appendix 7 – Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations 
 
 

ACE Adverse childhood experience. Events in the 
child’s life that can have negative, long 
lasting impact on the child’s health, and life 
choices  

AIM 2 and 3  Assessment, intervention and moving on, 
an assessment tool and framework for 
children who have instigated harmful sexual 
behaviour 

ASB Anti social behaviour 

AssetPlus  Assessment tool to be used for children 
who have been involved in offending 
behaviour  

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health services 

CCE Child Criminal exploitation, where a child is 
forced, through threats of violence, or 
manipulated to take part in criminal activity 

Children We define a child as anyone who has not 
yet reached their 18th birthday. This is in 
line with the United Nations Convention on 
the Rights of the Child and civil legislation 
in England and Wales. The fact that a child 
has reached 16 years of age, is living 
independently or is in further education, is 
a member of the armed forces, is in 
hospital or in custody in the secure estate, 
does not change their status or 
entitlements to services or protection. 

Child First  A system wide approach to working with 
children in the youth justice system. There 
are four tenants to this approach, it should 
be: developmentally informed, strength 
based, promote participation, and 
encourage diversion  

Child looked-after Child Looked After, where a child is looked 
after by the local authority  

CME Child Missing Education 

Constructive resettlement  The principle of encouraging and 
supporting a child’s positive identity 
development from pro-offending to pro-
social 

Contextual safeguarding An approach to safeguarding children which 
considers the wider community and peer 
influences on a child’s safety 

Community resolution Community resolution, an informal disposal, 
administered by the police, for low level 
offending where there has been an 
admission of guilt  

EHCP Education and health care plan, a plan 
outlining the education, health and social 
care needs of a child with additional needs  

ETE Education, training or employment 

EHE Electively home educated, children who are 
formally recorded as being educated at 

Page 96



Appendix - 73 |Youth Justice Plan 2021-23  

home and do not attend school  

EOTAS Education other than at school, children 
who receive their education away from a 
mainstream school setting  

FTE First Time Entrant. A child who receives a 
statutory criminal justice outcome for the 
first time (youth caution, youth conditional 
caution, or court disposal  

HMIP  Her Majesty Inspectorate of Probation. An 
independent arms-length body who inspect 
Youth Justice services and probation 
services  

HSB  Harmful sexual behaviour, developmentally 
inappropriate sexual behaviour by children, 
which is harmful to another child or adult, 
or themselves  

JAC Junior Attendance Centre 

MAPPA  Multi agency public protection 
arrangements 

MFH  Missing from Home  

NRM  National Referral Mechanism. The national 
framework for identifying and referring 
potential victims of modern slavery in order 
to gain help to support and protect them  

OOCD Out-of-court disposal. All recorded disposals 
where a crime is recorded, an outcome 
delivered but the matter is not sent to court  

Outcome 22/21  An informal disposal, available where the 
child does not admit the offence, but they 
undertake intervention to build strengths to 
minimise the possibility of further offending  

Over-represented children Appearing in higher numbers than the local 
or national average 

RHI  Return home Interviews. These are 
interviews completed after a child has been 
reported missing 

SLCN Speech, Language and communication 
needs 

STC Secure training centre  

SCH Secure children’s home 

Young adult We define a young adult as someone who 
is 18 or over. For example, when a young 
adult is transferring to the adult probation 
service. 

YJS Youth Justice Service. This is now the 
preferred title for services working with 
children in the youth justice system. This 
reflects the move to a child first approach  

YOI Young offender institution  
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report 
Cabinet Report 

 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 11th October 2022 
Council 18th October 2022 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People – Councillor P Seamen 

 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Children’s Services 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Family Hub and Start for Life Programme  
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
Yes - the proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum and are likely to 

have a significant impact on residents or businesses two or more electoral wards in the 
City. 

 

 
Executive Summary: 
 

The Council currently operates 8 Family Hubs to deliver place-based integrated offer to families 
across the city, including the offer from the buildings, through an outreach model and a developing 
digital offer. 

Coventry City Council has been selected to apply to join the national Family Hub and Start for Life 
Programme (first 1001 days), with financial investment to strengthen its offer to babies, children 
and families building on the achievements to date. 

This programme will attract between £4.06m - £4.25m grant funding across the 3 years 2022/23 
to 2024/25 to deliver the programme objectives. In addition to this Coventry City Council can bid 
for additional trailblazer funding of £183k during 2022/23 allowing us to be one of the first 15 Local 
Authorities to lead the way in delivering the programme.   

This report includes an overview of the Family Hub and Start for Life Programme and the funding 
that Coventry City Council is eligible for. The report includes a description of key service priorities, 
including a focus on community outreach and engagement with communities to ensure the co-
production of the maturity and expansion of family support services. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



 

2 
 

 
1) Note the proposals of the Family Hub and Start for Life programme and Trailblazer programme. 
 
Cabinet is requested to recommend that Council: 

 
1) Accepts the grant funding for the purposes outlined in this report in respect of the Family Hub 

and Start for Life programme and the Trailblazer programme, in the event that that the City 
Council is successful in its grant bid the City Council. 

2) Delegate authority to Director of Children’s services, following consultation with the Chief 
Operating Officer and Chief Legal Officer, to agree and sign any grant agreement. 

3) Agree that the Director of Children Services’ is named as the Single Accountable leader for 
the Start for Life Offer. 

4) Agree that future reports on this grant and the Family Hub and Start for Life programme are 
received by the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Children Services  

 
Council is recommended to: 

 
1) Accept the grant funding for the purposes outlined in this report in respect of the Family Hub 

and Start for Life programme and the Trailblazer programme, in the event that that the City 
Council is successful in its grant bid the City Council. 

2) Delegate authority to Director of Children’s services, following consultation with the Chief 
Operating Officer and Chief Legal Officer, to agree and sign any grant agreement. 

3) Agree that the Director of Children Services’ is named as the Single Accountable leader for 
the Start for Life Offer. 

4) Agree that future reports on this grant and the Family Hub and Strat for Life programme are 
received by the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Children Services  

 
List of Appendices included: 
None 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
HM Government : The Best Start for Life : A vision fir the 1001 critical days 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?  
No 
 
 
Will this report go to Council?  

Yes, 18th October 2022 
 

Page 100

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973112/The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days.pdf


 

3 
 

Report title: Family Hub and Start for Life Programme  
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
 
1.1 Family Hubs are a place-based way of joining up services locally in the planning and 

deleivery of family services. They bring together services to improve access, build 
connections between families, practitioners, services and providers and put relationships 
at the heart of family support. Family hubs offer universal and targeted support to families 
with children of all ages up to 19 years and should provide support to families with young 
people with SEND up to 25 years.  A comprehensive and effective Start for Life offer (0-2 
years) should be at the core of the offer. 

 
1.2 Coventry has pioneered the development and delivery of a Family Hub offer since 2018, 

and there are currently 8 Family Hubs delivering services to children, young people and 
their families through place based integrated working by a range of services, with some 
outreach and an emerging digital offer. 

 
1.3 Coventry has been influential in the development of national and regional policy and 

practice regarding the development and deleivery of Family Hubs to deliver early help to 
children, young people and families through place-based integration of services and 
working with our communities and residents to ensure that their needs are met, and their 
strengths and assets are utilised to help others 

 
1.4 At the 2021 Autumn Budget, HM Government announced a three-year Family Hub and 

Start for Life Programme to deliver a step – change in outcomes for babies, children, young 
people, parents, and carers. As part of this the government allocated £301.75M to enable 
75 eligible Local authorities in England to deliver a package of family support and Start for 
Life services, a national programme jointly overseen by the Department of Health and 
Social Care and the Department for Education.  

 
1.5 Coventry Local Authority has been notified that it is eligible for an allocation of this funding, 

having been pre-selected using Income Deprivation Affecting Children Indices (IDACI), and 
has been invited to complete a sign-up application.  

 
1.6 The sign-up form for the Family Hubs and Start for Life Programme requires commitment 

to the programme and to confirm the ability to deliver the programme’s ask as outlined in 
the programme guide, and to consider applying to be a trailblazer LA at the same time. 

 
1.7 Trailblazers are a group of 15 selected Local authorities who will lead the way in delivering 

the programme, making the fastest and most ambitious improvements to services and 
establishing best practices to benefit all LAs delivering the programme. 

 
1.8 The funding is to enable and enhance the delivery of integrated family support for families 

with children of all ages, as well as Start for Life services (midwifery, health visiting, parent-
infant relationships and mental health, breastfeeding, safeguarding, and SEND offer) 

 
1.9 More specifically the funding must enhance the Family hub offer (building, outreach and 

digital offer) regarding parent- infant mental health support, infant feeding support services, 
evidence-based parenting programmes, and to publish a clear “Start for Life offer” and 
ensure that parents’ and cares’ voices are heard in the design and deleivery of services 
through Parent and Carer Panels.   

 
1.10 It is anticipated in Coventry that the total indicative allocation for the Family Hubs and Start 

for Life programme for Coventry is between £4.06m and £4.25m over three financial years 

Page 101



 

4 
 

of 2022-23, 2023-24 and 2024-25. A provisional breakdown of this allocation is outlined in 
table 1. 

 
Table 1: Provisional allocation for your Coventry local authority 

 

2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 Total 2022-2025 

Total  
Lower 
range 

Upper 
Range 

Lower 
Range 

Upper 
Range 

Lower 
Range 

Upper 
Range 

£1,037,000  £1,666,000  £1,775,000  £1,387,000  £1,472,000  £4,090,000  £4,284,000 
 

 
1.11 There are clear expectations regarding how the funding should be allocated to deliver the 

required funding services as indicated in table 2 (which will be enhanced in year 1 if 
Coventry is selected to be a Trailblazer LA) 

Workstream 
% 

Range of total funding Trailblazer 
funding  Lower Higher 

Family hubs programme spend 19.90% 813,910 852,516   
  
  
  

Family hubs capital spend 5.00% 
204,500 214,200 

Perinatal mental health and 
parent-infant relationships 

30.80% 
1,259,720 1,319,472 100,000 

Parenting support 16.10% 658,490 689,724 33,000 

Infant feeding support 15.40% 629,860 659,736 50,000 

Home learning environment 
services 

9.60% 
392,640 411,264 

  
  
  
  

Publishing ‘Start for Life’ offers 
and Parent and Carer Panels 

3.20% 
130,880 137,088 

Total  
£4,090,000 £4,284,000 £183,000 

 
1.12 The Family Hub programme guide sets the minimum and “go further” expectations for each 

of these offers, and as well as for the other services expected to be provided within a Family 
Hub offer (which are not additional funded). The sign-up application requires agreements 
to have been made as to which of the “go furthers” Coventry will commit to (across the three 
aspects of the services – in the building, within the community, and digitally) to be achieved 
by the end of the funded period. 

 
1.13 The trailblazer application (which must be completed at the same time) should include a 

description of the current Coventry offer and evidence of our achievements to date, and 
then our aspirations for innovative practice in year 1 to accelerate this offer. Trailblazers 
will be expected to deliver visible, tangible changes for families in the 2022-2023 financial 
year, which will then be sustained and improved over the rest of the programme. 

 
1.14 Trailblazers will be expected to make the quickest and most ambitious and innovative 

progress in delivering the Family Hubs and Start for Life programme. This will include going 
faster and harder in delivering new or improved services for at least one of the following 
areas funded: perinatal mental health and parent-infant relationships, infant feeding, and 
parenting support. Whilst trailblazers may be selected if applying for just one or two 
programmes, priority will be given to trailblazers that are ambitious and innovative across 
all three areas. Therefore, Coventry wishes to apply for all three aspects of the funding.  

 

Page 102



 

5 
 

1.15 Trailblazers will also be expected to share deleivery experience and expertise with other 
local authorities and the government.  Coventry is well positioned to take on this role, having 
established a “Lets’ Talk about Family Hubs” Community of Practice as part of the regional 
project in May 2022 in which Coventry lead an assessment over the 14 Local Authorities in 
the West Midlands ADCS network and designed a blueprint for the agile roll out of Family 
Hubs. 

 
1.16 All families need support from time to time to help their babies and children thrive and the 

ambition of the national Family Hub and Start for Life Programme is that every family will 
receive the support when they need it and should have access to the information and 
guidance that they need to care for and interact positively with their babies and children 
and to look after their own wellbeing. Investing in supporting families to care for their babies, 
children and young people has an important role to play in reducing health and educational 
inequalities, and improving their longer-term physical, emotional, cognitive and social 
outcomes. 

 
1.17 Local services (public and the voluntary, community and faith sector), working together and 

in partnership with families, all have a vital role to play in supporting all families.  Family 
Hubs are therefore positioned by the Government to be the universal offer to all families, 
with a mandate to improve the joining up between state and non-state services and taking 
a whole family approach to better support families to access the help that they need.  

 
1.18 Evidence is clear that identifying risks early and preventing problems from escalating leads 

to better long term- outcomes.  Universal services should therefore prioritise working within 
the Family Hub partnership offer and made available to all local families who need them to 
identify and respond to issues early before they develop into more complex problems.  This 
will mean that some families will need additional targeted help, and the Family Hub should 
continue to be an enabler and driver delivering early help to families in Coventry, with clear 
and accessible pathways to access targeted service offer and to intensive family support 
(Supporting Families)   

 
1.19 The first 1001 critical days, from conception to two years of age, is a time of rapid 

development and the experiences of a child during this time lay the foundation for life long 
emotional and physical health, Therefore the love, care and nurture that a baby experiences 
in this period is particularly important, in the context of families who are supported through 
advice, guidance and help to ensure that their children have the best start in life.  

 
1.20 In July 2020, the Prime Minister asked the Rt Hon Dame Andrea Leadsom MP to chair a 

review into improving health and developmental outcomes for babies in England, and the 
subsequent “The Best Start for Life: A vision for the 1001 Critical days” report was 
published.  The report identified support with breastfeeding, perinatal mental health, and 
parent– infant relationships as essential services which are vital to ensuring that every baby 
gets the best start in life. The programme therefore includes additional investment to ensure 
these essential services are available families who needs them in Coventry, through access 
to services in the hub buildings, through community outreach and in the digital domain. 

 
1.21 The COVID-19 pandemic has also had an impact on access to services for children and 

families and the evidence of this impact is continuing to emerge, such as increased demand 
for mental health services, concerns about children with developmental delay, and isolation 
for vulnerable families.  

 
1.22 It is therefore important that services reintegrate and work hard to restore existing and new 

services to help families get the support they need, building on the experience of good 
partnerships and new and flexible working practices, such as online support. 

 

Page 103



 

6 
 

1.23 The Family Hub programme’s objective is to join up and enhance services delivered 
through transformed family hubs, ensuring all parents and carers can access the support 
they need when they need it, with funding provided to enhance Coventry’s family hub 
model, improve the universal Start for Life offer and support the continued transformation 
of family support.  In summary the programme will: 

 
• provide support to parents and carers so they can nurture their babies 

and children, improving health and education outcomes for all 
 

• contribute to a reduction in inequalities in health and education outcomes for 
babies, children, and families across England by ensuring that support 
provided is communicated to all parents and carers, including those who are 
hardest to reach and/or most in need of it 

 
• build the evidence base for what works when it comes to improving health and 

education outcomes for babies, children, and families in different delivery 
contexts 

 
1.24 Further priorities for Coventry, which also reflect national guidance and good practice, 

include: 
 

• improving how local services share information and work together to provide holistic 
support for families, especially vulnerable families such as families with children with 
SEND, refugee and asylum-seeking families, and those not yet accessing services 
from our current Family Hubs 

• ensuring that the Start for Life offer is clear, accessible, and seamless  

• embedding the voices of parents and carers to co-produce the Family Hub offer and 
influence the continuous improvement of the offer  

• enhancing and expanding services which seek to identify and address needs 
at an early stage before more specialist support is required  

• ensuring additional targeted interventions which support vulnerable and 
under-served populations are included as part of the offer and delivered 
through the family hub model  

• supporting workforce capacity and capability through workforce models that 
incorporate skill mix, facilitating join-up of the multi-professional workforce to provide 
continuity of care to all families, improving multi-agency training, addressing existing 
skill gaps, and ensuring empathy is at the heart of practice 

• understanding what works and sharing best practice through robustly evaluating the 
Family Hub Offer against a set of measurable quantitative and qualitative objectives 
and contributing to the establishing of communities of practice 

1.25 The key principles and recommendations for the continued design and deliver of the Family 
Hub offer in Coventry should include  

 

1. Join-up of local partners involved in the early years and family support 
system – including local authorities, NHS, safeguarding, voluntary, community, faith 
and charity sector partners – to plan and deliver services in a place-based way, 

Page 104



 

7 
 

including co-location, which is aligned with other initiatives and relevant local 
strategies. 

2. Strong local leadership and a commitment across partners to prioritise the 
early years, and support families with children of all ages. The Director of 
Children’s Services will be the single accountable leader responsible for driving and 
overseeing improvements in Coventry’s Start for Life services. Local leadership should 
be assisted by the Early Help Partnership governance structure, a subgroup of the 
Coventry Safeguarding Children’ Partnership, which is inclusive of delivery partners 
and key stakeholders, to ensure that priorities are shared and understood, and that 
organisations encourage and challenge each other to deliver positive outcomes. 

3. A skilled workforce working in integrated ways to provide families with 
universal and targeted support, including creating capacity through new workforce 
models that incorporate skill mix and facilitate closer working across professions so 
that families receive the holistic, whole family support that they need as early and 
effectively as possible. 

4. Continuity of care between professionals and peer supporters, facilitated by 
the appropriate person for the family, to ensure families receive a seamless 
offer of support and do not have to repeat their story. Co-location of staff, appropriate 
data-sharing arrangements and join-up of case management systems play an 
important role in enabling this. 

5. Consultation with families, including young people, parents, and carers, to 
codesign and improve services. The family hub model includes community 
ownership and co-production with families, children, and young people. This 
programme provides funding to establish Parent and Carer Panels which will play a 
key role in designing and continuously improving family services, through regular 
feedback from families from different communities and with different needs. 

6. Safeguarding underpins all aspects of Start for Life and family services 
delivered through family hubs, as set out in ‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children’. The principles and duties of safeguarding children, young people, and 
adults at risk are integral to the Family Hub operating model. 

7. High quality and evidence-based support. Services commissioned to deliver within 
the Family Hub offer must be evidence-led and based on the best available evidence. 
Where there is no current evidence base there will be a focus on implementation 
science to develop a better understanding of “what works”. 

1.26 Coventry is required to use the funding to commit to delivering visible change for families 
within the first half of 2023 (calendar year) which may include  
 
• clearly communicated expansion of our co-located services  

• clear and enhanced opportunities for families to be involved in the co-design of 
family hubs through our Early Help advisory boards, governance, and in the delivery of 
services themselves, such as peer support programmes or mentoring schemes 

• adaptions to our family hubs buildings to improve the environment and suitability for 
different ages and needs 

• Expansion of operating hours 

Page 105



 

8 
 

1.27 The transformation funding is not intended to cover the operational costs of Family Hubs 
and Start for Life services. For family hub services that are not funded as part of the 
programme (as described in the programme guide), funding from existing funding sources 
will need to be continued.  
 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 That Coventry signs up to the national Family Hub and Start for Life Programme and applies 

to be a trailblazer, bringing its current offer into alignment with the national programme and 
maximising its universal place based early help offer to children, young people and families. 

 
2.2  A local population needs assessment should be undertaken in the first year of the 

programme (2022-2023).  
 
2.3 A delivery plan will be submitted by Dec 2022 that will demonstrate how the funding will be 

used to achieve the programme objectives, the overall ambition for the changes that are 
planned to take place in the next three years, including the “go further” options agreed to 
take forward, which will form an integral component of the Early Help Strategy.  

 
2.4 Coventry will also commit to work with the National Centre for Family Hubs and Start for 

Life Unit to share learning and best practice, implement central government branding 
requirements, to engage with the digital solutions being developed through the Family Hubs 
Growing Up Well project and Start for Life Unit’s work with NHSE to develop 
a Digital Personal Child Health Record, and agree to take part in the national evaluation of 
Family Hubs and Start for Life.   

 
2.5 Sign up to the programme will require the support from senior executives and leads across 

the Local Authority, the Integrated Care Board, elected members, and senior strategic 
leaders within the local services providers that are relevant to the programme including the 
local health, education, and social care system, and the Voluntary and Community Sector. 

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1 An analysis of the marketplace for services relevant to the funding and sign-up application 

(parenting support, perinatal mental health and parent - infant relationships, home learning 
environment support, infant feeding) is being conducted and there is opportunity for a range 
of services to be involved in delivering a comprehensive offer to families through the Family 
Hub Offer (in the building, through community outreach and virtually) 

 
3.2 Consultation with members of the public to understand preferred methods of service 

delivery, including focussed consultation with people from deprived neighbourhoods will 
inform the procurement dialogue process and will be designed to improve proactive 
engagement with specific communities. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
 
4.1 The invitation to sign up for the Family Hub programme (including the start for Life and 

trailblazer application) is the 30th of September, 2022.   
 
  

Page 106



 

9 
 

5. Comments from Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law 
and Governance 

 
5.1 Financial implications 

 
5.1.1 The existing family hub model in Coventry is funded by a combination of core and grant 

funding, including Strengthening Families grant and contributions from Public Health. 
 
5.1.2 This programme would attract additional grant funding of between £4.09m and £4.26m 

across three years, plus an additional £183k if the trailblazer application is successful 
 
5.1.3 This grant is not intended to cover the operational costs of Family Hubs and Start for Life 

services. For family hub services that are not funded as part of the programme (as 
described in the programme guide), funding from existing funding sources will need to be 
continued. 

 
5.1.4 The grant regime requires two returns per financial year: 
 

• An interim statement of grant usage that will detail on financial spend per funded service in 
the programme 

• An annual statement of grant usage at the end of the financial year that provides 
confirmation that expenditure was in line with the purposes specified in the grant 
determination letter 

 
Funding in years two and three is subject to satisfactory periodic review of delivery performance. 
 
5.1.5 Funding is expected to be spent in the financial year for which it is allocated, and not carried 

forward. This is a particular risk to the project in year 1, due to the timing of the 
announcement and agreement being mid-way 2022/23. To mitigate this risk, several 
actions have been identified that can be undertaken as soon as the funding is confirmed, 
so that change can be delivered at pace. Discussions are already underway with partners 
and stakeholders to ensure that they can deliver as necessary once the project officially 
starts.  

  
5.1.6 A full and detailed project budget will be drawn up as part of the delivery plan, against which 

project spend will be monitored. All required spend will be funded through the grant 
awarded and no match funding will be required.  

 
5.1.7 Careful consideration will need to be given to the action to be taken at the end of the grant 

regime, as this is time limited funding. If the grant ceases after the three years, then activity 
and provision will need to reduce back to levels that can be met within the existing budget 
envelop. However, the three-year timeframe gives opportunity to review and measure the 
impact of changes to service users during the project, and to incorporate best practice into 
the existing family hubs model when reviewing provision and delivery.  

  
 
5.2 Legal implications 
 
 The work of family hubs and the proposals outlined in this report supports the City Council’s 

duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are in need. 
The duty is a general duty to provide a range and level of services to Children in Need in 
the LAs area and not to a specific child. 

 . 
 
  

Page 107



 

10 
 

6. Other implications 
 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 The Family Hub and Start for life programme supports the One Coventry Corporate Plan’s 

vision to improve the quality of life for Coventry people by: 

• Improving educational outcomes 

• Making communities safer 

• Improving health and wellbeing 

• Protecting our most vulnerable people - Keeping children and adults safe from harm, 
Providing early intervention for families who need it; Enabling people to exercise choice 
and control in their daily lives ; Improving services for people experiencing domestic 
violence and Preventing homelessness and helping people who do become homeless 

• Reducing health inequalities – giving our children the best start in life and helping 
support people facing multiple and complex needs. 

 
 The integration of services to support children, young people and their families is a way of 

delivering the Council’s properties through active communities and empowering citizens 
and working together with partners across the voluntary, public and private sectors to 
• Enable residents to self-serve by maximising the use of new technology 
• Pool and share resources 
• Solve local problems 

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
6.2.1. The possibility of a failure to identify providers to deliver on each aspect of the funded 

programme is minimized as there is already Family Hubs in place with a range of agencies 
and service providers committed to the programme, and a wider early help partnership offer 
to draw from.   

 
6.2.2  The risks associated with possible failure to deliver on the key priorities of the programme 

and the requirements of the grant are mitigated using expert personnel who are highly 
experienced in developing and delivering national programmes, and who will be supported 
and advised by personnel from the Family Hubs Start for Life Unit, DHSC. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 Delivering effective prevention and early help for children and their families to secure 

positive outcomes is a significant priority for many functions of the City Council, including 
Children’s Services, Safeguarding, Education, Migration, Employment and Skills and Public 
Health.  It is anticipated that the transformation and development of our Family Hub 
programme in alignment to the National programme specification will further improve the 
deleivery of integrated early help and prevention services. 

 
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
 An Equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken in 2018 at the commencement of the 

Coventry Family Hub programme. 
 
 The Family Hub and Start for Life Programme will provide city wide support to children, 

young people and families and will enhance the work to reduce inequalities and outcomes 
for children, young people, and their families in need of early help. The programme will 
prioritise engagement with vulnerable communities including those seldom heard or less 
reached including children with disabilities, refugee and asylum-seeking families, families 

Page 108

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

11 
 

experiencing homelessness, young carers, minoritized families and families living in 
poverty. 

 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 
 There are no implications 
 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 A wide range of partner agencies (statutory, commissioned, and voluntary and community 

sector) take an active role in the Early Help Strategic Partnership which will provide the 
governance for this work, as a subgroup of the Coventry Safeguarding Children 
Partnership. A One Coventry approach is taken by this Strategic Partnership.  

 
 

Page 109



 

12 
 

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Jane Moffat, Early Help Manager and Lead for Family Hub Development  
Chris Heeley, Strategic Lead Help and Protection 
 
Service: 
Help & Protection, Children’s Services  
 
Tel and email contact: 

Jane Moffat : 02476 979299 Jane.Moffat@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Lara Knight Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator 

Law and 
Governance 

20.9.2022 21.9.2022 

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(officers and members) 

    

Finance : Tina Pinks Finance 
Manager 

Finance  16.9.2022 

Legal : Julie Newman Chief Legal 
Officer 

Legal 
Services 

 16.9.2022 

Director : John Gregg Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

Children’s 
Services 

 16.9.2022 

Members: Councillor P 
Seamen 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Young People 

  21.9.2022 

 
 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 

Page 110

mailto:Jane.Moffat@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings



 

Public report 
Cabinet 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as it 
contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The grounds for privacy are that it contains 
information relating to the financial and business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). The public interest in maintaining the exemption 
under Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Cabinet  11th October 2022  
Council 18th October 2022 
 
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources - Councillor R Brown 
 
Director approving submission of the report: 
Joint report: 

Managing Director for Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited (A Walster) and  

Chief Operating Officer (B Hastie) 

 
Ward(s) affected: 
Foleshill 
 
Title: Loan for Material Recycling Facility  
 
 
Is this a key decision?   
 
Yes - the proposals involve financial implications in excess of £1m per annum. 
 
 
 
Executive summary: 
The Business Plan for Tom White (TW) for 2022/23 was approved by the Shareholder Committee in 
March 2022 which supports Tom White business growth and ongoing development.  
 
The business plan set out proposals to redevelop the Tom White recycling infrastructure at Longford 
Road site.  Once completed, this redevelopment will improve the environmental performance of 
Tom White, dramatically increase the recycling rates for commercial waste and help to increase the 
financial dividend payable from Tom White back to the Shareholder (the Council).  
 
Tom White growth generally, and the facility redevelopment specifically; focuses on tackling 
climate change and supporting the One Coventry Plan and Climate Change Strategy by 
 

• Enhancing the recycling ability by reducing burden on raw materials and promoting circular 
economy; 

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



• Achieving greater diversion of commercial waste from landfill; and 
• Increasing energy production either directly or through a fuel manufacture. 

 
The recycling facility redevelopment is core to these growth objectives, and the diagram at Appendix 
C shows how the new MRF sits in the context of overall waste management and recycling in 
Coventry and the sub-region. 
 
The current recycling plant and equipment used by TW has historically suffered with little planned 
maintenance under previous ownership and as it reaches the end of its economic life is now 
experiencing significant breakdowns leading to poor plant availability, with plant availability reducing 
considerably.  During April to December 2021, the facility experienced 72 days of plant downtime.  
The impact of this was an increased cost of maintenance (plant and vehicle repairs and spares) and 
increased plant hire in FY2021/22.  There was also an increased cost of disposal due to more 
material going to landfill due to the plant not being available to sort material for an alternative, 
cheaper and environmentally sustainable disposal route as a fuel source for onward processing.  
 
This existing plant performance is causing significant cost pressures in TW such that month to 
month the business is currently operating at about ‘break even’. accordingly the new plant solution 
will remove the cost pressures that undermine profitability and allow the business to get back on 
track for profit and dividend availability. 
 
In the short term the Tom White management team has hired new resilient mobile equipment to 
compensate for the poor performance of the plant. This means that the old unreliable plant does not 
need to be run, thereby cutting significantly the maintenance costs and subsequent impacts.  
However this is not a long term solution for the volume of waste processed through the facility, nor 
does it provide the opportunity to enhance recycling rates and improve financial returns to the 
shareholder.   
 
The management team at TW have been working with its preferred supplier to design the new 
facility to move away from waste disposal but focus on treating commercial waste as commodity 
from which the maximum environmental and economic benefit should be extracted.  Therefore the 
solution is focussed on creating zero waste to landfill.   
 
The business plan increases economic stability with the business case for the recycling facility 
increasing financial of Tom White each year. 
 
The approval of the business plan by the Coventry Shareholder Committee was subject to funding; 
this report puts forward the preferred options to finance the development of the material recycling 
facility by seeking funding to Tom White via a commercial loan for the sum as detailed in the Private 
Report to enable delivery of the recycling infrastructure. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to recommend that Council: 
 
1) Approve a Loan up to the value detailed in the Private Report on commercial market terms for 

the purposes of delivering the recycling infrastructure.  
  

2) Approve the addition of up to the value detailed in the Private Report to the Councils approved 
capital programme for the purposes of entering into the Loan 

 
3) Approve the increase in the Commercial Investment Strategy limit for 2022/23 for investment in 

service loans as detailed in the Private Report. 
 

Page 112



 

4) Delegate authority to the Chief Operating Officer (S151 Officer) and the Chief Legal Officer , 
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, to finalise 
and agree the detailed terms of the transaction with Tom White. The authority under this 
delegation shall also include the power to enter into the necessary legal agreements and 
subsequently the power to negotiate and agree any such variations as is deemed necessary to 
the terms of the loan facility and ancillary documents. 

 
Council is recommended to: 
 
1) Approve a Loan up to the value detailed in the Private Report   on commercial market terms for 

the purposes of delivering the recycling infrastructure  
  

2) Approve the addition of up to the value detailed in the Private Report to the Councils approved 
capital programme for the purposes of entering into the Loan 

 
3) Approve the increase in the Commercial Investment Strategy limit for 2022/23 for investment in 

service loans as detailed in the Private Report. 
 

4) Delegate authority to the Chief Operating Officer (S151 Officer) and the Chief Legal Officer, 
following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources, to finalise 
and agree the detailed terms of the transaction with Tom White. The authority under this 
delegation shall also include the power to enter into the necessary legal agreements and 
subsequently the power to negotiate and agree any such variations as is deemed necessary to 
the terms of the loan facility and ancillary documents. 

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendices are included in the Private Report 
 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
None 
 
Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny? 
 No 
 
Has it or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other body? 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council? 
Yes  
18th October 2022 
 

Page 113



 

Title of Report: Loan for Material Recycling Facility  
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1. The business Plan for Tom White for 2022/23 was agreed by the Coventry Shareholder 

Committee in March 2022, and supports Tom White business growth and ongoing 
development. The business plan clearly set out proposals to redevelop the recycling 
infrastructure (MRF) at Longford Road to improve environmental performance, increase 
recycling rates for commercial waste and increase the financial dividend payable from Tom 
White back to the Shareholder (the Council).  

 
1.2. The approval of the business plan by the Coventry Shareholder Committee was subject to 

funding; this report puts forward the preferred option available for funding the proposed 
infrastructure.   

 
1.3. The approved Tom White business plan together with the approved business case for the 

MRF redevelopment are included in the Private  report for information.  It should be noted 
that the costs have increased since the business plan was approved to take into account 
global movements in construction costs and changes in the recycling market. The main 
points are summarised below: 

 
o An improvement in the environmental performance of Tom White taking the 

recovery of recyclable materials from c.7% of the waste delivered to Tom White, to 
over 70% meaning a significant enhancement of recycling performance and reduction 
in the cost of waste disposal. This contributes to the circular economy, with more 
material being recycled into new products with less reliance on the raw material in 
manufacture – a key aspect of tackling Climate Change. 

 
o Delivers greater business resilience for Tom White with far less reliance on third 

party providers to take the non-recyclable material received by Tom White from its 
customers. This provides greater market surety and more cost effective disposal 
routes that should completely avoid the use of Landfill or the export of material from 
the UK. This is also a key aspect of contributing to tackling Climate Change. 

 
o Delivers a positive financial return to Tom White that allows for greater dividend to 

be payable to the Shareholder in future years – this supports the ongoing financial 
sustainability of the Council and with ‘profit for purpose’ supports the funding of front 
line services in Coventry.  

 
o Provides an enhanced recycling service to businesses in communities across the 

city that previously may have been unaffordable – having the facility located in 
Coventry and achieving value from the materials recycled means a comprehensive 
recycling service will be affordable to all business communities in Coventry. We will 
contribute to improving outcomes for our communities in Coventry. 

 
1.4. The proposed automated solution with mechanical sorting and recovery through utilising 

optical sorters and other equipment to sort material into individual product streams, 
improving the accuracy, pick rate and material quality.  The proposed solution provides 
contingency as the equipment can be configured to adapt to changes in the commodity 
market and waste stream.  It is assumed the new facility will be operational from Autumn 
2023.   

 
 
 

Page 114



 

 

1.5. It is on the basis as described above that the approval to redevelop the Material Recycling 
Facility (MRF) at Tom White was approved by the Coventry Shareholder Committee, subject 
to securing funding.  The costs for the recycling facility are detailed in the Private report. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1. Three options have been considered for delivering funding for the redevelopment of the MRF 

at Tom White which are set out as follows: 
 
Option 1 - Do Nothing  
 
2.2. Doing nothing would result in the MRF not being redeveloped. The existing MRF is now 

beyond its useful life, with the costs of ongoing maintenance being prohibitive to Tom 
White’s financial performance, impacting on dividend potential to the Shareholder. 
Furthermore the MRF is no longer able to keep up with current best environmental practices, 
with only 7% of input materials being recovered for recycling. The remainder being either 
sent to landfill or incinerated to extract energy which is contrary to the recognised waste 
hierarchy, whilst also presenting more costly routes for the disposal of waste. 

  
2.3. This option would result in the environmental benefits of the MRF not being realised, and the 

company would not be in a position to declare any further dividend based on the expected 
higher costs of operation. 

 
2.4. The mobile equipment that has been acquired could continue to be utilised, but this is not a 

long term solution as the equipment is not designed for the volumes of waste that we would 
expect the flow through the facility.  

 
2.5. This is not the recommended option. 
 
Option 2 - Third Party Asset Backed Debt Funding  
 
2.6. The Tom White team has explored third party funding through a number of routes. Heads of 

terms have been presented by a third party funder for the MRF project. They have 
undertaken commercial and technical due diligence on the redevelopment proposals and are 
keen to fund the development. 

  
2.7. The third party has provided Tom White with a commercial term sheet, with details of the 

terms of the loan with a payment company guarantee from the Council.  This was based on 
the expected costs of the facility, which have now increased due to agreement of final design 
and movements in the price of materials within the market. 

 
2.8. If the Council was to offer a Parent company guarantee it would mean that if Tom White was 

not in a position to meet the debt servicing costs, the Council would have to step in and meet 
the liabilities of repaying back the Loan.   If the Council provided the parent company 
guarantee the value would be required to be noted on in the Council’s accounts as a 
contingent liability without receipt of any of the interest benefits. 

 
2.9. Whilst this option avoids the need for the Council to provide a Loan on market terms into 

Tom White for the MRF redevelopment, the Shareholder (Council) would retain the payment 
risk associated with the funding without the benefit of the interest payment.  

 
2.10. This is not the recommended option. 
 

Page 115



 

Option 3 - Shareholder Loan  
 
2.11. Coventry Shareholder Committee approved the investment in principle for TWW as part of 

the business plan approvals in March 2022.  This was subject to securing suitable finance to 
take the project forward.   
 

2.12. The Council could provide a shareholder loan for the value detailed in the Private report to 
Tom White using the offer from the third party funder as a market comparator and the 
specific commercial market terms. The Council have used the EU Reference Rates to help 
determine the interest rate which is to be charged under a Loan on market terms.  In line 
with the CIPFA Prudential Borrowing Code the Council can justify financing the project on 
the basis of the primary environmental and social benefits achieved as a direct result of the 
investment. The development of the MRF supports the Council’s Climate Change Strategy, 
in particular the aspirations in relation to the Circular Economy as detailed within the plan 
and depicted in the Appendices, rather than the primary driver being to generate income. 
  

2.13. The Council’s cost of borrowing is lower than the rate of interest that the Council will charge 
to TWW. This means that the Council will generate a financial benefit from a loan 
arrangement. The risk of providing a loan is no greater in effect than the financial guarantee 
considered in option 2. 

 
2.14. The project supports the Council in meeting its Climate Change Strategy and enables the 

Council to provide finance for the project without any greater perceived risk than under 
option 2, but with the ability to receive a revenue stream as loan interest, which is a by-
product of the financing agreements.  This is the recommended option. 

 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1. No formal consultation has been or is planned to be undertaken in respect of this paper. 

However the business plan for Tom White for 2022/23 and the business case for the MRF 
redevelopment has been shared and approved previously by the Shareholder Committee. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1. It is intended that the construction contract for the MRF development will be entered into 

within 4 weeks of this decision, with the MRF fully operational within 12 months.  The 
Business Plan contemplated that Tom White’s would start operating the new facility from 
February 2023.  This date has now slipped to further design development, engagement with 
funders, and concluding the contracts for the construction. Global supply chain pressures 
have also extended lead times, resulting in a c.12 month lead time for completion of the 
facility. It is anticipated that the plant will be operational by Autumn 2023 assuming all 
contracts concluded, and prices fixed in October 2022.    

 
5. Comments from Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 

Governance 
 
5.1. Financial Implications 

 
 The investment in the Material Recycling Facility (MRF) was approved in principle, subject to 

funding by Shareholder Committee in March 2022. TW management team have secured an 
offer for finance from a third party which provides a market comparator to the Shareholder 
loan terms.  The proposal from the third party funder required a payment guarantee from the 
Council to move ahead with the loan.  This would in effect mean that the Council would have 

Page 116



 

to account for the perceived risk of the payment guarantee being called on.  The payment 
guarantee would be appraised annually for the risk of the guarantee being called in with the 
resulting sum being referenced within the Council’s accounts as an impairment provision.  

 
 The Shareholder loan has been set to a longer term based on the life of the asset.  
 The Council will finance the loan using prudential borrowing, which will be repaid from the 

loan repayments for capital and interest from Tom White’s, over the life of the loan. 
 
 The investment by the Council is in line with the CIPFA Prudential Borrowing regulations due 

to the project supporting the Councils Climate Change Strategy and the strong strategic 
climate change aspirations in the One Coventry Council Plan.  Investing in this facility will 
improve the recycling ability of the plant from 7% to 70%.   The facility will ensure that there 
is zero or very little waste sent to landfill and increase business resilience through having 
access to more markets for the offtake material and recyclates extracted from the waste 
stream. 

 
 As part of the Commercial Investment Strategy the Council set limits for investing in shares 

and service loans, with a total limit of £123m for 2022/23. These were reported on the Q1 
Monitoring Report in August 2022. The proposed loan would increase the total level of 
investments through service loans, including planned and committed, to take account of the 
additional loan finance. Whilst this is a significant further investment within the waste sector, 
it provides a significant opportunity to develop facilities in line with the Council’s Climate 
Change Strategy and One Coventry principles, with the risks associated with the 
development being managed as described in this report. It is proposed that the limit for loans 
provided to external organisations be increased to include the value of the loan as detailed in 
the Private report to facilitate the development, whilst maintaining a small element of 
headroom within the limit.  

 
 The payment terms for the Shareholder loan would be on market terms and conditions, with 

the capital repayment spread evenly over the term of the loan, and interest calculated on a 
reducing balance basis (equal instalment payment basis).  The investment in the new 
equipment should derive a return greater than the cost of capital financing each year leaving 
resource within the company to declare a dividend back to the Council. 

 
 The forecast position indicates that Tom White’s underlying business and the MRF 

investment will generate sufficient cash to enable the business to declare a dividend once 
the facility is operational.  

 
 The proposal in this report represents a major investment, the risk for which rests with the 

Council ultimately, given its role as 100% shareholder. Repayment of the loan and delivery 
of financial returns in the form of additional dividends will rely upon the trading performance 
of Tom White over the lifetime of the MRF infrastructure. The proposals have been subject to 
significant due diligence and external advice which provide a high degree of confidence that 
these proposals are financially sound. Like all such proposals however, it is important to 
recognise the commercial risk involved. The Council has taken care to extend its overall 
commercial investments over a broad range of activities to provide protection against 
financial shocks that might affect specific sectors. Given the financial backdrop to local 
government funding and the approaching financial headwinds of inflation and financial 
recession, the greatest risk to the Council is to do nothing. The proposal contained here 
demonstrates a continued commitment by the Council to protect its financial position through 
well researched investments supported by robust business cases. 

 
5.2. Legal Implications 
 

Page 117



 

5.2.1. Under Section 12 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Council has a specific power to 
invest (or provide a loan). The power states "a local authority may invest for any purpose 
relevant to its functions under any enactment or for the purposes of the prudent 
management of its financial affairs". This provides the Council with a power to invest in Tom 
White, for any purpose relevant to its functions (this function would have to be identified) or if 
the Council can show it is for the prudent management of its financial affairs.  
 

5.2.2. Furthermore, under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council also has a power “to do 
anything that individuals generally may do” (the “General Power of Competence”). 
“Individual” means an individual with full capacity. The General Power of Competence gives 
the Council: 

 

 Power to do a thing anywhere in the United Kingdom or elsewhere; 

 Power to do it for a commercial purpose or otherwise for a charge, or without 
charge, and 

 Power to do it for, or otherwise than for, the benefit of the authority, its area or 
persons resident or present in its area. 

 
5.2.3. The Council will be compliant with the requirements of both the General Power of 

Competence and the Power to Invest. This report serves as the case for the proposal and 
the basis on which the investment powers can be utilised. 

 

Subsidy Control  
 
5.2.4. Following the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union which came to an 

end at 11pm on 31 December 2020. EU State aid law no longer applies to financial 
assistance provided by UK public authorities. 

 
5.2.5. However, under Chapter 3 of Title XI of Part 2 (the "Subsidy Control Chapter") of the Trade 

and Co-operation Agreement between the European Union and the United Kingdom (the 
"TCA"), both the EU and the UK have undertaken to implement an effective subsidy control 
regime in their respective territories. 

 
5.2.6. It should be noted that the Subsidy Control Chapter is only relevant where a particular public 

intervention meets the definition of a "subsidy" in the TCA. The Subsidy Control Act 2022 
gained royal assent in April 2022 and comes into force in the autumn.  

 
5.2.7. Market Economy Investor Principle ("MEIP") is a well established exemption to the previous 

EU State Aid legislation. Such as exemption is still applicable to the Subsidy Control Regime 
(which replaces the previous EU State Aid Legislation). A Loan does not automatically 
constitute a subsidy if the Council carries out prior due diligence that demonstrates that 
investments are likely to generate sufficient returns that a private prudent investor would 
have made the same investment. i.e. the Council can invest in the proposal in return for an 
appropriate commercial return which would satisfy the expectations of a private prudent 
investor.  

 
5.2.8. The risk of Subsidy is not dependent upon whether the financial return is actually ever 

achieved by the Council, as whether the Subsidy exists or not is assessed at the time of the 
funding advanced, but there must be a realistic prospect of the financial return being 
achieved by the Council.  

 
5.2.9. We have undertaken analysis of interest rate based on the EU Reference Rates which show 

that the rate of interest charged is an appropriate rate of interest to charge on market terms 

Page 118



 

based on the rates issued by the EU. Therefore the investment by the Council would not be 
conveying an economic advantage and also demonstrates the MEIP test. 
 

5.2.10. In practice the Council would need to rely on the MEIP analysis as a justification for any 
subsidy in the event of a complaint, challenge or investigation.  The risk of Subsidy Control is 
not dependent upon whether the financial return is actually ever achieved by the Council, as 
whether subsidy exists or not is assessed at the time of the funding advanced, but there 
must be a realistic prospect of the financial return being achieved by the Council.  

 
5.2.11. The Council is complying with Subsidy Control Regime as the transaction is being 

undertaken upon arms’ length terms and will comply with the MEIP principle, meaning that 
no benefit is conferred on the recipient and therefore there is no distortion to competition.  

 
6. Other implications 
 
6.1. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 
 
 The proposal complements the One Coventry Plan as below: 
 
 Improves the environmental performance of Tom White taking the recovery of recyclable 

materials from c.7% of the waste delivered to Tom White, to over 70% meaning a significant 
enhancement of recycling performance. This contributes to the circular economy, with more 
material being recycled into new products with less reliance on the raw material in 
manufacture – a key aspect of tackling Climate Change. 

 
 Delivers greater business resilience for Tom White with far less reliance on third party 

providers to take the non-recyclable material received by Tom White from its customers. This 
provides greater market surety and more cost effective disposal routes that avoids 
completely the use of Landfill or the export of material from the UK. This is also a key aspect 
of contributing to tackling Climate Change. 

 
 Delivers a positive financial return to Tom White that allows for greater dividend to be 

payable to the Shareholder in future years – this supports the ongoing financial 
sustainability of the Council and with ‘profit for purpose’ supports the funding of front line 
services in Coventry. This is discussed further in the financial section of this report. 

 
 Provides an enhanced recycling service to businesses in communities across the city that 

previously may have been unaffordable – having the facility located in Coventry and 
achieving value from the materials recycled means a comprehensive recycling service will be 
affordable to all business communities in Coventry. We will contribute to improving 
outcomes for our communities in Coventry. 

 
6.2. How is risk being managed? 

 
 A project risk assessment and mitigation plan is being developed and incorporated within the 

construction planning process. A professional Owners Engineer / Project Manager is being 
employed to oversee the detailed design and construction process post contract award to 
ensure construction and interface risks are suitably managed and mitigated. 

 
 This business case for the investment was approved by Shareholder Committee in March 

2022 and will be incorporated into the budget for Tom White for FY24 onwards which will be 
subject to approval by Shareholder Committee.   Regular updates will be provided by the 
management team to the Board of Directors to ensure the investment is progressing as 
expected.  The Loan Facility agreement will also contain market terms and clauses such a 

Page 119

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

requirement for regular financial updates from TW to the Council to ensure they are able to 
meet the terms of the loan agreement  

 
 A number of sensitivity scenarios have been considered to test and support the financial 

case for the investment. 

 
6.3. What is the impact on the organisation? 

 
 The proposal in this report represents a major investment, the risk for which rests with the 

Council ultimately, given its role as 100% shareholder. The repayment of the loan and 
delivery of any dividends will rely upon the trading performance of Tom White over the 
lifetime of the MRF infrastructure. The proposals have been subject to significant due 
diligence and external advice which provide a high degree of confidence that these 
proposals are financially sound. Like all such proposals however, it is important to recognise 
the commercial risk involved.  

 
 The Council’s Commercial Investment Strategy is designed to ensure that the Council’s 

management arrangements and level of commercial investments in the form of shares, 
commercial property and loans to external organisations is proportionate to the size of the 
Council.  The proposed Shareholder loan requires the existing limits for loans to be 
increased as recommended in this report.  The Council has taken care to extend its overall 
commercial investments over a broad range of activities to provide protection against 
financial shocks that might affect specific sectors.  

 
 Given the financial backdrop to local government funding and the approaching financial 

headwinds of inflation and financial recession, the greatest risk to the Council is to do 
nothing. The proposal contained here demonstrates a continued commitment by the Council 
to protect its financial position through well researched investments supported by robust 
business cases.  The risks and mitigating actions are covered in the section above to reduce 
the impact on the Council and ensure oversight of the loan investment. 

 
6.4. Equalities / EIA? 
 No equality impact assessment has been carried out as the recommendations do not 

constitute a change in service or policy. 
 
6.5. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment? 
 
 This proposal has a material positive impact on climate change and the environment. The 

MRF redevelopment will significantly increase the recycling of commercial waste in Coventry 
that is received by Tom White from 7% to over 70%, contributing to the circular economy, 
reducing the burden on raw materials.  Currently 46% of material is sent to landfill at a cost 
of £1.8m pa which should be reduced to close to zero.   

 
 The quality of the outputs will ensure that UK based processors will be sourced for the 

separated materials,  and there will be increased opportunities to access emerging UK 
markets materials such as plastic film.  

 
 Having the development situated in Coventry will result in less transport miles for recyclable 

material to be processed by a state-of-the-art facility.  
 
6.6. Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 The report has implications for TW in which the Council has a shareholder interest through 

Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited, who have 100% of shares in TW. The investment will 

Page 120



 

have a significant environmental impact on the operation of Tom White with a dramatic 
improvement to the material recovery rates and a reduction in the cost of  waste disposal, 
including a reduction in the headcount currently used to pick the waste for separation.  The 4 
affected posts will be re-trained and redeployed within the organisation.  

 
 
Report author(s):  
Name: Parmi Mudhar 
Title: Finance Director for Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited 
 
Service: Coventry Municipal Holdings Limited 
 
Tel and email contact:  
 
Tel: +44 24 7697 1391 
Email: parminder.mudhar@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Grant McKelvie Commercial 
Director 

Coventry 
Municipal 
Holdings 

28th July 22 28th July 22 

Michael Rennie Lead 
Accountant – 
Business 
Partnering 

Finance 5th August 22 5th August 22 

Gurbinder Singh Sangha Corporate & 
Commercial 
Lead Lawyer 

Legal Services 6th August 22 26th September 
2022 

Suzanne Bennett Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator 

Law and 
Governance 

6th August 8 August, 2022 

     

Names of approvers for 
submission:  
(officers and members) 

    

Finance: Paul Jennings Finance 
Manager 

Finance  4th August 22 13th Sept 22 

Legal: Oluremi Aremu  Head of Legal 
and 
Procurement 
Services 

Law and 
Governance 

26th 
September 
2022 

26th September 
2022 

Director: Andrew Walster Managing 
Director 

Coventry 
Municipal 
Holdings  

6th August 22 6th August 22 

Members: Councillor Richard 
Brown 

Cabinet Member 
for Strategic 
Finance and 
Resources 

- 8th August 22 26th Sept 22 

     

 

Page 121

mailto:parminder.mudhar@coventry.gov.uk


 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings   
 
 

Page 122

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings



 
  

Public report 
 

 
   

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Council                                                 18 October, 2022 
      
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins
 
Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Law and Governance
 
Ward(s) affected:
Not Applicable  
 
Title:
Amendments to Appointments 
 
Is this a key decision?
No 
 
Executive Summary:
 
At the Annual Meeting on 19 May, 2022, the City Council noted the allocation of seats to Political 
Groups in accordance with the political balance rules and made appointments to Council bodies 
accordingly. 
 
Following by-elections and the self- suspension of two Councillors, the political balance of the 
Council has changed which needs to be reflected in the allocation of seats to the Political 
Groups. 
 
This report seeks to make changes to appointments to Council bodies in accordance with the 
political balance calculation.   
 
Recommendation: 
 
1) That the Council notes the allocation of seats to Political Groups in accordance with the 

political balance rules, as detailed in Appendix 1 to this report 
 

2) That Council approves the following appointments in accordance with the revised political 
balance calculation:- 

 
Councillor J Clifford as Acting Chair of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
Councillor L Bigham as Acting Deputy Chair of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee 
 
Councillor A Hopkins to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
Councillor N Akhtar as Acting Deputy Chair of the Planning Committee 
 
Councillor L Bigham to the Ethics Committee 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 12



 2 

Councillor J Gardiner to the Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4) 
in place of Councillor T Khan 
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5)  
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
place of Councillor A Jobbar 
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Planning Committee in place of Councillor M Heaven 
 
Councillor F Abbott as Acting Chair of the Cabinet Member for Policing and 
Equalities – Disability Equality Action Partnership – Advisory Panel  
 

3) That any further amendments required to the appointments to Council bodies arising from 
1) and 2) above be delegated to the Director of Law and Governance, following 
consultation with the appropriate Group Leader.  

   
List of Appendices included:
 
Appendix 1 – Allocation of Seats to Political Groups – October 2022 
 
Useful background papers: 
 
None  
 
Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body? 
 
No 
 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
Yes – 18 October 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



 3 

Report title: Amendments to Appointments 
 
1. Context (or background) 

 
1.1 Since the Annual Meeting on 18 May, 2022, there have been changes to the political 

balance of the City Council. There are now 36 Labour Councillors, 15 Conservative 
Councillors, 1 Green Party Councillor and 2 Independent Members.  

 
1.2 Appendix 1 details the revised allocation of seats to Political Groups in accordance with 

the political balance rules. 
 

1.3 Adjustments are required to the appointments made at the Annual Meeting to ensure that 
the allocation of seats is in accordance with the political balance rules.   

 
1   Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1  Following consultation with the Group Leaders It is recommended:- 
 

1)      That the Council notes the allocation of seats to Political Groups in accordance with 
the political balance rules, as detailed in Appendix 1 to this report 

 
2)      That Council approves the following appointments in accordance with the revised 

political balance calculation:- 
 

Councillor J Clifford as Acting Chair of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
Councillor L Bigham as Acting Deputy Chair of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee 
 
Councillor A Hopkins to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
Councillor N Akhtar as Acting Deputy Chair of the Planning Committee 
 
Councillor L Bigham to the Ethics Committee 
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4) 
in place of Councillor T Khan 
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5)  
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
place of Councillor A Jobbar 
 
Councillor J Gardiner to the Planning Committee in place of Councillor M Heaven 
 
Councillor F Abbott as Acting Chair of the Cabinet Member for Policing and 
Equalities – Disability Equality Action Partnership – Advisory Panel  

  
3)      That any further amendments required to the appointments to Council bodies arising 

from 1) and 2) above be delegated to the Director of Law and Governance, following 
consultation with the appropriate Group Leader  

   
 

 

Page 125



 4 

3. Results of consultation undertaken
 
 The Group Leaders have been consulted. 
 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 If approved, the appointments will take effect from the date of the Council Meeting on 18 

October 2022. 
 
5. Comments from the Chief Operating Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Director of  
 Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
  
 Not applicable 
 
5.2 Legal implications 
  

The allocation of seats to Political Groups must be in accordance with the political balance 
rules. 
 
 

6. Other implications 
  
 Not applicable 
 
Name and job title:  
Suzanne Bennett 
Governance Services Co-ordinator

Service:  
Law and Governance 
Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 024 7697 2299 E-mail: Suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Adrian West Members and Elections 
Team Manager 

Law and 
Governance 

4/10/22 5/10/22 

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members) 

    

Julie Newman Director of Law and 
Governance 

- 7/10/22 10/10/22 

Barry Hastie Chief Operating Officer 
(Section 151 Officer)  

- 7/10/22 10/10/22 

Councillor G Duggins Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Policy 
and Leadership 

- 
 

7/10/22 10/10/22 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings  

Page 126

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


           
         Appendix 

Political Proportionality October 2022                                                                                                                         
  

 

  
 

Allocation to groups – adjusted for rounding Proportional entitlement for 
political groups (1 decimal place) 

  
Total Con Lab Green 

Indepen
dent 

Total % Con % Lab % 

  
   

      

Seats 54 15 36 1 2 100.0% 29.4% 70.6% 

Cabinet 10 0 10   100.0% n/a 100.0% 

Coventry Shareholders Committee 10 0 10   100.0% n/a 100.0% 

         

Entitlement per group excl Cabinet places 
 

30 71    29.7 71.3 

  
   

       

Planning Committee 11 3 8   11 3.2 7.8 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee 14 4 10   14 4.1 9.9 

Ethics Committee 5 1 4   5 1.5 3.5 

Audit and Procurement Committee 7 2 5   7 2.1 4.9 

Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee 9 2 7   9 2.6 6.4 

Scrutiny Board 1 9 3 6   9 2.6 6.4 

Scrutiny Board 2 9 3 6   9 2.6 6.4 

Scrutiny Board 3 9 3 6   9 2.6 6.4 

Scrutiny Board 4 9 3 6   9 2.6 6.4 

Scrutiny Board 5 9 3 6   9 2.6 6.4 

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 5 2 3   5 1.5 3.5 

Health and Well-being Board 5 1 4   5 1.5 3.5 
         

Totals (excludes Cabinet) 101 30 71   101 29.5 71.5 

 
The total number of seats allocated to a group is matched to the rounded entitlement for that group. The number of seats on each committee is matched 
to the rounded entitlement for that group on that committee but adjusted manually where required to ensure that the number of seats allocated to a 
particular group matches their entitlement. 

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council Meeting 
 

18 October 2022  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Booklet 1 
 

Written Questions 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 129

Agenda Item 13



 
 
 
 
 

 1. QUESTION SUBMITTED BY:  Councillor J Lepoidevin  

 
TO BE ANSWERED BY:  Councillor R Brown, Cabinet Member for Strategic 

Finance and Resources   

 TEXT OF QUESTION: 

 

“Can the Cabinet Member confirm how much funding have we received from 

the Apprenticeship Levy in 2021/2022 and 2022/2023?  What are the current 
improvements to our workforce in utilising this levy?” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



Document is Restricted

Page 131

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 145

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 September and the Special Meeting held on 13 September 2022
	13 September, 2022

	9 Coventry's Youth Justice Strategy and Plan - 2021-23 (Update 2022) (Youth Justice Plan)
	Coventry’s Youth Justice Strategy and Plan – 2021-23 (Update 2022) (Youth Justice Plan) - Appendix

	10 Family Hub and Start for Life Programme
	11 Loan for Material Recycling Facility
	12 Amendments to Appointments
	Appendix - Political Proportionality (October 2022)

	13 Question Time
	16 Loan for Material Recycling Facility
	Appendix A - Tom White MRF Development Business Case
	Appendix B - Tom White Group Business Plan 2022-23
	Appendix C - Coventry and the circular economy - Big Picture


